
AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

10.00 am

FRIDAY
30 JULY 2021

MEETING PAPERS



AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Friday 30 July 2021
VENUE: Council Chamber, Shire Hall

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies Andrea Griffiths

2.  Declarations of Interest Andrea Griffiths
Members of the Committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or
personal interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.

3.  Election of Vice Chairperson Cllr Colin Hay
The Committee is asked to appoint a Vice-Chairperson.

4.  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 10) Andrea Griffiths
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the Meeting held on 
25th March 2021.

5.  Grant Thornton Audit Plan for GCC & Pension Fund Report 
(Pages 11 - 52)

Alex Walling

The Committee are asked to note the reports.

6.  Audit & Governance and the Independent Grant Thornton 
Report 

Cllr Colin Hay

To receive a verbal update from the Chairman.

7.  Treasury Management Annual Report (Pages 53 - 72) Paul Blacker
To consider the Treasury Management Annual Report 2020/21.

8.  Internal Audit Annual Report (Pages 73 - 124) Piyush Fatania
The Committee is asked to note the report.

9.  GFRS Progress Report (Pages 125 - 158) Piyush Fatania
The report informs Members of the progress of GFRS Internal 
Audit progress and follow Up activity undertaken up to June 2021. 
 

10.  LImited Assurance Reports (Pages 159 - 178) Piyush Fatania



- CCTV: Jenny Grodzicka
- Expenses and Benefits: Colin Parkin 
- Direct payments for Children:  Andy Dempsey
-

11.  Annual review of the Council's use of the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) (Pages 179 - 188)

Karen Smith

The Committee is asked to note the report.  

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP – Councillors Cllr Matt Babbage, Cllr John Bloxsom, 
Cllr Stephan Fifield, Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Alex Hegenbarth, Cllr Stephen Hirst, 
Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Brian Tipper, Cllr Chloe Turner, Cllr Susan Williams and 
Cllr Dr David Willingham

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Rob Ayliffe 01452 32506/e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS

(1) Will Members please sign the attendance list.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit and Governance Committee held on Thursday 
25 March 2021 commencing at 10.00 am at the .

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Cllr Shaun Parsons

Cllr John Payne
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE (Chairman)
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

Substitutes:  Cllr Stephen Hirst

Apologies: Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Alan Preest and Cllr Theodoulou

14. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.

15. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

All matters arising had been dealt with and communicated to members of the 
Committee.  

Resolved 

That the minutes of the meeting held on the 22nd January 2021 be approved 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairperson.  

16. GRANT THORNTON PROGRESS REPORT 

Peter Barber, Grant Thornton presented the report, which detailed the progress 
Grant Thornton had made in delivering their responsibilities as the external 
auditors.  

The Committee were introduced to Alex Walling, Engagement Lead from Grant 
Thornton, it was noted she would be replacing Pete Barber in due course.  

Members were advised that Grant Thornton were still unable to conclude their work 
in relation to Value for Money (VFM) until the objection relating to the energy from 
waste scheme had been completed. The Engagement Lead updated the 
Committee as to the current position, it was noted that both parties had sought a 
further extension in order to respond accordingly.  Members were advised that the 
final date for the submission of response was the 14th April 2021.  Grant Thornton 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

reiterated they would duly consider the submissions before any decisions were 
taken.  

The Committee noted the issues at a national level with the Whole Government 
Accounts submission which had prevented the Council from updating their 
submission had now been resolved and Grant Thornton had now completed their 
review and submission their assurance statements confirming that the final 
submission was consistent with the Council’s published financial statements on the 
4th February 2021.  

The Director of Finance wished to thank Pete Barber for all his work supporting the 
Authority over the last three years and the cooperation of his team, especially 
during the course of the pandemic.  In what had proved to be challenging times 
given the need for remote working.  He added that it been a remarkable effort by 
Pete and his team to get the accounts finalised by the deadline.  He wished him 
well for the future.  The Chairman also thanked him for his patience and clarity at 
Committee meetings.  

A member referred to the VFM aspect and questioned the public interest report 
delays which would prevent the report from being published until after the elections, 
he added he was suspicious of such activity.  

A member added he understood the frustration but the Committee were unable to 
discuss an unpublished report and it would be wrong to discuss it further.  

The Chairman advised the Committee that a discussion would take place at the 
next agenda item.  

Alex Walling, Grant Thornton continued to present the report in detail and advised 
Committee of the audit planning arrangements, significant risks and the governance 
arrangements.  

Members were advised that the revised code was more complex and would lead to 
a more in-depth review of Council arrangements.  The Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources explained that the previous value for money process was no 
longer fit for purpose, as it required more commentary in order to make it user 
friendly for the public and he welcomed the new process going forward.  

During the discussion members questioned Grant Thornton’s need to duplicate the 
actuarial estimated valuation  of the Pensions Fund.  The Director of Finance 
explained that the valuation was undertaken by Hymans (a professional actuary) 
then challenged by officers and the Pension Committee. In addition the Council had 
an independent investment advisor to ensure assumptions of actuary were robust. 
So the pension fund estimates were robustly challenged already but it was noted 
that Grant Thornton were now required to have an overall view and where 
necessary present a further challenge.    

Resolved

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

That the report be noted.

17. AUDIT & GOVERNANCE AND THE INDEPENDENT GRANT THORNTON 
REPORT 

The Chairman introduced the item and made the following statement: 

“It been almost four years since the statement of accounts was challenged by a 
group called Community R4C (CR4C), in respect of the 2013 contract with Urbaser 
Balfour Beatty (UBB) for the provision of a waste incinerator and its revision in 
2016.  Grant Thornton agreed to commission a public interest report bearing on the 
procurement process undertaken and the value for money aspects of the contracts.  

As a consequence the external auditor had been unable to confirm the Value for 
Money (VFM) aspect, as we know of the County council's annual accounts to this 
day, John Gregory from GT was instructed to undertake this investigation, in what 
was described at the time as a quasi-judicial function, which was quite separate 
from their auditing service.  Councillors will also recall that this is the first and only 
time in four years that we have been presented with the opportunity to discuss this 
unique situation.   In introducing this subject to the agenda of Audit and 
Governance and the Independent Grant Thornton Report, I intend our focus to be 
on the former rather than the latter, as it was not possible to discuss the report 
itself, because after four years it had not been delivered.  

But it is my intention to indicate why that is the case and what the consequences of 
that might be.  As far as declarations of interests were concerned, I like other 
members of the committee have been lobbied by CR4C with their arguments.   
Along with other members I was shouted at by Mr Jarman when he attended this 
Committee meeting, nearly four years ago.  

At that point I stopped reading the CR4C organisation statements and only picked 
up the threads again last December, when I had reason to believe a report was 
being prepared for publication.  In the meantime, I responded once only to Mr 
Jarman’ s frequent requests for conversation, and that was in July 2019 to assure 
him that yes the committee would undoubtedly discuss and analyse  the report 
when it was published.  I never replied to the intermittent flood of emails received, I 
do notice that ever since his personal appearance here, he and his colleagues at 
CR4C have consistently referred to the A&G committee with respectful terms.  

Again from a personal perspective, you will appreciate that this issue and the 
barriers in the way of discussing it here, have acted as a cloud over my period of 
chairmanship.  Not helped by the intervention of his predecessor from 2017 to 
2019.  I expressed my frustration on a number of occasions, echoing that of many 
my colleagues around this virtual table.   

This issue of enforced silence does matter, every training session on governance I 
have ever taken part in, and has stressed the importance of A&G or in company 
terms of the Audit Committee as being supremely important in overseeing the 
probity, integrity and health of the organisation it serves.  

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

It’s almost like the conscience of the organisation.  When it comes to evaluating the 
effectiveness of an Audit Committee, the ultimate test is the openness and 
transparency of its approach and how to expect this of the component parts of the 
body it represents, whether or not it operates in closed session, it’s obviously better 
than it doesn’t.  It should expect to leave no stone unturned, I’m afraid we’ve not 
been able to rise to that standard.  

Nor is the issue underlying the appellants complaint insignificant, whether or not 
GCC complied with the operational procurement laws of European Union or 
whether the estimated cost of cancelling the original contract of £100 million was 
correct or whether a proper value for money assessment was made at the time of 
the contract provision, result in an additional possible payment of an extra £163m of 
ratepayers money, these are not negligible matters.  

As far as I can understand these things, the legality of the procurement 
arrangements was not something that the High Court Judge felt able to pronounce 
on.  The Information Commissioner, however, compelled the authority to release 
most of the UBB contract details in 2017.  Previous to that commercial in 
confidence was given as the reason for keeping shtum about the contract cost,  
next the judicial review was cited as the reason why we could not discuss the case.   
Since then delays in issuing the report had been cited by Grant Thornton as 
reasons for the continuing silence.  

Although John Gregory did appear once, to explain to us the processes being 
followed.  After huge unexplained delays, during which time the council did not 
attempt to explain to us what their position was, we understood that the 
investigators provisional views were ready on December 15th to be presented for 
comment to the appellant and for the council for their comment.  A strange  
procedure this,  if it was supposed to be quasi-judicial, do we  imagine that James 
Hamilton QC in giving judgement in the case of whether the first minister for 
Scotland had broken the ministerial code would have invited comment from the 
conflicting parties before delivering judgement.   

This process sounds more like arbitration, than an independent quasi-judicial 
process, more quasi than judicial.  January 22nd was the deadline set for the parties 
to comment, the very day of this previous committee's meeting.  At which point the 
authority’s representatives, as you’ve already been told asked for a further short 
extension, not content with this which expired towards the end of 19th February. 
GCC then asked for yet a further extension to enable them to supply, as a 
respected Authority informs me, with additional information with a deadline, wait for 
it of today, Thursday the 25th of March.   Just in time for purdah and sealing of any 
political incriminating or otherwise influential actions by local authorities, including 
public interest reports but too late for the report to be issued and considered by this 
committee.  

 Looking at CR4C  representations,  which I have done on January 21st, just before 
the first  deadline for comments and on January 25th  this year, it is difficult to find 
any additional  information which had not be presented on previous occasions, they 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

are the reworking of earlier arguments.  What is the authority doing presenting new 
information at this point.  Given that over two years had passed since they dropped 
the case against the information commissioner’s disclosure intention. 

 If John Gregory was aware that Audit & Governance met today, the date had long 
since been in the public diary and then it was remiss of him to deny us the 
opportunity to consider his findings.   If he did not know, then it was remiss of his 
GT colleagues not to inform him, or perhaps our colleagues in the administration 
reminded him or perhaps they did not.  

It’s difficult to draw any other conclusion from these events and than our authority 
had tried to delay the report publication, until it could be safely protected by the 
institution of purdah.  Why would GCC wish to prevent the publication of this oh so 
long awaited reported, the disclosure by the Information Commissioner of 
previously concealed information may have been an embarrassing but it didn’t 
appear to particularly upset the administration. 

 It’s unlikely that something similar in 2019 or the early part of 2020, would have 
produced more than a tremor, so what is it in this second set of provisional views 
that drove us, for the GCC is us,  whether we like it or not,  to manoeuvre as to 
delay the report's publication, we can only guess.  Not having been presented with 
the report, we can only guess that it contains substantial criticisms and that these 
relate to the original concerns about the thoroughness of the VFM assessment of 
the revised contract of 2016, conducted by the Authority with the assistance of 
Ernst Young and possibly to the reliability of the estimates for the effect of 
cancelling the 2013 contact and starting again. 

It may of course be that the authorities lobbying, for this is what the process looks 
like from here would have diluted the reports provisional views.  I hope not for the 
author’s sake but he would need to be very strong to withstand the sustained 
pressure he appears to be subjected to from both sides.  Whether or not the 
incinerator contractor proves to be VFM for the Gloucestershire rate payer that 
cannot be determined at this point, as the contract runs for 25 years.  

 As the high initial gate costs reduce, as the landfill charges were expected to 
increase and we should not see ourselves in credit, compared with other 
alternatives for some time to come.  Colleagues may remember that I crossed 
swords with Paul Blacker at this point, this is the irony of ironies, and a public 
interest report can’t speculate on this, it concentrates on processes and behaviours.  
My conclusions are that there needs to be an altogether greater degree of 
transparency and openness within the authority, when it comes to big ticket items, 
such as this and that the Audit & Governance Committee has been treated with 
such disrespect, that this must diminish its authority and this should not be.”   

Councillor Hay agreed with the Chairman’s statement and added the fact that this 
was the second time before an election that a major report hadn't been available to 
public.  He felt elections were about electors being able to judge the record of any 
administration, the people who were standing for election and their view.  This was 
such a substantial item and delaying the publication would have a major impact on 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

the election because the report would be critical.   He questioned why else would it 
need to be so much time to try and change comments from the independent 
assessor.  Cllr Hay referred to the children services report, and remarked that 
wasn't released until after the election and that could have had quite an impact on 
electors and how they made their decisions four years go. 

 Cllr Hay stated that it went to the heart of the culture of this organisation and what 
it currently sought to do.   He felt that the council needed to be open with the public 
and that meant the good things and the bad things.   He felt the public had a 
greater understanding, and they were actually much more likely to be sympathetic 
to any organisation that made mistakes and held their hands up.   

Cllr Hay suggested if the report gave the council a clean bill of health, then there 
would be no objections or representations made to the independent auditor.  He 
was extremely worried and felt this was a very dangerous situation around 
democracy and was hugely disappointed that the report had been kept from the 
Committee.  

Councillor Windsor Clive fully understood member’s frustration, but felt some 
members were in great danger of guessing what was within a report, without the 
facts.  He felt accusing independent auditors at playing politics was outrageous.  He 
reiterated that the report was not published, so members were unable to pass 
comment on the contents and some members were smearing the independent 
auditors and that was wrong.  He concluded that it would be nice to have the report 
to discuss openly but the Committee would have to wait for the report to be 
published and in the meantime they should leave it to the professionals.  

The Chairman appreciated the contribution Grant Thornton Auditors made to the 
Authority but he felt the committee were told it was a quasi-judicial process.  He felt 
this was not a quasi-judicial process and in terms of the judicial review and legal 
process it was unfair, unrealistic and diminished the role of the Committee. 

The External Auditor informed the committee that the request for extension had 
been received from both parties and no decision had been taken in terms of the 
final format of the report as yet.  

The Chair referred to GT report and the VFM commentary that organisations should 
make more use of the public interest disclosure.  He felt the role of the committee 
was further diminished and public interest disclosures should be completed within a 
specific timetable, as not to allow both parties to keep the procedure ongoing 
indefinitely and that what was most frustrating.  

Cllr Tipper remarked sub judice was part of this event over a long period of time.  
Therefore, there were limitations on what could and couldn’t be said under the legal 
process.   He felt chairman was slighting the process at shire hall and the legal 
process.  Cllr Tipper requested the term sub judice be included within the minutes 
“a definition of it is “under judicial consideration and therefore prohibited from public 
discussion elsewhere”.   Cllr Tipper requested advice be sought from the 
appropriate experts.  

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

The Chairman disagreed, he felt the process instituted four years ago was 
considerably different to the process now.  Cllr Tipper disagreed with this point and 
added he was proud to sit on the Audit & Governance Committee.  

Cllr Hay felt the role of the Committee in order to improve should react, as soon as 
issues were raised.  He added by the time they serious case reviews had 
concluded and published its findings, the learning has already taken place.  

Cllr Tipper reiterated the more the serious case, the more the need for sub judice 
and recommended to the Committee, they consider the situation and the need to 
obey the law.  He felt some members were making mockery of the process.  

The Chairman thanked members for the discussion.

18. INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 

Piyush Fatania, Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) presented the report and explained that 
the plan was as result of the risk based internal audit planning review and 
consultation exercise.  Members were advised the plan had input from CLT, senior 
management, third party assurance providers and items raised by 
Committee/Members within the year.  

The Plan covered a breadth of areas, reflecting the Council’s service areas as well 
as Council wide reviews and Covid-19 relevant risk themes and was based on 
1,825 audit assurance days, in line with the 20/21 Plan. The Committee noted the 
audit plan remained fit for purpose, responsive and continued to reflect the risk 
profile and assurance needs of the Council.  

Members raised the issue of local flood risk management, during the discussion it 
was noted that the presumption was that the Environment Agency (EA) would take 
the lead on this issue.  Members remarked that in light of the various episodes of 
flooding in the County, the EA had evidently failed to take the lead.  It was 
suggested that perhaps GCC should become more involved and take the lead 
instead

In response to a question, it was noted that in terms of the risk register, each item 
was owned by a Director and Cabinet Member.  In addition, Cabinet, Corporate 
Leadership Team and Corporate Overview Scrutiny Committee scrutinised the 
management of those risks in detail.    

Resolved 

The Committee noted the Internal Audit Plan for 2021/22 reflected the risk 
profile of the Council and approved the 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan.   

19. INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY PROGRESS REPORT 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Piyush Fatania, CIA, Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) presented the report which 
informed members on the progress of the internal audit activity in relation to the 
2020/2021 Revised Internal Audit Plan and provided a progress report on the 
internal audit outcomes from the period January to February 2021 including the 
opinions provided on risk and control.  The report also focused on the Counter 
Fraud Team update and the additional activities ARA had progressed due to the 
risks from and impact of Covid 19. 

Members were advised it was a lighter report than in January 2021, due to the 
shorter timeframe between respective Committee meetings. 

The Committee noted two limited assurance outcomes, these related to:
 Council CCTV usage: it was noted the review was originally requested by 
lead officers and audit findings were supported, verbal assurance had already been 
received from the Head of Information Management Services that recommendation 
implementation was already underway. 
 Expenses and benefits : Findings and recommendations had been agreed 
with senior management.   
   
The Committee requested Senior Management attendance at the next meeting of 
Committee, to provide management update on both the limited assurance 
outcomes, and to confirm the actions taken in relation to the audit 
recommendations.  

It was noted that all other confirmed assurance outcomes were relevant to 
consultancy activities including a targeted data matching and analytics piece of 
work completed with NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, and/or 
grant claim review & certification. 

Resolved

That the Committee noted the report and requested senior management 
attendance at the July Meeting to provide an update in relation to the two 
limited assurance reports.  

20. LIMITED ASSURANCE MANAGEMENT UPDATES 

Richard Thorne, Lead Officer: Client Affairs advised the Committee that the report 
on Client Affairs reflected a positive direction of travel since the original audit.   
Members noted in terms of lease vehicles, driver’s details were now verified and 
would continue to be reviewed on a yearly basis.  

In response to a question relating to prepaid cards, it was explained that prepaid 
cards related to the Clients personal funds and it was up to the client how they 
wished to spend it.  In some circumstances, a prepaid card was issued to a family 
member or carer who monitored the card on the client’s behalf.  

It was noted that a Client Affairs follow up internal audit had been included in the 
proposed Internal Audit Plan 2021/22.

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Resolved 

That the Limited Assurance Report be noted.

21. GFRS PROGRESS REPORT 

The CIA introduced the report and advised Members this was the third update 
report to Committee.  The report confirmed the position as at February 2021 and 
reflected a positive direction of travel regarding GFRS Board actions and those 
verified and implemented by Internal Audit through review & testing. 

It was noted that GFRS Board had made further progress against actions through 
its March 2021 Board meeting. The CIA explained this was the penultimate report.  

The Chief Fire Officer and Cllr Norman, Cabinet Member for Public Protection, 
parking and Libraries attended the meeting.  

The Cabinet Member explained that GFRS had been on journey for the last 
eighteen months, which had resulted in positive achievements and outcomes being 
made.  It was noted that the HMI recognised the efforts made by the service and 
the additional challenge placed upon the service by Audit, Risk & Assurance (ARA).  

The Cabinet Member was incredibly proud of the efforts made by staff within GFRS, 
especially in light of their efforts during the Covid Pandemic to overcome the 
challenges.  

It was noted that GFRS wouldn’t be the only service with culture problems and it 
wasn’t possible to change those issues overnight, it was necessary to involve all 
parties in the service are in order to bring about change and move forward with the 
cultural journey. The Cabinet Member recognised this was an ongoing journey but 
welcomed the change to the service.  

The CFO explained a positive culture was built on the foundations of sound 
governance.  He felt the service had drastically improved and ARA had consulted 
and supported the service over the last three years.  GFRS had recently presented 
a culture report to Corporate Leadership Team on the progress and development 
within the service.  It was noted that the service strived to be open, transparent, 
while actively encouraging representation from under represented groups, staff 
engagement, etc., in order to develop the service going forward.  

The development of a cultural action plan had seen sickness and absence levels 
decrease and a change in focus enabled staff to support the organisation to bring 
about cultural change.  As staff could now see that they could challenge and would 
be listened too.  The CFO recognised that there will still some pockets of bullying, 
racism and misogyny. It was noted that the newly appointed CFO would continue to 
drive the service in a positive way forward.  

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

A member quoted a maxim of there was “no such thing as a bad soldier, only a bad 
officer”; he added in turn of good leadership, good things would follow. He also 
wished to thank the Cabinet Member for his continued support of GFRS.  

The chairman thanked the CFO and the Cabinet Member for their regular 
attendance at the Committee and wished them well.   

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

22. LGA CODE OF CONDUCT 

Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring Officer presented the report in detail and advised the 
Committee there was currently a mixed approach to the Code of Conduct across 
the County and District Councils.  It was noted the County Monitoring Officers 
Group felt it would be beneficial to adopt a common code across Gloucestershire.  

The Committee discussed the various codes in use across the County and 
welcomed the approach of a universal code.  It was suggested that when adopted 
perhaps the code it could be disseminated to Town and Parish Councils, in an effort 
to adopt a unified common code.  

Resolved 

That the Committee noted the LGA’s new Model Code of Conduct and 
supported the recommendation to work with Gloucestershire’s District 
Councils with a view to developing a common Code of Conduct across 
Gloucestershire.  

23. OTHER BUSINESS 

The Chairman wished to thank the Committee and Officers for their time, help and 
support.  The Chairman also wished to record that he appreciated the late Cllr 
Roger Wilson’s efforts on the Committee.  

Members thanked the Chairman and wished him well in his retirement.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 11.56 am

Page 10



P
age 11

A
genda Item

 5



Commercial in confidence

P
age 12



Commercial in confidence

The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has set out its expectation of improved financial repotting from organisations and 

the need for auditors to demonstrate increased scepticism and challenge, and to undertake more robust testing as 

detailed in Appendix 1

Our work in 2019/20 highlighted areas where local government financial reporting, in particular, property, plant and 

equipment and pensions, needs to be improved, with a corresponding increase in audit procedures. We have also 

identified an increase in the complexity of local government financial transactions which require greater audit scrutiny. 

•

•

•

•

•

The outbreak of the Covid-19 coronavirus pandemic has had a significant impact on the normal operations of the Council 

and the financial forecast of the Council, particularly in the short term.

The Council has been supporting residents and business throughout the Covid-19 pandemic whilst delivering critical 

services. The Council has provided direct financial and other support for care homes including an allocation of the £7m 

Adult Social Care Infection Control Fund to care homes to stop the spread of infections.

The Council has continued to keep their budget under review throughout the year reporting fully on the impact of the 

Covid-19 pandemic. The pandemic was a significant impact that was not considered as a factor at the time the budget 

was approved in February 2020.

Due to the pressures faced by organisations in the public sector as a result of the pandemic, we are aware that there 

could be increased incentive and opportunity for the manipulation of organisations’ financial statements. As a result we 

have identified an additional significant risk of fraud in relation for the ‘fees and charges’ element of the Council’s income 

from services.

P
age 13



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

P
age 14



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 15



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 16



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 17



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 18



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 19

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/0fa69c03-49ec-49ae-a8c9-cc7a2b65382a/ISA-(UK)-540_Revised-December-2018_final.pdf


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

–

–

–

–

•

•

•

P
age 20



Commercial in confidence

P
age 21



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

P
age 22



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

P
age 23



Commercial in confidence

14

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 24



Commercial in confidence

.

•

•

•

Ethical Standard (revised 

2019)

P
age 25

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/601c8b09-2c0a-4a6c-8080-30f63e50b4a2/Revised-Ethical-Standard-2019-With-Covers.pdf


Commercial in confidence

.

P
age 26



Commercial in confidence

P
age 27



Commercial in confidence

P
age 28



Commercial in confidence

P
age 29



Commercial in confidence

P
age 30



P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 33



Commercial in confidence

P
age 34



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

P
age 35



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

P
age 36



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 37



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 38



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 39



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•P
age 40



Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 41

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/0fa69c03-49ec-49ae-a8c9-cc7a2b65382a/ISA-(UK)-540_Revised-December-2018_final.pdf


Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 42



Commercial in confidence

P
age 43



Commercial in confidence

12

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 44



Commercial in confidence

.

•

•

•

Ethical Standard (revised 

2019)

P
age 45

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/601c8b09-2c0a-4a6c-8080-30f63e50b4a2/Revised-Ethical-Standard-2019-With-Covers.pdf


Commercial in confidence

.

P
age 46



Commercial in confidence

P
age 47



Commercial in confidence

P
age 48



Commercial in confidence

P
age 49



Commercial in confidence

P
age 50



P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Audit and Governance Committee

Title of 
Report

Treasury Management Annual Report 2020/21

Purpose of 
Report 

Each year the Council produces an Annual Report covering its 
Treasury Management activities for the previous year. The Annual 
Report is submitted each year to the Audit and Governance 
Committee in accordance with best practice as outlined in CIPFA’s 
Code of Practice on Treasury Management.  

Recommend
ations To consider the Treasury Management Annual Report 2020/21.

Officers
Paul Blacker, Director of Finance (01452) 328999
Paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Kathryn Oakey; Finance Manager (Planning & Treasury)
Kathryn.oakey@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 53

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

                        Treasury Management Annual Report 2020/21

REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background

Gloucestershire County Council’s (the Council’s) treasury management activity is 
underpinned by CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code), which 
requires local authorities to produce annually a Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement (TMSS), and an Annual Report. The 2017 Prudential Code includes a 
requirement for the Council to produce a Capital Strategy, which covers capital 
expenditure and financing, treasury management and non-treasury investments.

The TMSS and Capital Strategy are agreed annually by full Council as part of the 
budget setting process. Scrutiny of these documents as well as a Mid Year Report and 
the Annual Report is delegated to the Audit and Governance Committee.  

The Council has invested substantial sums of money during the year and is therefore 
exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of 
changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control of risk are 
therefore central to the Council’s treasury management strategy. 

This report covers treasury activity and the associated monitoring and control of risk. A 
glossary is provided at Appendix A due to the technical terms and acronyms associated 
with treasury activity. 

2. Economic Background

Treasury Management activities at the Council are driven by the prevailing economic 
conditions.  A summary of these conditions over the financial year, provided by our 
Treasury Management advisors, is attached at Appendix B.  

In summary, the coronavirus pandemic played a major role in financial markets over the 
period as almost the entire planet has been subjected to some form of lockdown during 
the year. The start of the financial year saw many central banks cutting interest rates as 
lockdowns caused economic activity to grind to a halt. The UK government has 
provided a range of fiscal stimulus measures, the size of which has not been seen in 
peacetime. 

The Bank of England cut Bank Rate to 0.1% which has meant that rates on offer in the 
traditional treasury instruments have continued to be poor throughout the year.

3. Borrowing and Debt Management 

The Council has continued to borrow funds for specific capital schemes, and this year 
the total required was £12.252 million.  This borrowing was arranged internally because 
prevailing borrowing rates exceed those that could be gained from investing funds.  
Although borrowing continues to be relatively cheap at the current time, it still makes 
more sense not to borrow due to the high cash balances that the Council has.  The 
funding can however be externalised at any time should the need arise.  The rest of the 
capital programme new schemes are funded in full from grants, revenue contributions, 
capital receipts or contributions. 

Page 54



3

As a result of the borrowing requirement for 2020/21 and the increased capital 
expenditure throughout the year, the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) – 
the total borrowing required to fund the approved capital programme, increased - from 
£389.8m to £393.7m.  

The average cost of the Council’s existing borrowing portfolio during 2020/21 was 
4.72%.  This rate is significantly higher than the rate of return achieved on investments 
but reflects the mix of long term fixed rate loans taken out historically to reduce the risk 
associated with short term interest rate volatility. 

The opening and closing external borrowing portfolio (including the on balance sheet 
PFI liabilities) is summarised below: 

Balance on 
31/3/2020

Debt 
Maturing

Debt 
Prematurely 

Repaid

New 
Borrowing

Balance on 
31/3/2021 Avg Rate 

£m £m  £m £m £m %
Fixed rate loans – PWLB 228.736 7.963 0.000 0.000 220.773 4.78

Variable rate loans – PWLB 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.00

Fixed rate loans – LOBO 33.050 0.000 0.000 0.000 33.050 4.24
Fixed rate loans – Market 8.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 8.000 5.00

TOTAL BORROWING 269.786 7.963 0.000 0.000 261.823 4.72
Other Long Term Liabilities 98.408 1.339 0.000 0.000 97.069

TOTAL EXTERNAL DEBT 368.194 9.302 0.000 0.000 358.892
Internal Borrowing 21.650 (0.884) 12.252 34.786

Total Borrowing Requirement 389.844 393.678
Increase/ (Decrease) in Borrowing £m 3.834

Notes to Table
 Market Loans (LOBOs) and Fixed Market Loans:  The Council holds £33.05m of LOBO loans 

where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate at set dates, following 
which the Council has the option to either accept the new rate or to repay the loan at no 
additional cost.  All of these LOBOs had options during the year, none of which were exercised 
by the lender.  Previously a further £8 million of loans with Barclays were classified as LOBOs; 
however Barclays have since fixed the interest rates on these loans until maturity. These are 
classified as fixed rate market loans.

 Public Works Loans Board (PWLB):  The PWLB premium charge for early repayment of PWLB 
debt remains relatively expensive for the loans in the Council’s portfolio and therefore 
unattractive for debt rescheduling activity.  No rescheduling activity was undertaken as a 
consequence.

 Other Long Term Liabilities: These liabilities are associated with the Council’s PFI schemes 
and service concessions. Under current accounting regulations the Council must show these 
liabilities as part of the total debt of the Council. The schemes include a Fire Joint Training 
Centre, four Fire Stations, a Community Life Skills Centre and the Waste facility at Javelin Park.

Page 55



4

The table below reconciles the opening and closing total borrowing position during 
2020/21:

£m
Opening CFR 389.844
Plus New Borrowing 12.252
Less MRP (8.418)
Total 393.678
Closing CFR 393.678

External Debt 261.823
Other long term liabilities 97.069
Internal Debt 34.786
Total Debt 393.678

The minimum revenue provision (MRP) shown above of £8.418m is a statutory 
minimum amount by which the Council must reduce debt.  The internal debt of £34.785 
million results from existing internal debt, the additional borrowing requirement of 
£12.252 million during 2020/21 and a temporary in year timing mismatch between MRP 
set aside in 2020/21 to repay maturing debt and actual debt maturing in year.

A graph of the maturity profile of our external loans is shown in Appendix C.  Generally 
the maturity profile is well spread.

4. Investment Activity 

The Council has held significant invested funds during the year, representing income 
received in advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves. During 2020/21 the 
Council’s investment balances have varied – the average was £359.3 million. This 
generated interest of £5.5m which is equivalent to 1.53%.  This return was achieved 
during a period when the bank rate was 0.10% for the majority of the year.

Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Council to invest its funds 
prudently and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before 
seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s objective when investing 
money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return by balancing the risk 
of incurring losses from defaults against the risk of receiving unsuitably low investment 
income.

The table below summarises investment activity during the year; 

Total number of loans made to 31 March 2021 137
Daily invested range £0.031m to £27.15m
Total value of loans made to 31 March 2021 £937m
Maximum value loan made (non call) £5.0m
Maximum value of loans made (Call) £27.05m
Periods Overnight to 2 years

All investments made during the year complied with the Council’s agreed TMSS, 
Prudential Indicators, Treasury Management Practices and prescribed limits as 
approved by the County Council in February 2020. All maturing investments were 
repaid to the Council in full and in a timely manner.  

Page 56



5

The opening and closing principal investment balances are summarised in the table 
below;

Short term Investments (call 
accounts, deposits)
- Banks and Building Societies 
with ratings of A- or higher 85.3 547.7 -590.3 42.7 0.1

- UK Government 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

- Local Authorities 98.0 93.5 -79.7 111.8 0.9

 - Housing Association 10.0 10.0 -20.0 0.0 1.5

-  Covered Bonds/ FRN (secured) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Long term Investments

-  Strategic Funds 75.0 0.0 0.0 75.0 3.5

 - Housing Association 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

-  Covered Bonds/ FRN (secured) 1.4 0.0 0.0 1.4 1.5
- Local Authorities 33.3 65.0 -62.2 36.1 0.8

Money Market Funds 16.7 220.8 -177.5 60.0 0.2

Pooled Funds 5.0 0.0 0.0 5.0 0.9

Other organisations (e.g. loans 
to small businesses) 0.063 0.0 -0.055 0.008 7.2

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 324.8 332.0
Increase/ (Decrease) in 
Investments £m 7.2

Avg Rate 
(%) Investments

Balance on 
31/03/2020  

£m

Investments 
Made        
£m

Maturities/ 
Investments 

Sold £m

Balance on 
31/03/2021  

£m

Notes to Table
 Funding Circle: The sum invested with other organisations relates to the Council’s investment in 

Funding Circle as part of the commitment to economic development.  This scheme was originally 
intended to assist small businesses in Gloucestershire, with the Council providing £2,500 per 
Gloucestershire business on the platform.  69 Gloucestershire businesses were assisted; 
however since 2016 the Council has been unable to target Gloucestershire businesses.  The 
money in the platform is currently being matured and to date £0.092 million has been returned 
with £0.008 million plus £0.031m interest remaining on the platform at year end.  The balance 
above is the principal position only.

Investment Objectives

1) Security

The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance 
between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the 
risk of receiving unsuitably low investment income. The Council has continued to 
review its exposure to unsecured investments in banks and building societies and 
increase exposure to more secure investments, such as other local authorities. The 
Council’s one remaining covered bond has since matured, and no additional 

Page 57



6

covered instruments have been taken out during the year as yields are low. The 
“covered” instruments are secured against the bank’s assets, which limits the 
potential losses in the unlikely event of insolvency, and means that the deposit is 
exempt from bail-in.

The Council receives regular correspondence from its Treasury Advisors on credit 
risk, which is taken into account before transactions are made. The Council used 
long term credit criteria during 2020/21, with minimum long-term counterparty credit 
rating determined for the 2020/21 treasury strategy being A-.  The Council’s 
counterparty credit quality has reduced over the year as demonstrated by the Credit 
Score Analysis summarised below.  The table in Appendix D explains the credit 
score.  

The Rate of Return shown in the table above is a quarterly position, so not directly comparable to 
the annual rate of return, achieved by the Council over the year.

The credit score has worsened slightly due to the downgrading of the main bank 
that the Council uses, HSBC, from AA- to A+ in May 2020.  The rate of return also 
reduced over the year as our duration remained short due to restrictions 
recommended by our Treasury Advisors.  Due to ongoing economic concerns 
during 2020/21 as a result of the Covid pandemic and impact of Brexit bank 
deposits were restricted to 35 days and deposits with other local authorities 
restricted to two years.  

Risk is further reduced by ensuring a good mix of duration of deposits and mix of 
counterparties. The tables below show a comparison between years for duration 
and type.  

Average Length of investments
At 31/3/20 

%
At 31/3/21 

%
Less than 1 month (including Call) 17.6 20.7
Between 1 to 3 months 35.4 17.0
Between 3 to 6 months 6.4 5.6
Between 6 to 12 months 6.8 16.1
Over 12 months 33.8 40.6
Total 100 100

Rate of 
Return

%

31.03.2020 4.21 AA- 42% 145 1.80%
30.06.2020 4.14 AA- 43% 177 1.50%
30.09.2020 4.07 AA- 46% 162 1.33%
31.12.2020 4.7 A+ 35% 193 1.47%

31.03.2021 4.53 A+ 31% 203 1.51%

Similar LAs 4.35 AA- 39% 983 1.14%

Credit 
Score

Credit 
Rating

Bail-in 
Exposure

Weighted 
Average 
Maturity 

Page 58



7

Investments by type of institution
At 31/3/20 

%
At 31/3/21 

%
UK Banks 1.5 0
Other Local Authorities 40.4 51.8
Covered Instruments 0.4 0.4
Call Accounts 10.9 8.3
Money Market Funds (MMF’s) 8.2 12.4
Strategic Funds 12.3 13.6
Notice Accounts 13.9 4.5
Property Fund 9.2 9.0
Housing Association 3.2 0
Total 100 100

2) Liquidity: In keeping with the MHCLG’s Guidance on Investments, the Council 
maintained a sufficient level of liquidity through the use of Money Market Funds, 
overnight deposits and call accounts.    

3) Yield: the Council sought to optimise returns commensurate with its objectives of 
security and liquidity.  Short term money market rates remained at very low 
levels which had a significant impact on investment income.  Income earned on 
existing longer-dated deposits provided some cushion against the low interest 
rate environment.  The move into more strategic funds has allowed the Council 
to start to “inflation proof” returns, whilst maintaining liquidity and security.  The 
economic downturn has had an impact on the capital values of strategic funds; 
however the Council maintains a long dated outlook on these funds. 

5. Responsible Investment Policy

Following a motion agreed by Council in November 2019 the Council has developed 
and implemented a Responsible Investment Policy, which rules out new investments in 
fossil fuel companies. 

As a result of this, a Treasury Policy amendment was made to the 2020/21 Treasury 
Management Strategy as follows:

i) For direct investments, the Council will seek to ensure that counterparties 
(excluding the UK Government and other UK Local Authorities) have no direct 
investment in Fossil Fuel companies prior to investing.

ii) For investments into Pooled Funds the Council will seek to ensure that any fund 
used does not have exposure to Fossil Fuel investments prior to investing.

As part of the 2020/21 treasury activity it is confirmed that all direct investments have 
fully complied with this policy and no additional investment into pooled or strategic 
funds have been made during the financial year.  

6. Other Non-Treasury Holdings and Activity

Although not classed as treasury management activities, the CIPFA Code requires the 
Council to report on investments for policy reasons outside of normal treasury 

Page 59



8

management.  This includes service investments for operational and/or regeneration as 
well as commercial investments which are made mainly for financial reasons.  

The Council currently holds funds in Funding Circle originally set up for the purpose of 
supporting businesses within Gloucestershire, which was part of the package of 
Economic Development measures designed to assist the local community.  The Council 
is currently selling its investment in the fund so all activity is currently suspended.    
Following an in year maturity of part of the capital value of £0.055m the balance 
remaining on the platform is £0.039m, of which £0.031m is interest.

7. Compliance Report

All treasury management activities undertaken during 2020/21 complied fully with the 
CIPFA Code of Practice and the Council’s approved Treasury Management Strategy 
set in February 2021 - (which can be accessed here).

In compliance with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice this report provides 
members with a summary report of the treasury management activity during 2020/21.  
None of the Prudential Indicators have been breached and a prudent approach has 
been taken in relation to investment activity with priority being given to security and 
liquidity over yield.  Details can be found in Appendix E.

8. Investment Training

Training was undertaken for members in January 2021.  This was provided by our 
Treasury Management advisors, Arlingclose.  Officers ensure that they are kept up to 
date on treasury related matters and training and attendance at updates with the 
Council’s advisors is undertaken as appropriate.  

Page 60

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/


9

Appendix A
GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

Basis Point
A measure of percentage where 1 basis point is equivalent to 0.01%.

Call Account
A bank account with instant access to funds held on deposit.

Capital Financing Requirement
The total borrowing required by the Council to support the Capital programme.

Certainty Rate
A borrowing rate offered by the PWLB at 20 basis points below normally available 
rates.

Certificate of Deposit (CD)
A savings certificate entitling the bearer to receive interest.  A CD bears a maturity date, 
a specified fixed interest rate and can be issued in any denomination, although the 
Council only trades in sterling.  A CD can be sold before maturity.

CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
Leading professional accountancy bodies in the UK and the only one which specialises 
in the public services. 

Credit Default Swap (CDS)
A credit default swap (CDS) is a financial swap agreement that the seller of the CDS 
will compensate the buyer in the event of a loan default or other credit event.

Custody Account
A facility to enable the Council to access alternative investments instruments that 
require specialist electronic settlement systems.

Debt Management Office (DMO)
An Executive Agency of Her Majesty's Treasury. The DMO's responsibilities include 
debt and cash management for the UK Government, lending to local authorities and 
managing certain public sector funds. 

Discount
A deductible sum - calculated on normal actuarial principles – which a lender pays to 
the Council if a loan is repaid early and if interest rates are presently higher than the 
loan rate. The discount reflects the gain to the lender of foregoing the remaining 
instalments of interest, and receiving funds which have to be re-invested at current 
interest rates.
 
Funding for Lending Scheme
The Bank and HM Treasury launched the Funding for Lending Scheme (FLS) on 13 
July 2012. The FLS is designed to incentivise banks and building societies to boost 
their lending to the UK real economy.  It does this by providing funding to banks and 
building societies for an extended period, with both the price and quantity of funding 
provided linked to their lending performance.

Page 61

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Swap_(finance)
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Default_(finance)
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Credit_event


10

GDP
Gross Domestic Product.

Gilt
Long term fixed income debt security (bond) issued by the UK Government and traded 
on the London Stock Exchange

LAMIT
Local Authority Mutual Investment Trust.

LOBO (Lender’s Option / Borrowers Option)
Money Market instruments that have a fixed initial term (typically one to ten years) and 
then move to an arrangement whereby the lender can decide at pre-determined 
intervals to adjust the rate on the loan. At this stage the borrower has the option to 
repay the loan. 

London Inter-Bank Bid Rate (LIBID)
The interest rate at which major banks in London are willing to borrow (bid for) funds 
from each other. 

Minimum Revenue Provision
The minimum amount which must be charged to an authority’s revenue account each 
year and set aside towards repaying borrowing

Money Market
The term applied to the institutions willing to trade in financial instruments. It is not a 
physical creation, but an electronic/telephonic one. 

PFI Liabilities
A requirement under current accounting standards to include all Private Financing 
arrangements within the borrowing requirement, to reflect the additional liability on the 
Council from these schemes.

Pooled Fund
Investments are made with an organisation that pool together investments from other 
organisations and apply the same investment strategy to the portfolio. Pooled fund 
investments benefit from economies of scale, which allows for lower trading costs per 
pound, diversification and professional money management.

Premium 
An additional sum - calculated on normal actuarial principles – which the authority pays 
to a lender if a loan is repaid early and if interest rates are presently lower than the loan 
rate. The premium reflects the loss to the lender of foregoing the remaining instalments 
of interest, and receiving funds which have to be re-invested at current interest rates. 

Prudential Indicator
Indicators set out in the Prudential Code that calculates the financial impact and sets 
limits for treasury management activities and capital investment.

Page 62



11

PWLB – Public Works Loan Board
An independent statutory body operated within the Debt Management Office, which is 
able to meet all of a local authority’s needs for long-term borrowing. The PWLB is 
prepared to lend to authorities who act prudently and comply with all relevant 
legislation. 

RISK: 
Credit and counterparty risk 
The risk of failure by a counterparty to meet its contractual obligations to the 
organisation under an investment, borrowing, capital, project or partnership financing, 
particularly as a result of the counterparty’s diminished creditworthiness, and the 
resulting detrimental effect on the organisation’s capital or current (revenue) resources.
 
Liquidity risk 
The risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, that ineffective management 
of liquidity creates additional unbudgeted costs, and that the organisation’s 

Interest Rate risk 
The risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, that ineffective management 
of liquidity creates additional unbudgeted costs, and that the organisation’s 
business/service objectives will be thereby compromised. 

Refinancing risk 
The risk that maturing borrowings, capital, project or partnership financings cannot be 
refinanced on terms that reflect the provisions made by the organisation for those 
refinancings, both capital and current (revenue), and/or that the terms are inconsistent 
with prevailing market conditions at the time. 

Legal Risk 
The risk that the organisation itself, or an organisation with which it is dealing in its 
treasury management activities, fails to act in accordance with its legal powers or 
regulatory requirements, and that the organisation suffers losses accordingly. 

Operational Risk 
The risk that an organisation fails to identify the circumstances in which it may be 
exposed to the risk of loss through fraud, error, corruption or other eventualities in its 
treasury management dealings, and fails to employ suitable systems and procedures 
and maintain effective contingency management arrangements to these ends. It 
includes the area of risk commonly referred to as operational risk. 

Market Risk 
The risk that, through adverse market fluctuations in the value of the principal sums an 
organisation borrows and invests, its stated treasury management policies and 
objectives are compromised, against which effects it has failed to protect itself 
adequately.

Stable Net Asset Value Money Market Funds
The principle invested remains at its invested value and achieves a return on 
investment.

Voluntary Revenue Provision
Any amount set aside to reduce the Capital financing Requirement over and above the 
MRP.

Page 63



12

Appendix B
Economic Update
The bullet points below provided by our treasury advisors, are a summary of the 
economic climate over the financial year 2020/21 that has impacted on the treasury 
management environment of the Council:

 Economic background: The coronavirus pandemic dominated 2020/21, leading 
to almost the entire planet being in some form of lockdown during the year. The 
start of the financial year saw many central banks cutting interest rates as 
lockdowns caused economic activity to grind to a halt. The Bank of England cut 
Bank Rate to 0.1% and the UK government provided a range of fiscal stimulus 
measures, the size of which has not been seen in peacetime.

 Some good news came in December 2020 as two COVID-19 vaccines were 
given approval by the UK Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency 
(MHRA). The UK vaccine rollout started in earnest; over 31 million people had 
received their first dose by 31st March.

 A Brexit trade deal was agreed with only days to spare before the 11pm 31st 
December 2020 deadline having been agreed with the European Union on 
Christmas Eve.

 The Bank of England (BoE) held Bank Rate at 0.1% throughout the year but 
extended its Quantitative Easing programme by £150 billion to £895 billion at its 
November 2020 meeting. In its March 2021 interest rate announcement, the BoE 
noted that while GDP would remain low in the near-term due to COVID-19 
lockdown restrictions, the easing of these measures means growth is expected to 
recover strongly later in the year. Inflation is forecast to increase in the near-term 
and while the economic outlook has improved there are downside risks to the 
forecast, including from unemployment which is still predicted to rise when the 
furlough scheme is eventually withdrawn.

 Government initiatives supported the economy and the Chancellor announced in 
the 2021 Budget a further extension to the furlough (Coronavirus Job Retention) 
scheme until September 2021. Access to support grants was also widened, 
enabling more self-employed people to be eligible for government help. Since 
March 2020, the government schemes have help protect more than 11 million 
jobs. 

 Despite the furlough scheme, unemployment still rose. Labour market data 
showed that in the three months to January 2021 the unemployment rate was 
5.0%, in contrast to 3.9% recorded for the same period 12 months ago. Wages 
rose 4.8% for total pay in nominal terms (4.2% for regular pay) and was up 3.9% 
in real terms (3.4% for regular pay). Unemployment is still expected to increase 
once the various government job support schemes come to an end.

 Inflation has remained low over the 12 month period. Latest figures showed the 
annual headline rate of UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) fell to 0.4% year/year 
in February, below expectations (0.8%) and still well below the Bank of England’s 
2% target. The ONS’ preferred measure of CPIH which includes owner-occupied 
housing was 0.7% year/year (1.0% expected).

 After contracting sharply in Q2 (Apr-Jun) 2020 by 19.8% q/q, growth in Q3 and 
Q4 bounced back by 15.5% and 1.3% respectively. The easing of some 
lockdown measures in the last quarter of the calendar year enabled construction 
output to continue, albeit at a much slower pace than the 41.7% rise in the prior 
quarter. When released, figures for Q1 (Jan-Mar) 2021 are expected to show a 
decline given the national lockdown. 

 After collapsing at an annualised rate of 31.4% in Q2, the US economy 
rebounded by 33.4% in Q3 and then a further 4.1% in Q4. The US recovery has 

Page 64



13

been fuelled by three major pandemic relief stimulus packages totalling over $5 
trillion. The Federal Reserve cut its main interest rate to between 0% and 0.25% 
in March 2020 in response to the pandemic and it has remained at the same 
level since. Joe Biden became the 46th US president after defeating Donald 
Trump.

 The European Central Bank maintained its base rate at 0% and deposit rate at -
0.5% but in December 2020 increased the size of its asset purchase scheme to 
€1.85 trillion and extended it until March 2022.

 Financial markets: Monetary and fiscal stimulus helped provide support for 
equity markets which rose over the period, with the Dow Jones beating its pre-
crisis peak on the back of outperformance by a small number of technology 
stocks. The FTSE indices performed reasonably well during the period April to 
November, before being buoyed in December by both the vaccine approval and 
Brexit deal, which helped give a boost to both the more internationally focused 
FTSE 100 and the more UK-focused FTSE 250, however they remain lower than 
their pre-pandemic levels.

 Ultra-low interest rates prevailed throughout most of the period, with yields 
generally falling between April and December 2020. From early in 2021 the 
improved economic outlook due to the new various stimulus packages 
(particularly in the US), together with the approval and successful rollout of 
vaccines, caused government bonds to sell off sharply on the back of expected 
higher inflation and increased uncertainty, pushing yields higher more quickly 
than had been anticipated.

 The 5-year UK benchmark gilt yield began the financial year at 0.18% before 
declining to -0.03% at the end of 2020 and then rising strongly to 0.39% by the 
end of the financial year. Over the same period the 10-year gilt yield fell from 
0.31% to 0.19% before rising to 0.84%. The 20-year declined slightly from 0.70% 
to 0.68% before increasing to 1.36%.

 1-month, 3-month and 12-month SONIA bid rates averaged 0.01%, 0.10% and 
0.23% respectively over the financial year.

 The yield on 2-year US treasuries was 0.16% at the end of the period, up from 
0.12% at the beginning of January but down from 0.21% at the start of the 
financial year. For 10-year treasuries the end of period yield was 1.75%, up from 
both the beginning of 2021 (0.91%) and the start of the financial year (0.58%).

 German bund yields continue to remain negative across most maturities.
 Credit review: After spiking in March 2020, credit default swap spreads declined 

over the remaining period of the year to broadly pre-pandemic levels. The gap in 
spreads between UK ringfenced and non-ringfenced entities remained, albeit 
Santander UK is still an outlier compared to the other ringfenced/retail banks. At 
the end of the period Santander UK was trading the highest at 57bps and 
Standard Chartered the lowest at 32bps. The other ringfenced banks were 
trading around 33 and 34bps while Nationwide Building Society was 43bps.

 Credit rating actions to the period ending September 2020 have been covered in 
previous outturn reports. Subsequent credit developments include Moody’s 
downgrading the UK sovereign rating to Aa3 with a stable outlook which then 
impacted a number of other UK institutions, banks and local government. In the 
last quarter of the financial year S&P upgraded Clydesdale Bank to A- and 
revised Barclay’s outlook to stable (from negative) while Moody’s downgraded 
HSBC’s Baseline Credit Assessment to baa3 whilst affirming the long-term rating 
at A1.

 The vaccine approval and subsequent rollout programme are both credit positive 
for the financial services sector in general, but there remains much uncertainty 
around the extent of the losses banks and building societies will suffer due to the 

Page 65



14

economic slowdown which has resulted due to pandemic-related lockdowns and 
restrictions. The institutions and durations on the Authority’s counterparty list 
recommended by treasury management advisors Arlingclose remain under 
constant review, but at the end of the period no changes had been made to the 
names on the list or the recommended maximum duration of 35 days.

Page 66



15

Appendix C

Loan Profile 

Although the spread of borrowing is generally smooth there are a number of peaks.  
The peak in 2051/52 is because there are three loans maturing, one of which is for 
£15m.  The peak in 2077/78 is the final date of maturity for a number of LOBOs loans.  
Note that LOBO loans are shown at maturity rather than the earliest call (option) date.  

Page 67



16

Appendix D
Credit Score Analysis

Scoring: 

Long-Term
Credit 
Rating Score
AAA 1
AA+ 2
AA 3
AA- 4
A+ 5
A 6
A- 7
BBB+ 8
BBB 9
BBB- 10

The value weighted average reflects the credit quality of investments according to the size of the deposit. 
The time weighted average reflects the credit quality of investments according to the maturity of the 
deposit

The Council aimed to achieve a score of 7 or lower, to reflect the Council’s overriding priority of security 
of monies invested and the minimum credit rating of threshold of A- for investment counterparties. 

Page 68



Appendix E

Compliance Statement: Prudential Indicators

Capital Financing Requirement

The Capital Financing Requirement is the total amount required by the Council to 
fully fund the Capital Programme.  In effect, it is therefore the total borrowing 
requirement of the Council.  The outturn position for the Council’s cumulative 
maximum external borrowing requirement for 2020/21 is shown in the table below:

31/03/2021
Actual

£m
CFR 393.678
Less:
Existing Profile of Borrowing 261.823

Less:
Other Long Term Liabilities* 97.070

Cumulative Maximum
External Borrowing 34.785
Requirement

Cumulative Net Borrowing (285.918)
Requirement/(investments)

Useable Reserves ** (320.703)

*Other long term liabilities are the Council’s PFI schemes and the Energy from Waste contract. 
The PFI schemes include a Fire Joint Training Centre, and 4 Fire Stations and a Community 
Life Skills Centre.  Under current accounting regulations the Council must show these liabilities 
as part of the total debt of the Council.

**Reserves shown here may differ slightly to those shown in the final Statement of Accounts 
following approval by Cabinet for carry forwards, which may increase the final reserves amount.

Prudential Indicator Compliance

Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt 

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to set an affordable 
Authorised Borrowing Limit, irrespective of their indebted status. This is a statutory 
limit which should not be breached.  The Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit was 
revised during February 2021 as the liability for Waste was less than originally 
envisaged, with the limit being decreased from £950m to £455m.  

This limit represents a worse case scenario for debt required and is calculated as 
the total capital financing requirement (including lease liabilities), plus the minimum 
revenue provision, plus maturing debt and capital receipts.  Added to this is an 
allowance to cover the possibility of not being able to make monthly salary 

Page 69



18

payments.  This allows the Council flexibility with its total borrowing requirement.

The Operational Boundary is based on the same estimates as the Authorised Limit 
but reflects the most likely, prudent but not worst case scenario without the 
additional headroom included within the Authorised Limit.  The Operational 
Boundary was revised during February 2021, decreasing from £930m to £435m as 
per the above to take account of the over estimate of the Waste contract.

There were no breaches to the Authorised Limit and the Operational Boundary 
during the year; borrowing at its peak was £367m.  

Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate Borrowing 

This indicator is to limit large concentrations of fixed rate debt needing to be 
replaced at times of uncertainty over interest rates.  The table below shows the 
principal position.

Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate 
Borrowing

Upper 
Limit

Lower 
Limit

Actual 
Fixed Rate 

£m 
Borrowing 

as at 
31/03/21

Actual 
Fixed Rate 

£m 
Borrowing 

as at 
31/03/21

Actual 
Fixed Rate 

£m 
Borrowing 

as at 
31/03/21

Fixed 
Rate 

Borrowing 
as at 

31/03/21

% % LOBO* Market PWLB %
under 12 months 25 0 33.050 15.145 18.4 Yes 
12 months and within 24 months 25 0 6.900 2.6 Yes
24 months and within 5 years 50 0 14.500 5.5 Yes
5 years and within 10 years 75 0 30.000 11.5 Yes
10 years and within 20 years 100 0 38.968 14.9 Yes
20 years and within 30 years 100 0 3.000 85.260 33.7 Yes
30 years and within 40 years 100 0 5.000 30.000 13.4 Yes

* Note that LOBO’s  are included in the table above at earl ies t ca l l  date and not at maturi ty.

Compliance 
with Set 
Limits?

Actual External Debt

This indicator is obtained directly from the Council’s balance sheet. It is the closing 
balance for actual gross borrowing (short and long-term) plus other deferred 
liabilities.  The indicator is measured in a manner consistent for comparison with 
the Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit. 

2020/21
Actual

£m
Borrowing 261.823
Other long liabilities 97.070
Total Debt 358.893

Debt

Total principal sums invested for periods longer than 364 days

This indicator allows the Council to manage the risk inherent in investments longer 
than 364 days.  The limit for 2020/21 was set at £200m.  At its peak sums invested 
for longer than 365 totalled £135m.

Page 70



19

Proportion of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream

This is an indicator of affordability and highlights the revenue implications of 
existing and proposed capital expenditure by identifying the proportion of the 
revenue budget required to meet financing costs.  The ratio is based on costs net 
of investment income.

Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate

Proportion of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream 6.20% 6.23% 6.63% 6.70%

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee 

Date: 30th July 2021 Agenda No: 
 

8 

 
Title of Report: 

 
Annual Report on Internal Audit Activity 2020/21 
 

 
Purpose of Report: 

 

To provide the Committee with an Annual Report on Internal Audit 
Activity which fully meets the Head of Audit Risk Assurance’s annual 
reporting requirements, as set out in the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) 2017. 

 
Recommendations: 

 
It is recommended that the Committee: 

 Assess, from the findings set out in this Internal Audit Annual 
Report 2020/21, whether it can take reasonable assurance that 
the internal control environment, comprising risk management, 
control and governance is operating effectively;  

 Note that the performance of Internal Audit meets the required 
standards; and 

 Note the Council wide counter fraud activity during 2020/21 
which includes the fraud reporting requirements as mandated 
by the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 (paragraph 
ref 7b). 

 
Officer (s) Contact: 

 
Piyush Fatania: Head of Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) and Insurance 
Services  Tel: 01452 328883 
piyush.fatania@gloucestershire.gov.uk  
 
 

Paul Blacker, Director of Finance Tel: 01452 328999 
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
 

 
Context 

 
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 state that ‘a relevant 
authority must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the 
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance 
processes, taking into account Public Sector Internal Auditing 
Standards or guidance’. 

GCC Financial Regulations C: Risk Management and Internal 
Control states that ‘The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for 
conducting a continuous internal audit in accordance with the Accounts 
and Audit Regulations 2015’. 

The Audit and Governance Committee’s role is to monitor the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Internal Audit service.  

Page 73

Agenda Item 8

mailto:piyush.fatania@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 

Key Risks 

 

Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit service will prevent an 
independent, objective assurance opinion from being provided to those 
charged with governance that the key risks associated with the 
achievement of the Council’s objectives are being adequately 
controlled.  

 

Page 74



 

 

Annual Report on

2020-2021
Internal Audit Activity

Page 75



Contents 
(1) Introduction .........................................................................................................................1

(2) Responsibilities ..................................................................................................................1

(3) Purpose of this Report .......................................................................................................1

(4) Head of ARA’s Opinion on the Council’s Internal Control Environment.......................2

(4a) Scope of the Internal Audit Opinion ...............................................................................2

(4b) Limitations to the scope of our activity ...........................................................................3

(5) Summary of Internal Audit Activity undertaken compared to that planned..................3

(6) Summary of Internal Audit Activity undertaken which informed our opinion ..............7

(6a) Internal Audit Assurance Opinions on Risk and Control ................................................8

(6b) Limited Control Assurance Opinions .............................................................................9

(6c) Audit Activity where a Limited Assurance Opinion has been provided on Control ........9

(6d) Satisfactory Control Assurance Opinions ....................................................................10

(6e) Internal Audit recommendations made to enhance the control environment...............10

(6f) Risk Assurance Opinions.............................................................................................10

(6g) Limited Assurance Opinions Direction of Travel ..........................................................11

(6h) Internal Audit’s Review of Risk Management ..............................................................13

(7) Summary of additional Internal Audit Activity ...............................................................13

(7a) Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities...........................................................13

(7b) Local Government Transparency Code 2015..............................................................15

(8) Internal Audit Effectiveness.............................................................................................17

Appendix 1: Completed 2020/21 Internal Audit Activity during the period April 2021 to 
June 2021 .....................................................................................................................................22

Summary of Substantial Assurance Opinions on Control.......................................................22

Summary of Satisfactory Assurance Opinions on Control......................................................27

Summary of Consulting Activity and/or support provided where no opinions are provided....34

Page 76



1

(1) Introduction

All local authorities must make proper provision for Internal Audit in line with the 1972 Local 
Government Act (S151) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The latter states that 
‘a relevant authority must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness 
of its risk management, control and governance processes, taking into account Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2017 or guidance’. 

The Standards define the way in which the Internal Audit service should be established and 
undertake its functions.  The Council’s Internal Audit service is provided by Audit Risk 
Assurance (ARA) under a shared service agreement between Gloucestershire County 
Council (host authority), Gloucester City Council and Stroud District Council. The service 
carries out the work to satisfy this legislative requirement and reports its findings and 
conclusions to management and the Audit and Governance Committee. The standards also 
require that an independent and objective opinion is given on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the control environment (comprising risk management, control and 
governance) from the work undertaken by the Internal Audit service.

Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit service is conducted in conformance with 
the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 

(2) Responsibilities 

Management are responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate risk management 
processes, control systems (financial and non financial) and governance arrangements.

Internal Audit plays a key role in providing independent assurance and challenge, advising 
the Council that satisfactory arrangements are in place and operating effectively.

Internal Audit is not the only source of assurance for the Council. There are a range of 
external audit and inspection agencies as well as management processes, which also 
provide assurance. These are set out in the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance and 
the Annual Governance Statement.  

(3) Purpose of this Report

One of the key requirements of the PSIAS is that the Head of ARA should provide an annual 
report to those charged with governance, to support the Annual Governance Statement. The 
content of the report is prescribed by the PSIAS which specifically requires Internal Audit to:

 Provide an opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s 
internal control environment and disclose any qualifications to that opinion, together 
with the reasons for the qualification;

 Compare the actual work undertaken with the planned work and present a summary 
of the audit activity undertaken from which the opinion was derived, drawing attention 
to any issues of particular relevance;

Page 77



2

 Summarise the performance of the Internal Audit service against its performance 
measures and targets; and

 Comment on compliance with the PSIAS.

When considering this report, the Audit and Governance Committee may also wish to have 
regard to the quarterly interim Internal Audit Progress Reports presented to the Committee 
during 2020/21. 

(4) Head of ARA’s Opinion on the Council’s Internal Control 
Environment

In providing my opinion it should be noted that assurance can never be absolute. The most 
that Internal Audit can provide is a reasonable assurance that there are no major 
weaknesses in risk management arrangements, control processes and governance. The 
matters raised in this report and our in year quarterly monitoring reports, are only those that 
were identified during our Internal Audit work and are not necessarily a comprehensive 
statement of all the weaknesses that may exist or represent all of the improvements 
required.

Head of ARA’s Opinion

I am satisfied that, based on the Internal Audit activity undertaken during 2020/21 and 
management’s actions taken in response to that activity, enhanced by the work of other 
external review agencies, sufficient evidence is available to allow me to draw a reasonable 
conclusion as to the adequacy and effectiveness of Gloucestershire County Council’s overall 
internal control environment. 

In my opinion, based on Internal Audit work undertaken, Gloucestershire County Council has 
a Satisfactory overall control environment to enable the achievement of the Council’s 
outcomes and objectives. 

This opinion will feed into the Annual Governance Statement which will be published 
alongside the Annual Statement of Accounts.

(4a) Scope of the Internal Audit Opinion

In arriving at my opinion, I have taken into account:

 The results of all Internal Audit activity undertaken during the year ended 31st March 
2021 and whether our high and medium priority recommendations have been 
accepted by management and, if not, the consequent risk;

 The effects of any material changes in the Council’s risk profile, objectives or 
activities;

 Matters arising from quarterly Internal Audit Progress Reports or other assurance 
providers to the Audit and Governance Committee; 

Page 78



3

 Whether or not any limitations have been placed on the scope of Internal Audit 
activity; and 

 Whether there have been any resource constraints imposed on Internal Audit which 
may have impacted on our ability to meet the needs of the Council. 

(4b) Limitations to the scope of our activity

I can confirm that there have been no limitations to the scope of our activity or resource 
constraints imposed on Internal Audit which have impacted on our ability to meet the needs 
of the Council. I can further confirm that there were no material changes in the Council’s risk 
profile, objectives or activities. 

Whilst the core Internal Audit service is provided by the ARA shared service, during 2020/21 
the Head of ARA has:

 Commissioned external specialist ICT audit via Warwickshire County Council’s 
Internal Audit Framework Agreement; and

 Arrangements in place with Gloucestershire NHS Counter Fraud Service to provide 
support with investigations.

(5) Summary of Internal Audit Activity undertaken compared to 
that planned

The underlying principle to the 2020/21 Internal Audit Plan is risk and as such, audit 
resources were directed to areas which represented ‘in year risk’. Variations to the plan were 
made to adequately to reflect any changes in the Council’s risk profile. 

Members approved the original Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 virtually within April 2020. 

Covid-19 placed significant pressures on Council services and impacted (and continues to 
impact) on its priorities, objectives and risk environment. Due to this changing position and to 
ensure that the Risk Based Internal Audit Plan met the assurance needs of the Council, the 
Plan was reviewed and refreshed in consultation with Officers (Corporate Leadership Team 
(CLT), Heads of Service and Service Managers). This included consideration of newly 
identified activities, current activities that should be prioritised within 2020/21 and activity 
deferrals/cancellations (due to risk). 

The revised Internal Audit Plan 2020/21 was presented to Audit and Governance Committee 
on 30th October 2020 and approved. 

This included reflection of the new activities completed by ARA since the start of the 
pandemic. For example, and as reflected within the Annual Report on Internal Audit Activity 
2020/21, ARA has: 

 Provided consultancy support from both our Internal Audit and Counter Fraud teams 
on a range of Covid-19 risk themes including (but not exclusive to) Supplier Relief 
and Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) Supplier Payments;

Page 79



4

 Supported the Council's Covid-19 volunteering effort (such as food packages for 
shielding individuals within the County and the County Covid 19 mass testing pilot) 
with input from a number of ARA team members; 

 Continued to work with Strategic Finance to review/provide assurance regards 
Premiums for Care Providers; 

 Provided Counter Fraud Team support and action in regard to Covid 19 relevant 
irregularities (see report section below ‘Summary of Special Investigations/Counter 
Fraud Activities’); and

 Completed Internal Audit review of the Lost Sales, Fees and Charges Grant (Covid 
19) claim 1 and claim 2.

Plan changes are detailed in Appendix 2 (the Summary Activity Progress Report 2020/21). 

The net effect is that although the work undertaken was different to that originally planned 
we are able to report that we achieved 83% of the overall approved Revised Internal Audit 
Plan 2020/21, against a target of 85%. The actual percentage achieved has been adversely 
affected by Covid-19 and being unable to finalise a number of activities which otherwise 
would have been completed. 

The bar charts below summarise the percentages of planned audits per service area and 
category of activity compared with the percentage of actual audits completed. 

Page 80



5

Example rationale for the variance between 2020/21 planned and actual days per service 
area and category include (but are not exclusive to):

 The in year Plan revision activity (Covid-19 and updated risk assessment) causing 
shift in the activities to be delivered:

o New activities such as Foster Carer Banding and Payments and Covid-19 
support/assurance activities (Supplier Relief consultancy; Premium for Care 
Providers consultancy; and the Lost Sales, Fees and Charges claims);

o Audit deferrals into the 2021/22 Plan such as Learning Disabilities 
Transitions; Transport Infrastructure Cost Reporting; and Fleet Management; 
and

o Audit cancellations such as Registration Services – Income Collection; Use of 
Neglect Toolkit; and Quayside Development Project Overview. 

 Activities brought forward for completion from the 2019/20 Plan such as Data 
Matching Exercise of payments made to Care Providers and Expenses and Benefits.

 Audit activity where actual days were in excess of those originally budgeted (such as 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Services (GFRS) Follow Up actions) or less than 
those originally budgeted due to the findings and outcomes of the audit work. 

Page 81



6

 ICT audit days being charged at the point of agreed draft report only.

 The impact of potential fraud / irregularity referrals (budgeted within Strategic and 
Operational Risks but then charged to the relevant referral category). The outcome of 
this work is detailed within section 7 of this report.

 The two larger Directorate variances are within Community Safety and Childrens’ 
Services. These are due to:

o ARA GFRS activity being allocated to Community Safety. The agreed approach 
regards GFRS Action Follow Up activity (as separately reported to Audit and 
Governance Committee) has caused additional days input requirements from 
ARA within year, to ensure follow up actions were appropriately delivered and 
reported to Committee. This activity is due to conclude within 2021/22.

o The Children’s Services plan days being impacted by the level of approved 
activity cancellations and deferrals (Covid-19 impact) as confirmed within 
Appendix 2. Actual days are also less than planned due to the position on 
schools 2020/21 activities. Due to delays outside of ARA’s control and the need 
to develop a remote schools audit approach, there was a larger than average 
number of carry forward days into the 2021/22 audit plan. Further schools are 
being audited during 2021/22 to utilise the balance of the carry forward days from 
2020/21.  

Page 82



7

(6) Summary of Internal Audit Activity undertaken which 
informed our opinion

The schedule provided at Appendix 1 provides the summary of 2020/21 audits which have 
not previously been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee.

The schedule provided at Appendix 2 contains a list of all of the audit activity undertaken 
during 2020/21, which includes, where relevant, the assurance opinions on the effectiveness 
of risk management arrangements and control processes in place to manage those risks and 
the dates where a summary of the activities outcomes has been presented to the Audit and 
Governance Committee. Explanations of the meaning of these opinions are shown below. 

Assurance 
levels Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment

Substantial Risk Managed
Service area fully aware of the risks 
relating to the area under review and the 
impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other services, finance, 
reputation, legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners, and staff.  All 
key risks are accurately reported and 
monitored in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy.

• System Adequacy – 
Robust framework of 
controls ensures that 
there is a high likelihood 
of objectives being 
achieved

• Control Application – 
Controls are applied 
continuously or with 
minor lapses

Satisfactory Risk Aware
Service area has an awareness of the 
risks relating to the area under review and 
the impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other services, finance, 
reputation, legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners, and staff. 
However some key risks are not being 
accurately reported and monitored in line 
with the Corporate Risk Management 
Strategy.

• System Adequacy – 
Sufficient framework of 
key controls for 
objectives to be achieved 
but, control framework 
could be stronger

• Control Application – 
Controls are applied but 
with some lapses

Limited Risk Naïve 
Due to an absence of accurate and 
regular reporting and monitoring of the 
key risks in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy, the service area 
has not demonstrated an adequate 
awareness of the risks relating to the area 
under review and the impact that these 
may have on service delivery, other 
services, finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, client/customer/partners and 
staff.  

• System Adequacy – Risk 
of objectives not being 
achieved due to the 
absence of key internal 
controls

• Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in 
the application of control

Page 83



8

(6a) Internal Audit Assurance Opinions on Risk and Control

The below pie charts show the summary of the risk and control assurance opinions provided 
within each category of opinion i.e. substantial, satisfactory and limited. 

ARA can report that the Council is showing that 79% of the activities reviewed have received 
a Substantial (26%) or Satisfactory (53%) opinion on control. Whilst 21% of the opinions 
on control are Limited (compared to 28% in 2019/20), this maybe related to transformational 
change, continued focusing of our activity on the key risks of the Council and specific 
requests from Directors, who are asking for areas to be reviewed where issues have arisen 
or where independent assurance is required. 

It is noted that the split assurance control opinion on Client Affairs reported to Committee in 
January 2021 has been reflected in both relevant assurance levels (Limited/Satisfactory) 
within the control assurance pie chart. 

GFRS Action Plan Follow Up activity is separately reported to Audit and Governance 
Committee. Relevant outcomes to date on this area are not included within the below pie 
charts. The fourth GFRS Follow Up Progress Report will be presented to Committee on 30th 
July 2021. 

Risk and Control Opinions 2020/21

Page 84



9

(6b) Limited Control Assurance Opinions

Where audit activity records that a Limited assurance opinion on control has been provided, 
the Audit and Governance Committee may request Senior Management attendance to the 
next meeting of the Committee to provide an update as to their actions taken to address the 
risks and associated recommendations identified by Internal Audit. 

(6c) Audit Activity where a Limited Assurance Opinion has been provided on 
Control

During 2020/21, seven Limited opinions on control were provided. These related to:

Audited Service Area Date reported to Audit and Governance 
Committee

GCC usage of CCTV in compliance with 
legislation

25th March 2021

Expenses and Benefits 25th March 2021

Client Affairs (split opinion on control - 
Limited/Satisfactory)

22nd January 2021

Direct Payments (Childrens) 22nd January 2021

Page 85



10

Audited Service Area Date reported to Audit and Governance 
Committee

Unregulated Placements and Packages of 
Support (Fostering) - Limited Assurance 
Follow Up

30th October 2020

Unregulated Placements and Packages of 
Support (Commissioning)

30th October 2020

Disposal of Assets (vehicles) 30th October 2020

(6d) Satisfactory Control Assurance Opinions

Where audit activity records that a Satisfactory assurance opinion on control has been 
provided where recommendations have been made to reflect some improvements in control, 
the Audit and Governance Committee and CLT can take assurance that improvement 
actions have been agreed with management to address these.

(6e) Internal Audit recommendations made to enhance the control 
environment 

Year Total No. 
of high 
priority 
recs.

% of high 
priority recs. 
accepted by 
management

Total No. 
of medium 
priority 
recs.

% of medium 
priority recs. 
accepted by 
management

Total No. 
of recs. 
made

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

90

117

53

100%

100%

100%

58

83

43

100%

100%

100%

148

200

96

The Audit and Governance Committee and CLT can take assurance that all high priority 
recommendations will remain under review by Internal Audit, by obtaining regular 
management updates until the required action has been fully completed.

The level of audit recommendations within both 2018/19 and 2019/20 were as a result of the 
original GFRS Action Plan Internal Audit activity. Outcomes against the GFRS follow up 
activity on this area are being separately reported to Audit and Governance Committee.  

(6f) Risk Assurance Opinions

There were two audits where a limited assurance opinion was given on risk during 2020/21. 
These related to:

Page 86



11

Audited Service Area Date reported to Audit and Governance 
Committee

GCC usage of CCTV in compliance with 
legislation

25th March 2021

Direct Payments (Childrens) 22nd January 2021

Monitoring the implementation of recommendations is owned by the relevant manager and 
helps to further embed risk management into day to day management, risk monitoring and 
reporting processes. 

In addition, where a limited assurance opinion is provided, the Internal Audit reports are 
shared with the Council’s Senior Risk Management Advisor to prioritise risk management 
support where appropriate.

Where audit activity records that a limited assurance opinion on risk has been provided, the 
Audit and Governance Committee may request Senior Management attendance to the next 
meeting of the Committee to provide an update as to their actions taken to address the risks 
and associated recommendations identified by Internal Audit.

(6g) Limited Assurance Opinions Direction of Travel

Internal Audit undertakes a follow up review of every audit (where relevant) where a limited 
assurance opinion on the control environment has been provided. Audit follow up can also 
be specifically requested by Audit and Governance Committee.

The table below shows the changes in the risk and control opinions where limited assurance 
opinions on control were reported in 2019/20: 

2019/20 2020/21
Risk 
Opinion

Control 
Opinion

Risk 
Opinion

Control 
Opinion

Direction 
of Travel

Alternative Provision Schools - 
Stroud and Cotswolds

Limited Limited Follow up review on hold due to 
impact of Covid-19, meaning an on 
site review was not possible in 
2020/21 or 2021/22 to date. Follow 
up review to be included within the 
2022/23 Internal Audit Plan.

Approval of Payments for 
Agency Staff limited assurance 
follow up

Satisfactory Limited Substantial Substantial

Page 87



12

2019/20 2020/21 Direction 
of TravelRisk 

Opinion
Control 
Opinion

Risk 
Opinion

Control 
Opinion

Direct Awards (Sole Source 
Approvals)

Satisfactory Limited Follow up review included within the 
approved 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan, 
through the wider Strategic 
Procurement activity themes.

Discretionary Payments to 
Foster Carers

Satisfactory Limited Follow up review in progress. To be 
reported to Committee in 2021/22.

IT Disaster Recovery (ITDR) 
Follow Up

Satisfactory Limited Follow up review included within the 
approved 2021/22 Internal Audit Plan.

Safer Recruitment Satisfactory Limited Substantial Satisfactory

Section 17 spend Satisfactory Limited Follow up review in progress. To be 
reported to Committee in 2021/22. 

Unregulated Placements 
(Fostering)

Satisfactory Limited Substantial Limited

Schools 14 audits were completed 
in 2019/20 and resulted 
in the following opinions:

- Risk Assurance – 1 
Substantial; 10 
Satisfactory; and 3 
Limited.

- Control Assurance – 10 
Satisfactory; and 4 
Limited.

Updated position confirmed through 
the Annual Schools Assurance 
Statement 2019/20 report presented 
to Audit and Governance Committee 
in January 2021 by the Head of 
Education Outcomes and 
Interventions. 

It is also noted that no limited 
assurance outcomes have occurred 
on 2020/21 schools activity. See the 
schools summary paragraph within 
Appendix 1. 

Where the original follow up outcome remains as Limited assurance, further audit follow up 
review will be completed. This is the case for Unregulated Placements (Fostering), where a 
second limited assurance follow up review has been included within the approved 2021/22 
Internal Audit Plan.

The above table results provide reasonable assurance that management have taken actions 
to address the Internal Audit recommendations made, reducing the risk exposure. 

Please note that the table does not include the direction of travel for GFRS follow up activity, 
due to the alternate follow up approaches applied to these areas. 

Page 88



13

(6h) Internal Audit’s Review of Risk Management

During 2020/21 and in line with the pie chart on report page 8, 94% of the audited areas 
rated the effectiveness of risk management arrangements as Substantial (42%) or 
Satisfactory (52%) with 6% obtaining a Limited assurance opinion (compared to 10% within 
2019/20).

Internal Audit also undertake, on a rotational basis, specific reviews purely on the 
effectiveness of risk management arrangements, operating across all service areas, looking 
at the Strategic and Operational Performance/Business Plans and associated Risk 
Registers, to ensure that actions recorded to mitigate risks are in place and operating as 
intended.

As at the time of writing this Annual Report, the above position is supported by the draft 
Gloucestershire County Council Annual Governance Statement 2020/21 outcomes. The 
draft assessment identified that Gloucestershire County Council’s risk maturity level 2020/21 
is level 4 out of 5: Risk Managed: established risk management with planned extension 
/development. The Annual Governance Statement 2020/21 will be presented to the 
Committee at its September 2021 meeting and will confirm the Council’s risk maturity at that 
time.

Please see the below table for the five risk maturity level definitions. 

Level 1
Developing
(Risk Naïve)

Level 2
Progressing
(Risk Aware)

Level 3
Operational

(Risk Defined)

Level 4
Embedded & 

Engaged
(Risk Managed)

Level 5
Dynamic & 

Empowering
(Risk Enabled)

R
is

k 
M

at
ur

ity
 L

ev
el

No formal 
approach to risk 
management. 

Consulting and 
planning to 

implement risk 
management.

Early Stages of 
implementation.

Established risk 
management with 
planned extension 

/development.

Fully established 
and effective risk 

culture at all levels.

It is noted that an independent review of the Council’s risk management framework and 
approach is due to be completed in 2021/22. This will assess the council’s position against 
regulatory requirements and best practice, to support the council’s continued direction of 
travel in the area.  

(7) Summary of additional Internal Audit Activity

(7a) Special Investigations/Counter Fraud Activities

Within 2020/21, the Counter Fraud Team (CFT) within Internal Audit received twelve new 
referrals and continued to work on six cases from previous years. 

The service areas of the cases referred to Internal Audit within 2020/21 are categorised as 
follows: Adults (3); Childrens (3); Corporate (1); Community Safety (1); and Economy, 
Environment and Infrastructure (4). 

Page 89



14

Three of the 6 cases brought forward into 2020/21 have been closed within year and 
previously reported to Audit and Governance Committee. Of the 12 cases referred to the 
CFT within 2020/21, seven have now been closed. Five of those seven closed cases have 
previously been reported to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

The first of the two new closed cases not previously reported involved alleged concerns at a 
school within the County. The investigation established that the allegations were not 
accurate in their detail and what was perceived to be an error was not so. However, the CFT 
felt that some of the historic school expenditure did appear on the high side and the 
Education team are undertaking a more detailed look at the school finances in general. The 
second closed case related to the behaviours of a specific contractor employed by the 
Council. The contractor was contacted and the relevant staff were dealt with in accordance 
with the company’s employment policy.

Many of the cases referred to Internal Audit involve intricate detail and Police referral. This 
invariably results in a delay before the investigation can be classed as closed and reported 
to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

The remaining ongoing open cases will be reported to Audit and Governance Committee 
once they have been closed.

The Covid-19 pandemic resulted in a change of working practices for most of the Council’s 
staff, specifically a significant increase in the number of officers working from home. This 
changed the risk profile for the Council and required some of the control measures in place 
to be reviewed and amended. During the pandemic fraudsters changed their behaviours and 
methods to exploit this situation. The CFT monitored issues raised locally and nationally to 
ensure that any learning identified from these issues were disseminated across the Council.

15th to 21st November 2020 was International Fraud Awareness Week. As in previous years, 
Gloucestershire County Council signed up as a supporter of this week. During the week, 
information on some of the more topical scams and areas of increased fraud risk due to the 
Covid-19 pandemic were shared with the Council’s employees using screen pop-ups, 
Staffnet and social media platforms.

In addition, the CFT provided advice, support and guidance on a number of areas. The 
promotion of counter fraud helps to ensure compliance with the Council’s policies and 
guidance and mitigate the risk of frauds within the Council. 

Following the release of the Fighting Fraud Locally, A Strategy for the 2020’s, the Council’s 
Counter-Fraud and Corruption Policy, Statement and Strategy 2020-2023 was refreshed. 

National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

Internal Audit continues to support the NFI which is a biennial data matching exercise 
administered by the Cabinet Office. The data collections for the 2021/22 exercise were 
uploaded to the Cabinet Office between October and December 2020. The data matching 
reports resulting from the data upload were released from mid January 2021. The timetable 
can be found using the following link GOV.UK.

Page 90

https://www.nfi.gov.uk/r/34AA62E5BC1349DFA38F24BE5DCADC53


15

Examples of data sets include insurance, payroll, creditors, pensions, blue badges and 
concessionary bus passes. Not all matches are investigated but where possible all 
recommended matches are reviewed by either the appropriate service area or in some 
cases Internal Audit. Any irregularities identified will be reviewed by the CFT. 

In respect of the 2019/20 exercise £19,115.93 was identified for recovery action 
(Pensions/Pension Gratuity to DWP Deceased matches). 

Monitoring and Review

The Audit and Governance Committee and CLT can take assurance that the Statutory 
Officers (the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer) are regularly 
briefed on all fraud and irregularity activity. The Statutory Officers challenge and monitor 
both management actions and progress to date. The group also approve all police referrals. 

ARA underwent an External Quality Assessment in May 2020. In respect of the counter 
fraud provision the assessor commented the team includes ‘a professional, experienced and 
respected Counter Fraud service’.

(7b) Local Government Transparency Code 2015

Introduction

This Code is issued to meet the Government’s desire to place more power into citizens’ 
hands to increase democratic accountability and make it easier for local people to contribute 
to the local decision making process and help shape public services.  

Transparency is the foundation of local accountability and the key that gives people the tools 
and information they need to enable them to play a bigger role in society.  The availability of 
data can also open new markets for local business, the voluntary and community sectors 
and social enterprises to run services or manage public assets.

Detecting and preventing fraud (taken from Annex B of the Code)

Tackling fraud is an integral part of ensuring that tax payers’ money is used to protect 
resources for frontline services.  The cost of fraud to local government was estimated within 
the Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally Strategy in 2013 as £2.1 billion a year although it 
was thought to be underestimated at the time. In 2017 the Annual Fraud Indicator produced 
by Crowe Clark Whitehill, in collaboration with Experian and the Centre for Counter Fraud 
studies at the University of Portsmouth, estimated that the true figure may be as high as 
£7.8bn from a total of £40.4bn for the public sector as a whole. 

Every pound lost to fraud is a pound not spent on supporting local communities and is 
money that can be better used to support the delivery of front line services and make 
savings for local tax payers. 

A culture of transparency should strengthen counter-fraud controls.  The Code makes it clear 
that fraud can thrive where decisions are not open to scrutiny and details of spending, 
contracts and service provision are hidden from view.  Greater transparency, and the 
provisions in this Code, can help combat fraud. 

Page 91



16

Local authorities must annually publish the following information about their counter fraud 
work 1 (as detailed for Gloucestershire County Council (GCC)) in the table below:

Council wide fraud and irregularity activity relating to 2020/21 including Internal Audit 
activity 

Question GCC Response

Number of occasions they use powers under the Prevention of 
Social Housing Fraud (Power to Require Information) 
(England) Regulations 2014, or similar powers.

0

Total number (absolute and full time equivalent) of employees 
undertaking investigations and prosecutions of fraud.

The Council has access 
to 2.6 FTE fraud 
investigators.

Total number (absolute and full time equivalent) of 
professionally accredited counter fraud specialists.

The Council has access 
to 2.6 FTE fraud 
investigators.

Total amount spent by the authority on the investigation and 
prosecution of fraud.

Approximately £66,948 
in staff time from ARA. 

Total number of fraud cases investigated (inc. b/fwd. cases). 21

In addition to the above, it is recommended that local authorities should go further than the 
minimum publication requirements set out above (as detailed for GCC) in the table below.

Question GCC Response

Total number of cases of irregularity investigated (both Internal 
Audit and other service areas inc. b/fwd. cases).

8

Total number of occasions on which a) fraud and b) irregularity 
was identified (exc. b/f cases from previous years). 

a) 1

b) 24

Total monetary value of a) the fraud and b) the irregularity that 
was detected.

a) £200 

b) £80,254
(Excluding ongoing cases where 
value is currently not known)

1 (The definition of fraud is as set out by the Audit Commission in Protecting the Public Purse). 

Page 92



17

Question GCC Response

Total monetary value of a) the fraud and b) the irregularity that 
was recovered.  

a) £0 

b) £40,295

(includes monies related to 
previous years which were repaid 
in 2020/21 and excludes on going 
cases and recoveries not repaid 
within 2020/21)

The Council also identified 43 cases where assets were given away/gifted/transferred to 
family members by service users (or their representative) requiring care.  This is referred to 
as deprivation of assets. The value of the assets ‘given away’ in 2020/21 confirmed by the 
Financial Assessment and Benefits service was £998,473.13. However, this is not 
necessarily the value of the potential loss to the Council as it would depend on the length of 
time that the care service would be required. In each case the value of the asset has been 
taken into account when calculating the service user’s contribution towards the cost of their 
care.

Full details about the Local Government Transparency Code and its requirements can be 
found at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-
2015

(8) Internal Audit Effectiveness 

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require ‘a relevant authority must undertake an 
effective Internal Audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and 
governance processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards or 
guidance’. This process is also part of the wider annual review of the effectiveness of the 
internal control system, and significantly contributes towards the overall controls assurance 
gathering processes and ultimately the publication of the Annual Governance Statement.

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 also state that Internal Audit should conform to 
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).

Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) 2017

These Standards have four key objectives:

 Define the nature of Internal Auditing within the UK public sector; 

 Set basic principles for carrying out Internal Audit in the UK public sector; 

 Establish a framework for providing Internal Audit services, which add value to the 
Council, leading to improved processes and operations; and

 Establish the basis for the evaluation of Internal Audit performance and to drive 
improvement planning. 

Page 93

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-government-transparency-code-2015


18

The Internal Audit Strategies, Charter, Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme, 
Code of Ethics and the Audit and Governance Committee’s Terms of Reference reflect the 
requirements of the Standards.

External Assessment of the effectiveness of Internal Audit

There is a requirement under the PSIAS i.e. Standard Ref ‘1312 External Assessments’ for 
Internal Audit to have an external quality assessment which must be conducted at least once 
every five years by a qualified, independent assessor or assessment team from outside the 
organisation. The Standards require the Head of ARA to discuss the following with the Audit 
and Governance Committee:

 The form of external assessment; and 

 The qualifications and independence of the external assessor or assessment team, 
including any potential conflict of interest.

The latest review was undertaken during May 2020 by the Chartered Institute of Internal 
Auditors (CIIA).  The EQA assessment concluded that:

“We are pleased to report that the ARA team meet each of the 64 Standards, as well as the 
Definition, Core Principles and the Code of Ethics, which form the mandatory elements of 
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the Institute of Internal Auditors’ 
International Professional Practices Framework (IPPF), the globally recognised standard for 
quality in Internal Auditing. There are no formal recommendations made for improvement.

To summarise, we are delighted to report that the ARA team are excellent in their: 

 Reflection of the Standards; 

 Focus on performance, risk and adding value; and 

 Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme. 

We believe that the ARA team are good in their: 

 Operating with efficiency.

Finally, like many Internal Audit functions at the present time, we consider that the ARA team 
is satisfactory in: 

 Coordinating and maximising assurance. 

The need to consider how best to rely on and co-ordinate with other assurance providers 
remains an emerging area of Internal Audit, and assurance practice. It depends as much on 
the other assurance providers as it does on Internal Audit. 

In conclusion, this is an excellent result and the CIA and the ARA team as a whole should be 
justifiably proud of their service, its approach, working practices and how key stakeholders’ 
value it. 

Page 94



19

It is therefore appropriate for the function to say in reports and other literature ‘Conducted in 
Conformance with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 
Auditing’.”

The full EQA report and outcome were virtually shared with Audit and Governance 
Committee in July 2020. 

Internal Assessment - Customer Satisfaction Survey results 2020/21

At the close of each audit review, a customer satisfaction questionnaire is sent out to the 
Executive Director, Director, Head of Service or nominated officer. The aim of the 
questionnaire is to gauge satisfaction of the service provided such as timeliness, quality and 
professionalism. Customers are asked to rate the service between excellent, good, fair and 
poor. 

A target of 80% is set where overall, audit was assessed as good or better. The latest results 
as summarised below, shows that the target has been exceeded, with the score of 87.5% 
reflecting Internal Audit as being a positive support to their service. 

In addition, the following positive comments have been received from our customers: 

 Thanks again for your help this morning. The meeting was, as always, of great value.  

 I think it is always incredibly helpful to have an external evaluation.

Page 95



20

 The audit was requested as a result of covid-19 additional reporting to enable GCC 
to claim loss of income for Sales, Fees and Charges.  The audit will be provided to 
central government if requested.  The timeliness of completion of the audit is 
appreciated.

 The areas that the Audit was specifically targeting were explained fully prior to the 
Audit. The auditor was clear and in his instructions and explanations. The auditor 
was very clear in his debrief and listened to outline how to make improvements which 
he agreed would be acceptable.

 The ongoing dialogue about the draft report and recommendations. The final report 
was well received by the council's Information Board.

 It’s really helpful seeing the results of this exercise and how Gloucestershire 
compares with the other schools forums.

 The audit raised curiosity and generated an internal evaluation of our processes as 
well as the external audit itself.  This was useful to senior leaders and governors.

 The collaborative nature of the audit was very positive, with conversations about 
findings and the opportunity to explain any potential questions the auditor may have 
had.

 I appreciated being able to contact the auditor easily by phone or email to ask 
questions or advice. The audit raised a couple of things that need attention and we 
have now put actions in place to address these.

 The auditor was very clear throughout the process.  He allowed us to discuss 
elements of the audit as we went along and was very fair.

 I really appreciated that consideration was given to the school current circumstances 
(turn over of staff in key roles and coronavirus) and that this was taken into account 
when looking at historical versus current practice.

Lessons Learned from customer feedback and actions taken by Internal Audit

The Head of ARA reviews all client feedback survey forms and where a less than good 
rating has been provided by the client, a discussion is held with both the relevant auditor and 
the manager to establish the rationale behind the rating and where appropriate actions are 
taken to address any issues highlighted. 

ARA greatly appreciates the opportunity to drive improvement for our services. One area 
was raised within a 2020/21 received survey regards completion of an audit debrief/draft 
report review, prior to the finalised draft audit report being shared with the wider report 
distribution group.

This theme will be a primary focus within 2021/22, to ensure a ‘no surprises approach’ and 
ensure that expectations are managed. 

Page 96



21

ARA Learning and Development

Development of leaders, managers and staff within ARA is a key priority, to ensure that the 
service has the qualities, behaviours and skills to deliver efficient and effective services to 
our partners and external clients. 

The Head of ARA is a member of the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors Heads of 
Internal Audit Forum, Local Authorities Chief Auditor’s Network, Midland Counties Chief 
Internal Auditor Network and the Midland District Chief Internal Auditors Group. ARA staff 
participate in Continuing Professional Development (CPD) and / or are members of other 
relevant internal audit, counter fraud and risk related forums / groups, all of which provides 
the opportunities to discuss and understand the latest developments affecting the internal 
audit, counter fraud and risk management profession, contribute to strategy, exchange ideas 
and work collaboratively on problems and issues.

ARA is committed to offering a structured trainee auditor programme, to attract people to the 
Council and to the profession. ARA currently supports four trainee auditor posts within the 
team, two of which were recruited within 2021 to support ongoing service resilience. The 
Trainee Auditor post type supports completion of the IIA Certified Internal Auditor 
qualification and enables progression to a Senior Auditor role over a two to three year 
period, through a ‘grow our own’ approach. 

ARA Partner Dividend

During 2020/21 ARA has been able to provide a dividend to the Council of £31,155. This is 
due to efficiencies achieved by the shared service during this period.

Page 97



22

Appendix 1: Completed 2020/21 Internal Audit Activity during the 
period April 2021 to June 2021

Summary of Substantial Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Economy, Environment and Infrastructure

Audit Activity: Oversight of Highways Term Maintenance Contract

Background
The Highways Act 1980 deals with the management and operation of the road network in 
England and Wales. Gloucestershire County Council (GCC), as the Highways Authority for 
Gloucestershire, has a statutory duty to keep the road network safe in accordance with Part 
IV of the Highways Act 1980: Maintenance of Highways.

Pursuant to the above, in September 2018 GCC awarded a contract for highways term 
maintenance to Ringway Infrastructure Services Ltd (circa £245m to £430m) to be effective 
from 1st April 2019. The initial term of the contract is for seven years with two further options 
to extend to a total of 11 years.  The scope of the highways service includes areas such as 
emergency response, winter maintenance activities, grass cutting, repair of potholes, 
highway safety inspections, bridge maintenance and safety and infrastructure improvement 
works.

Scope
The objectives of the audit were to review the effectiveness of the following:

 The roles, responsibilities and procedures that have been put in place for the overall 
oversight of the Highways Term Maintenance Contract (TMC) to ensure that the work 
undertaken will be completed on time, on budget and to the required standard; and

 The specific oversight controls and reporting arrangements that are operating within 
the two selected high risk areas of the TMC, namely the Safety Inspection Policy 
(SIP) and the Adverse Weather Plan (AWP).

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Substantial

Key Findings
Roles and responsibilities for overall oversight, as well as for oversight of the SIP and the 
AWP, have been identified within the GCC Highways team. This is both in terms of high level 
senior management and at an operational level. In addition to the operational responsibilities 
expected of each post holder, delegated budget holder responsibilities have been allocated 
and this also required a level of oversight to be applied which was evidenced in the approval 
of expenditure for payment.

Page 98



23

Bespoke oversight procedures for the TMC have not been developed, but the expectations 
are laid out within the contractual terms and conditions as well as other key documents 
related to the contract.  This includes strategic and operational governance boards and 
associated reporting requirements which were found to be operating effectively.

GCC’s oversight arrangements were also reviewed in respect of the invoice payment 
process and the Key Performance Indicator (KPI) monitoring and reporting process. Both 
were found to be operating effectively. For the KPIs, the calculations can be adjusted when 
severe interruptions are experienced and there is a sound process in place to manage the 
impact of these in terms of how the KPIs are reported. The invoice payment and KPI 
reporting processes were disrupted due to staff absence during the course of the pandemic 
and an audit recommendation was made for management to ensure that business continuity 
arrangements are in place for all business critical processes in relation to the TMC.

Discussions with GCC and Ringway staff have confirmed that positive relationships are in 
place and encouraged through collaborative working.  Ringway’s views were obtained in 
terms of the effectiveness of the oversight arrangements for the SIP and the AWP and these 
concurred with the positive audit findings from a review of the GCC processes.

Conclusion
It is clear that the planned oversight arrangements for the Highways TMC with Ringway have 
been disrupted due to the pandemic and are still ongoing.  However, there is evidence that 
temporary and alternative measures have been put in place at a strategic and operational 
level (within the SIP and the AWP) to keep the road network safe and to protect GCC’s 
liability.

Management Actions
Management responded positively to the one recommendation that was made in relation to 
business continuity arrangements.

Service Area: Corporate Resources

Audit Activity: Officer Decision Making (where delegated from Cabinet)

Background
In Gloucestershire, executive decisions can be taken by the Cabinet collectively, by Cabinet 
Members individually and by Officers of the Council to whom powers have been delegated. 
Decisions are to be taken in accordance with the Cabinet Procedure Rules, Access to 
Information Procedure Rules and the Policy Framework and Budget Procedure Rules. 

Officers acting under delegated powers are required to identify at an early stage any issues 
that Members should be consulted on, particularly where they are likely to be sensitive or 
contentious. This is likely to include the Cabinet Member and may include Shadows. 

Page 99



24

When decision-making powers have been delegated to a particular officer following a 
Cabinet decision, the relevant officer is required to ensure that such consultation takes 
place. They should also consult with other relevant officers, including the council’s Statutory 
Officers, where appropriate. 

Scope
This audit reviewed the officer decision making process, where the decision has been 
delegated from Cabinet. Specifically looking to ensure that:

 The policy / guidance offered by Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is in line with 
legislative requirements and the Council’s Constitution; 

 The process in recording and enacting a delegation from Cabinet is in line with the 
GCC policy; and

 The process for completing a delegation from Cabinet is being correctly applied 
across GCC.

The scope of this audit review included all recorded delegations from Cabinet from October 
2018 to October 2020 which formed the basis of the audit testing. Consequently this audit 
does not provide assurance that all decisions that should be passed to Cabinet are given to 
and subsequently made by Cabinet.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Substantial

Key Findings
A guidance note is available for officers (Executive Decisions Taken by Officers – 2015) that 
sets out the procedural framework for documenting and publishing executive decisions taken 
by officers under delegated powers, addressing the requirements of The openness of Local 
Government Bodies Regulations 2014 and The Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements)(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Sections 12 and 13 of the 2012 Regulations set out the requirements for the recording of 
executive decisions and related papers. Internal Audit reviewed the GCC guidance note and 
report template against these sections of the legislation and confirmed that all required 
elements have been included within the guidance and would be satisfied once the report 
template is completed by officers. Appropriate processes are in place to ensure that the 
required documentation is available for public inspection via the GCC website once a 
decision has been made. 

Sample Testing

Internal Audit selected a sample of 14 decisions out of 104 (13.5%), including three 
decisions made by individual Cabinet Members, across GCC service areas from October 
2018 to October 2020 to ensure that:

Page 100



25

 There was suitable evidence available that a Cabinet/individual Cabinet Member 
delegation has been made to an officer to make a decision; and

 A decision report has been fully completed and presented at Cabinet where required 
that included the date of decision, alternative options that had been considered, 
confirming any conflicts of interest and the decision that had been made by the 
officer with delegated power.

It was found that the GCC process had been followed in all 14 decisions sampled and all 
information on the decisions was publically available via the glostext website. However, of 
the 14 decisions tested, it was found that:

 Five decisions were instructions to officers to enact a decision made by Cabinet;

 Three were decisions that were within the scope of prior decisions that required 
Cabinet approval decisions; and

 The remaining six were decisions that were delegated to an officer.

Therefore, whilst the current process satisfies the requirements of the legislation, there is 
potential to streamline the process and improve the efficiency within the process. 

The Head of Legal and the Director: Policy, Performance and Governance confirmed that to 
aid transparency in decision making, common wording has been established for various 
types of decisions for use within the Cabinet reports, therefore helping to establish a 
consistent approach. 

Internal Audit has made two recommendations for:

 Management to establish the requirements of officers for different types of decisions 
that can be made at Cabinet and the impact of these on the process in line with 
legislation; and

 Cabinet Members to be offered training as part of their induction process on 
delegating decisions.

To ensure that the process is followed the Corporate Governance Manager maintains a 
decision log to track reports and delegations by Cabinet. Internal Audit confirmed that this 
provides oversight on the Cabinet delegations that have been made to officers and if 
implementation decisions reports are required / have been reported back to Cabinet.

Conclusion
The decision making process, in relation to delegations from Cabinet, is in line with 
legislative requirements and audit sample testing provided assurance that the process is 
being enacted as intended across GCC. Internal Audit has provided two recommendations 
for management to streamline the existing process and reduce the input into the process 
where appropriate.

Page 101



26

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to two recommendations made and will seek to 
implement both actions required by August 2021.

Page 102



27

Summary of Satisfactory Assurance Opinions on Control

Service Area: Children’s Services (Education)

Audit Activity: Schools

Background
The Council’s Chief Financial Officer (S151 Officer) is required to submit an annual return to 
the Department for Education (DfE) confirming that there is a system of audit in place for 
Local Authority (LA) maintained schools which gives adequate assurance over their 
standards of financial management and the regularity and propriety of their spending.  
Internal Audit provides independent assurance as to the effectiveness of these financial 
management arrangements within the schools audited.

ARA undertook a benchmarking exercise with other local authorities in July 2018 which 
identified that the average number of audit plan days allocated to schools by the benchmark 
group was 7%.  Since then ARA has consistently allocated 7% of the audit plan days to pure 
schools and this supports the S151 Officer in providing the relevant formal assurances to the 
DfE as required.  Despite the Coronavirus pandemic, the same level of audit days was 
applied to the 2020/21 audit plan.  However, due to delays outside of ARA’s control and the 
need to develop a remote audit approach, there was a larger than average number of carry 
forward days into the 2021/22 audit plan.

Scope
Internal Audit’s activity within schools is prioritised based on risk and as such 12 schools (10 
Primary, one Secondary and one Special) were audited on a themed basis during 2020/21 
where the three themes selected were Governance and Budgetary Control, Purchasing and 
Staffing and Payroll.  Further schools are being audited during 2021/22 to utilise the balance 
of the carry forward days from 2020/21.  The Key Findings section reflects the common 
findings and assurance outcomes from the 12 finalised school audit reports only.

Risk Assurance – 3 Substantial, 9 Satisfactory

Control Assurance – 3 Substantial, 9 Satisfactory

Key Findings
The key findings that required improvement from the finalised themed audits related to:

 Governance and Budgetary Control (five schools):  three-year budget plans; approval 
of Governors Budget Plan; Finance Policy review; provision of financial information to 
the Governing Body;  recording of minutes; Finance Committee Terms of Reference;  
Governor approval of purchasing decisions.

 Purchasing (three schools):  use of order forms; obtaining quotations; disaggregation 
of purchases; reconciliation of invoices paid.

Page 103



28

 Staffing and Payroll (four schools):  completion and authorisation of staff claims; 
recruitment checks; driver checks; archiving of records.

Within 2020/21 Internal Audit continued to work with the following service areas in the 
Council to ensure a joined-up approach when delivering Internal Audit services to schools:

 Governor Services – for the development and application of an annual assurance 
statement on the implementation of recommendations made;

 Area Finance Officers – to provide internal control advice as required including 
changes implemented as a result of the pandemic;

 Director of Children’s Services and Director of Partnerships and Strategy – to 
develop a remote schools audit approach, to develop a schools’ assurance 
framework and to provide regular updates in relation to progress with the 2020/21 
schools audit plan;

 Education Data Hub – to maintain and build on the annual schools risk assessment 
process; 

 Education Senior Management Team and Outcomes and Intervention team – to 
develop a remote schools audit approach and to obtain support and advice for 
schools causing concern; 

 Counter Fraud – to make referrals for suspected fraud and irregularity; and

 GCCPlus Traded Services – to develop a traded Internal Audit service offer for 
Academies and progress a pilot Academies internal audit.

Conclusion

As the common findings from the 2020/21 school internal audits could apply to other 
schools, the points will be shared with all LA maintained schools via Schoolsnet 
(Gloucestershire County Council’s schools intranet) and the Heads Up and What’s Up Gov 
newsletters once all carry forward schools audits have been completed during 2021/22.

Management Actions
Individual reports were issued to each school for which satisfactory management responses 
were obtained.  No recommendations were made for three of the schools audits.

On an annual basis, the Governing Bodies whose schools were audited are required to 
submit a return to Governor Services confirming the progress that has been made with audit 
recommendation implementation. This process was applied for the first time during 2020/21 
and related to the 2019/20 audit recommendations.  A report was presented to the January 
2021 Audit and Governance Committee that provided assurance that processes were in 
place to manage the Internal Audit identified schools’ risks and confirmed update on audit 
recommendation implementation.  The next annual assurance report for the 2020/21 audit 
recommendations will be presented to the January 2022 Audit and Governance Committee.

Page 104



29

Service Area: Corporate Resources

Audit Activity: Safer Recruitment – Limited Assurance Follow-Up

Background
Safer recruitment is the safeguarding and protection of children, young people and 
vulnerable adults during the recruitment and selection process.  The purpose of safer 
recruitment is to help deter, reject or identify potential staff that might abuse them, or are 
otherwise unsuitable to work with them, by carrying out all necessary pre-employment 
checks.

Local and statutory guidance on safer recruitment applies to adults who have contact or 
work with children, young people and vulnerable adults, whether in a paid or voluntary 
capacity, who are likely to be seen as a safe and trustworthy adult.  It applies to permanent, 
temporary and agency staff and to those recruited from overseas.

During 2019/20 Internal Audit undertook a review which sought to provide assurance that the 
safer recruitment procedures were being followed and relevant documentation retained at 
each step of the process. The 2019/20 audit outcomes confirmed limited assurance on the 
control environment.

Scope
This audit followed up the three high priority recommendations which were made in the 
original audit, to provide assurance that the actions agreed with management have now 
been implemented and are effective.

Risk Assurance – Substantial

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
The 2019/20 audit recommendations covered at least one person on the interview panel for 
posts in the Children’s Cluster must be accredited in safer recruitment training, ensuring that 
all required documentation had been received and was saved on file, and a second line of 
defence review of completed recruitment files to ensure documentation completeness. 

The audit follow up review confirmed the following position against each of the raised 
recommendations:

 Individuals who will need to be trained in safer recruitment have been identified and 
some have already received training.  Internal Audit has confirmed that at least one 
of them always attends the recruitment panel for new social worker recruitment.  All 
remaining staff who will require the training have now been identified.  Guidance 
specific for social workers has been produced and this is currently being reviewed 
before the training is offered to all relevant staff.

Page 105



30

 Recruitment staff have received training on the documentation required in respect of 
recruitment.  Audit testing of a sample of new recruits’ files confirmed that all the 
expected documentation was present on the files.

 An audit checklist has been produced and audit checks by HR and recruitment staff 
are now carried out on a monthly basis on all completed files that are classed as 
safer recruitment.

Conclusion
The Internal Audit follow-up review and testing confirmed that positive progress has been 
made and two of the original recommendations have been fully implemented, with the third 
partially implemented.  No new recommendations were made.

All recommendations will be regarded as complete once a training programme has been 
agreed for the social workers and other relevant staff within Children’s Services have 
completed the safer recruitment training.

Management Actions
No further recommendations were made.

Service Area: GFRS (Community Safety)

Audit Activity: Procurement and Stores Stock Control

Background
The Council's Contract Standing Orders have a procurement framework in place to ensure 
that a systematic approach is adopted for purchasing needs identified. GFRS follow the 
County's procurement framework and process in order to resource their capital and revenue 
expenditure requirements.

Scope
Internal Audit reviewed the Procurement Management processes for expenditure such as 
uniforms, personal protective equipment and other standard low financial value items. 
Enquiries were made into the key stock management controls in place.

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory 

Control Assurance- Satisfactory

Key Findings
 Recent training has been provided by Strategic Procurement staff to appropriate 

GFRS officers during the period July 2020 to January 2021. In addition, a procedure 
is in place to provide procurement refresher training in July 2021.

Page 106



31

 Discussions were held with staff in relation to the key controls in place for 
consumable stock issued to fire stations. The findings confirmed that the re-order 
process is correctly evaluated by the stock administrator, with the objective of 
avoiding the risk of holding excess; stocks are frequently checked and compared to 
the Tranman stock system but this is completed by one person which increases the 
inherent risk of fraud and error; minimum stock levels per item are correctly in place; 
and IT system parameters are in place for maximum quantities, to avoid the risk of 
obsolescence. 

 One of the current projects in progress is to prepare a business case for refreshing 
the current workwear. The business case highlights that a procurement framework 
for uniform is available and in place until 12th June 2021; other procurement 
frameworks are available; and a consultation process with all staff on their views 
about the specification for uniforms needs to take place before finalisation of the 
business case and authorisation to procure. 

 Discussions with staff in relation to current processes highlighted that in many cases 
the purchase requests from within GFRS are received at short notice which 
potentially leads to delays in securing delivery of goods and services.

 A forward looking planning approach to procurement of stores items would offer 
qualitative benefits such as added value synchronisation between need and receipt 
of goods and services. An audit recommendation was made to introduce a forward 
procurement planning cycle document by month/year which takes into account the 
lead time from project identification and approval, procurement process and receipt 
of goods and services.

 Audit testing was completed choosing a sample of five 2020/21 procurements in the 
range of £5k to £56k. The sample results of procurements confirmed full compliance 
in using existing FRS procurement frameworks and GCC processes. 

Conclusion
The review of the procurement processes and stock controls confirmed that:

 There is an embedded approach which is compliant with the GCC Contract Standing 
Orders for all procurement types; and

 Stores use suitable procedures for managing consumables.

One recommendation was made for the future approach to procurement, with the objective 
of adding value to the existing control environment.

Management Actions
Management have responded positively to the one recommendation made and will seek to 
implement the action required by August 2021.

Page 107



32

Service Area: Pensions

Audit Activity: Investments - Portfolio Transition

Background
In 2015, the Government announced measures to reform the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) in an effort to reduce investment costs across the sector and ultimately 
deliver savings for local taxpayers. Brunel Pension Partnership Ltd (BPP) is a Local 
Government Pensions scheme pool and was formed on 14th October 2016. The 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund, through the Pension Committee, retains the responsibility for 
setting the detailed Strategic Asset Allocation for the Fund and allocating investment assets 
to the portfolios provided by Brunel. 

Since 2016, seven funds have been transitioned from the Council to Brunel. 

As at 31st March 2020, £1,285m of Gloucestershire investments were under the 
management of the BPP and this equates to 57.3% of the total assets of the Fund. 

Scope
The internal audit reviewed LGPS portfolio transitions to BPP to ensure that transitions are 
appropriately approved prior to being actioned at an appropriate authorisation level and are 
in line with LGPS agreed Strategy Statements, policies and procedures.  

Risk Assurance – Satisfactory

Control Assurance – Satisfactory

Key Findings
 Since July 2018, there have been a total of seven transitions made from the Council 

to Brunel. Internal Audit viewed a signed Brunel Allocation Instruction Form and letter 
or form notifying the legacy manager of the withdrawal for six of the transitions. 
These were all signed by the correct member of Finance at the appropriate 
authorisation level. One transition differed as the holdings held in the account were 
not sold but only moved to a Brunel account and the full transition process was not 
required. 

 GCC holding account reports were viewed for all transitions showing the fund prior to 
the transition and the holding report showing the account post transition. Internal 
Audit then viewed Brunel holding reports showing receipt of the fund.

 The transactions are entered onto SAP by journal and require authorisation before 
the transition is made.

 Prior to November 2019, the Finance Manager authorised journals between £50k 
and £1m and the Head of Pensions authorised in excess of £1m. The Finance 
Manager position became, and remained, vacant in November 2019. 

Page 108



33

 Internal Audit has been advised that it was agreed in a conference call with the 
Finance Director and the Head of Pensions that the Pension Fund Accountant would 
authorise at this level to avoid the new Head of Pensions being inundated with 
journals. Internal Audit viewed an email from April 2020 between the Pension Fund 
Accountant and the Head of Pensions detailing the authorisation limits on journals 
and invoices. The Pension Fund Accountant confirmed that aside from the 
conference call and the April 2020 email, these authorisation limits are not formally 
documented elsewhere.

 Prior to March 2020 a paper file was held in the office containing the journals and any 
relevant evidence. A member of the team would ensure that the appropriate person 
authorised the journal and signed against the journal number on a master list kept at 
the front of the file. Since March 2020 the team have moved to remote working and 
the journals are now held electronically and a master list of journals is held on a 
spreadsheet. A member of the team emails the appropriate authoriser with a list of 
the journals that they need to authorise, they then add their name to the master list 
and reply via email informing that they have authorised the journal.

 Internal Audit viewed evidence for all seven transitions and can confirm that all were 
appropriately recorded and authorised by the Head of Pensions.

Conclusion
This audit review found that appropriate procedures and levels of control are in place for the 
transition of LGPS portfolio funds to the BPP. There is a defined process in place to ensure 
that communication between the Council and Brunel is clear and concise and all appropriate 
paperwork is completed. Since the team have moved to operating remotely, positive efforts 
have been made to ensure a clear audit trail remains in place.

Internal Audit has reviewed the minutes of the Pension Committee meetings and has found 
no evidence of the Committee approving the different authorising limits. Due to the high 
value of the transitions being made and to ensure complete transparency, a 
recommendation has been made to return to the journal authorisations set in the Council’s 
accounting instructions.

Management Actions
Management responded positively to the raised recommendation and have subsequently 
completed the action. 

Page 109



34

Summary of Consulting Activity and/or support provided where no opinions 
are provided

Service Area: Council Wide

Audit Activity: Supplier Relief (Covid-19) 

Background
Central government confirmed financial support for businesses during coronavirus (Covid-
19) and as part of this (as per www.gov.uk), issued Procurement Policy Note (PPN) 2/20. 
PPN 2/20 sets out information for public bodies on payment of suppliers to ensure service 
continuity both during and after Covid-19.

Scope
ARA received a request from the Director of Finance in April 2020 to provide support to the 
Council in its supplier relief (Covid-19) efforts in line with Procurement Policy Note (PPN) 
2/20. 

The activity was confirmed as support on the Supplier Resilience Working Group, with the 
ability for ARA input to adapt depending on the specific support needs of the Council (as 
agreed by the Director of Finance, the Head of Commercial Services  and the then Head of 
Audit Risk Assurance). 

Key Findings
Support/work delivery provided on this area by ARA (Internal Audit and Counter Fraud 
Team) within 2020/21 included:

 Initial controls advice to the Supplier Resilience Working Group on the forms, 
process and checks that should be undertaken to ensure that:

o The GCC policy is in line with the requirements of PPN 2/20.

o The potential for fraud is understood and the requirement to support suppliers is 
balanced with the controls necessary to mitigate increased risk of fraud and the 
specific types of fraud e.g. bank mandate fraud that is likely to occur.

o Appropriate controls are applied including comprehensive recording of supplier 
relief and the existence of any relevant recovery plans.

 Ongoing controls advice to the Supplier Resilience Working Group throughout the 
period of ARA involvement. 

This included Local Authority Chief Internal Auditors Network (LACAN) point of 
practice requests and benchmarking regards Covid-19 supplier relief processes and 
controls.  

Page 110

http://www.gov.uk/


35

 Process and controls advice was provided to the Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) 
specifically relevant to ITU supplier relief payments.

 Provision of regular updates to lead officers (including the Head of Audit Risk 
Assurance and the Director of Finance) on the work performed by ARA (Internal 
Audit and Counter Fraud Team), and any issues that were identified.

Conclusion 
The Supplier Resilience Working Group continued to meet until July 2020 where its work 
was subsumed into the overall Recovery Group chaired by the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources.

ARA appreciated being able to support this exceptional effort by the Council. 

Service Area: Council Wide (Grant Certification)

Audit Activity: Lost Sales Fees & Charges - Claim 2

Background
Covid-19 has impacted local authorities’ ability to generate revenues in several service areas 
as a result of lockdown, government restrictions, and social distancing measures, related to 
the pandemic. The Ministry of Housing, Communities, and Local Government (MHCLG) has 
introduced a one-off income loss scheme to help compensate for a proportion of the 
irrecoverable and unavoidable losses from sales, fees and charges income generated in the 
delivery of services, in the financial year 2020/21.

There are a total of three claims over the periods of April 2020 to July 2020, August 2020 to 
November 2020, and December 2020 to March 2021. The three claims are also subject to a 
reconciliation process that is to be completed after the submission of the third claim and is 
due to account for losses claimed for in the early part of the scheme that may ultimately be 
recoverable, and others that might ultimately be irrecoverable when recoverability was 
originally considered possible.

Scope
Review the Lost Sales, Fees and Charges claim 2 (August to November 2020) and provide 
assurance that the claim had been submitted in line with the guidance from the MHCLG.

Key Findings
 The records supplied by the Council Strategic Finance Team identified that 

applicable loss income in 2020/21 for claim 2 totalled £1,508,763. Income budgets 
had been correctly accounted within the claim for Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure (EE&I), Corporate Resources and Children and Families.

Page 111



36

 Internal Audit selected and reviewed three service areas within the claim (EE&I, 
Corporate Resources and Children and Families) accounting for £1,109,763 of the 
applicable losses to ensure that the budget had been correctly calculated, all lost 
income was in accordance with the three principals of the scheme, within the relevant 
period under the claim and was as shown within the Council’s financial management 
system (SAP).

 The overall income budget for Central Services (Children and Families) was adjusted 
from the figures used as part of claim 1, with the removal of seven cost centres that 
had not been claimed against and the inclusion and adjustment to three other cost 
centres. There were also two cost centres (music service and troubled families) 
where no claim was made however they were still included within the overall income 
budget. Current forecasts show that claims against these two areas will be made 
within claim 3 between December 2020 and March 2021.

 Due to the changes in respect of the overall income budget for Central Services, the 
5% deduction rate to be charged against the grant changed from £813,258 to 
£792,869. Internal Audit can confirm this was taken into account and deducted 
correctly from the grant. 

 The actual income, and therefore applicable losses, for Central Services were also 
adjusted for this claim to take into account that claim 1 was based on estimates. 
Internal Audit testing identified discrepancies between the actual income based on 
figures within SAP and the claim in respect of the Psychology cost centre with 
income received understated by approximately £94,127. Therefore, an over claim 
has been made in this area. 

 Internal Audit was also unable to confirm the figures claimed for the ICT cost centre. 
The Finance Business Partner responsible for Central Services confirmed that as 
part of the reconciliation to be undertaken after claim 3 of the scheme, the income 
and losses for Central Services will be calculated and any differences between the 
estimates and actuals will be claimed or refunded as required.

 Internal Audit confirmed that the parameters set out in the formula for the scheme 
have been correctly applied to the applicable losses claimed for in this period (August 
2020 to November 2020) with GCC claiming the amount of £1,146,857 after the 
required deductions (in line with the claim criteria and subsequent changes to the 
income budgets) had been made to the original calculated loss of £1,508,763.

Conclusion
The Council submitted a Lost Sales, Fees and Charges claim for £1,146,857 under the 
scheme for August 2020 to November 2020 (claim 2). 

Internal Audit review can confirm that for claim 2 for the reviewed sample of claims, the 
claimed amounts of lost income were in accordance with the government guidance with the 
exception of the Central Services claim. 

Page 112



37

The actual income and losses for Central Services will be calculated in line with scheme 
guidance as part of the claim 3 reconciliation. Any differences between the estimates used 
for this claim and actuals will be claimed or refunded as required.

Management Actions
No Management Actions are required.

Service Area: Children’s Services (Grant Certification)

Audit Activity: Troubled Families Grant - Claim 2

Background
The Families First (payment-by-result) programme was introduced in a renewed drive to help 
improve the outcomes for troubled families. 

The MHCLG has produced a Financial Framework for local authorities. This document 
makes clear that payment- by-result (PBR) is the subject of self-declaration, and therefore 
the purpose of this audit was to provide assurance that the Families First grant conditions 
and criteria had been met by the families to support the PBR grant claim. The programme 
conducts targeted interventions for families experiencing multiple problems, including crime, 
anti-social behaviour, truancy, unemployment, mental health problems and domestic abuse. 
The Council are able to claim grant funding for each family that has been supported and 
where criteria have been met that resolves the problems the family were experiencing.

Within the programme there are six eligibility criteria areas: Education; Crime and anti-social 
behaviour; Worklessness/risk of financial exclusion; Children who need help; Domestic 
Abuse; and Health.

Families need to be experiencing at least two of the above problem areas to enable them to 
be included in the programme.

In order for a PBR claim to be made for a family, that family needs to have either met all the 
relevant outcomes that relate to each problem area they were experiencing, or to have found 
and maintained paid employment. Claims where families have met all the relevant outcomes 
applicable to them are listed as significant and sustained progress (SSP) and claims for the 
maintenance of paid employment are continuous employment.

Scope
To provide assurance that those families forming the PBR claims made to the date of the 
audit met the criteria and that there was sufficient evidence to support the outcomes 
recorded.  This included updated guidance on school attendance while schools were closed 
as well as updated guidance regarding unemployment. 

Page 113



38

Key Findings
As at 25th March 2021 there were 254 PBR claims prepared for submission. The claims 
reviewed related to the period January 2021 to March 2021. 

Internal Audit testing was completed on 20 claims (7.8% of the population) to ensure 
appropriate coverage of the eligibility criteria and the six localities. Internal Audit testing 
confirmed that all sampled PBR claims met the criteria outlined by the Troubled Families 
Grant.

It was also confirmed that there were systems and processes for how families and their 
eligibility markers i.e. education/crime/anti-social behaviour; progress to work; and 
continuous employment (and off out-of-work benefits) were being collated and verified.  

Conclusion
Internal Audit is satisfied that as at 25th March 2021 the process undertaken by the Troubled 
Families Team of assessing, collating and verifying families against the eligibility markers 
and related outcomes was working effectively and in accordance with the requirements of 
the scheme.

Management Actions
No management actions are required.

Service Area: Council Wide

Audit Activity: Data Analytics

Background
Data analytics is the science of examining raw data with the purpose of drawing conclusions 
about that information. It involves applying an algorithmic or mechanical process to derive 
insights. For example running through a number of data sets to look for meaningful 
relationships between each other.

Data analytics enables auditors to better identify financial reporting, fraud and operational 
business risks.

Scope
The Council is seeing an increase in the digitisation of their operations, resulting in a growth 
of data across all business functions.  To align with this objective, Internal Audit developed a 
data analytics strategy that was implemented during 2019/20. Data analytics is proving to be 
a useful internal audit tool as councils become more reliant on electronic data. 

Page 114



39

Data analytics enables a vast amount of data to be analysed when selecting testing 
samples, utilising ICT to discover new capabilities and unlock key information to help identify 
and reduce inefficiencies and control weaknesses, eliminate waste, fraud and abuse, and 
improve productivity.

Key Findings
The following bullet points confirm the main areas of data analytic use by Internal Audit 
within 2020/21:

 Data Analytics was used to analysis and prepare data as part of the National Fraud 
Initiative (NFI), a data matching exercise that helps prevent and detect fraud 
administered by the Cabinet Office.

 Supported internal audit delivery by providing analytical information to assist with 
internal audits such as:

o Payroll – Duplicate bank accounts,

o Expenses and Benefits,

o Payroll Standing Data, and

o Breach Reporting.

Conclusion
During 2020/21 ARA has seen an increased in data analytics to perform 100% checks on 
data sets assisting internal audits, investigations and other reviews to identified anomalies 
and risk areas. 

Further increases in the usage of data analytics by ARA is planned in 2021/22 with the 
introduction of a number of bespoke Data Analytics activities within the Gloucestershire 
County Council Risk Based Internal Audit Plan 2021/22. We are continuing to work with 
external auditor groups to learn further best practice and advanced data analytic techniques. 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions Appendix 2

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Council Wide

Data Matching Exercise of payments made to Care Providers by 

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) and the NHS Gloucestershire Clinical 

Commissioning Group (CCG)

1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/03/2021
Brought Forward. Joint consultancy project with the 

NHS. 

Council Wide Oversight of Arms Length Organisations 2 Cancelled

Cancellation confirmed through the risk based audit 

planning consultation approach 21/22 and the 

Committee approved Risk Based Audit Plan 21/22. 

Council Wide Design of the Assurance Framework 2 Deferred
Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (Covid 19 impact).

Council Wide Cyber Security 1 Deferred
Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (Covid 19 impact).

Council Wide ICT Technology Procurement 1 Deferred
Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (Covid 19 impact).

Council Wide Volunteering - Covid 19 1 Volunteering Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/07/2021

New Activity. Actions referred to within main Annual 

Report content (separate summary paragraph not 

completed). Team input into the Council's Covid 19 

volunteering effort (e.g. food packages for shielding 

individuals within the County and the County's Covid 

19 mass testing pilot). 

Council Wide Supplier Relief 1 Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/07/2021

New Activity. Covid 19 risk area. Consultancy advice 

support. Outcomes to be reported in the 20/21 Annual 

Report. 

Council Wide Integrated Transport Unit (ITU) – supplier payments (Covid 19) 1 Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/07/2021

New Activity. Covid 19 risk area.  Consultancy advice 

support. Outcomes consolidated within Supplier Relief 

summary paragraph. 

Council Wide
Business Continuity Management (BCM) Critical Systems - Corporate 

Oversight
1 Deferred

Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (Covid 19 impact).

Council Wide Lost Sales, Fees and Charges - claim 1 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021 New Activity. Grant review. Covid 19 relevant. 

Council Wide Lost Sales, Fees and Charges - claim 2 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/07/2021 New Activity. Grant review. Covid 19 relevant. 

Council Wide Data Analytics 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/07/2021

Corporate Resources Disposals from the public sector estate (land and buildings) 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 22/01/2021

Corporate Resources Quayside Development Project Overview 2 Cancelled

Audit cancellation due to senior management request 

and update of the relevant risk assessment. Project 

has proceeded at pace, is ahead of time and still on 

budget. 

Corporate Resources Members Expenses and Allowances 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 30/10/2020

Corporate Resources Grievance Process 1 Audit in Progress

Corporate Resources The General Customer Complaints Process 2 Draft Report Issued

Corporate Resources Officer Decision making process (where delegated from Cabinet) 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 30/07/2021

Page 1 of 7

P
age 117



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions Appendix 2

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Corporate Resources Breach Reporting 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 22/01/2021

Corporate Resources GCC usage of CCTV in compliance with legislation 2 Final Report Issued Limited Limited 25/03/2021

Corporate Resources White Slip Payment Process 2 Deferred
Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (Covid 19 impact).

Corporate Resources Treasury Management 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 22/01/2021

Corporate Resources Payroll Payments and Standing Data 2 Audit in Progress

Corporate Resources Sopra Steria Exit Strategy 1 Deferred

Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (Covid 19 impact). ARA and 

ICT senior management in discussion to assess 

whether activity would add value in 21/22 (potential for 

cancellation).

Corporate Resources Safer Recruitment - Limited Assurance Follow Up 1 Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 30/07/2021

Corporate Resources Expenses and Benefits 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 25/03/2021 Brought Forward.  

Corporate Resources IT Disaster Recovery - Limited Assurance Follow Up (second) 1 Deferred
Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (Covid 19 impact).

Corporate Resources
Asset Replacement Programme - Windows 10 upgrade: roll out of new 

devices 
1 Audit in Progress

Outcomes to be reported to Audit and Governance 

Committee in September 21. 

Corporate Resources
Asset Replacement Programme - Windows 10 upgrade: collection and 

disposal of end of life devices 
1 Audit in Progress

Outcomes to be reported to Audit and Governance 

Committee in September 21. 

Corporate Resources JADU eforms 1 Audit in Progress
Outcomes to be reported to Audit and Governance 

Committee in September 21. 

Corporate Resources Approval of Payments for Agency Staff - Limited Assurance Follow Up 1 Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 30/10/2020

Corporate Resources
Database Administration and Security (Oracle – SQL) - Limited Assurance 

Follow Up
1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 22/01/2021 Brought Forward.  

Adult Services Gloucestershire Industrial Services (GIS) Healthcare - Establishment audit 1 Deferred

Establishment audit deferred for potential use in 

21/22. Days within 20/21 utilised on GIS assurance 

map collation to support appropriate 21/22 audit 

planning. 

Adult Services GIS Equipment System (ICT audit) 1 Deferred

ICT review deferred for potential use in 21/22. Audit 

scope and need dependent on outcomes of wider GIS 

reviews (both inhouse and independent). 

Adult Services Best Value 2 Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Consultancy advice support

Adult Services Learning Disability Respite Units 2 Cancelled

Deferral originally approved, due to impact of Covid 19 

- the Learning Disabilities Respite Units were closed 

for periods during lock down and based on risk 

assessment are unable to support audit visits. Audit re-

considered as part of the 21/22 audit planning process 

and cancelled.

Page 2 of 7

P
age 118



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions Appendix 2

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Adult Services Investment in Order of St Johns homes - governance framework 1 Deferred

Deferral approved (Covid 19 has impacted the 

progression of works in year) in the Revised Internal 

Audit Plan 20/21. Re-considered and retained in the 

approved Internal Audit Plan 21/22.

Adult Services Out of County/cross charging for sexual health 2 Deferred

Deferral due to the additional work pressures within 

Public Health in 20/21 due to Covid 19. Re-considered 

and retained in the approved Internal Audit Plan 

21/22.

Adult Services Disabled Facilities Grant (Better Care Fund) 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021 Grant certification.

Adult Services Social Care (Capital) Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Adult Services Blue Badge - New Criteria Implementation 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Adult Services Premium for Care Providers 1 Consultancy in Progress

New Activity. Covid 19 risk area. Consultancy advice 

support with testing. Outcomes in discussion with 

senior management as at July 2021. To be reported to 

Committee in September 2021. 

Adult Services Market Management 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 30/10/2020 Brought Forward.  

Adult Services Learning Disabilities Transitions (Children to Adults) 2 Deferred

Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (Covid 19 impact). Audit 

scope refreshed, due to in house review within 20/21 

resulting in Cabinet approval (December 2020) of the 

‘Preparing for Adulthood Strategy 2020-2023’ and roll 

out of relevant action plans.

Adult Services Client Affairs 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory/Limited 22/01/2021 Brought Forward.  

Adult Services Disabilities Hub Job Coaching Brokerage 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 30/10/2020 Brought Forward.  

Adult Services ERIC Replacement (ICT internal audit) 1 Deferred

Deferral approved (new ICT system implementation 

has been delayed until March 2021) in the Revised 

Internal Audit Plan 20/21. To be re-considered as part 

of the 21/22 ICT Audit Needs Assessment.

Children's Services High Needs Block 2 Deferred Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021

Assurance Position Statement presented to January 

21 Committee including rationale for deferral of the full 

audit. 

Children's Services Early Help: Edge of care 2 Cancelled

Cancellation confirmed through the risk based audit 

planning consultation approach 21/22 and the 

Committee approved Risk Based Audit Plan 21/22. 

Children's Services No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) 2 Deferred
Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (Covid 19 impact).

Children's Services Independent Reviewing Officers 2 Deferred
Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (Covid 19 impact).

Children's Services Social Work Academy 2 Audit in Progress

Page 3 of 7

P
age 119



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions Appendix 2

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Children's Services Use of Neglect Toolkit 2 Cancelled

Cancellation confirmed through the risk based audit 

planning consultation approach 21/22 and the 

Committee approved Risk Based Audit Plan 21/22. 

Children's Services Re-referral rates and Repeat Child Protection Plan 2 Cancelled

Cancellation confirmed through the risk based audit 

planning consultation approach 21/22 and the 

Committee approved Risk Based Audit Plan 21/22. 

Children's Services Troubled Families Grants 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021 Grant review.

Children's Services Troubled Families Grants II 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/07/2021 Grant review.

Children's Services School 1 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 30/07/2021
See the schools summary paragraph within the 

Annual Report 20/21. 

Children's Services School 2 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 30/07/2021
See the schools summary paragraph within the 

Annual Report 20/21. 

Children's Services School 3 2 Final Report Issued Substantial Substantial 30/07/2021
See the schools summary paragraph within the 

Annual Report 20/21. 

Children's Services School 4 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 30/07/2021
See the schools summary paragraph within the 

Annual Report 20/21. 

Children's Services School 5 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 30/07/2021
See the schools summary paragraph within the 

Annual Report 20/21. 

Children's Services School 6 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 30/07/2021
See the schools summary paragraph within the 

Annual Report 20/21. 

Children's Services School 7 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 30/07/2021
See the schools summary paragraph within the 

Annual Report 20/21. 

Children's Services School 8 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 30/07/2021
See the schools summary paragraph within the 

Annual Report 20/21. 

Children's Services School 9 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 30/07/2021
See the schools summary paragraph within the 

Annual Report 20/21. 

Children's Services School 10 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 30/07/2021
See the schools summary paragraph within the 

Annual Report 20/21. 

Children's Services School 11 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 30/07/2021
See the schools summary paragraph within the 

Annual Report 20/21. 

Children's Services School 12 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 30/07/2021
See the schools summary paragraph within the 

Annual Report 20/21. 

Children's Services Academies 2 Pilot review 30/07/2021
Actions included within the schools summary 

paragraph within the Annual Report 20/21. 

Children's Services Foster Carer Bandings and Payments 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 20/01/2021 New Activity. Consultancy. 

Children's Services Section 17 spend - Limited Assurance Follow Up 1 Audit in Progress

Children's Services Direct Payments 1 Final Report Issued Limited Limited 22/01/2021 Brought Forward.  

Children's Services Health Assessments 1 Final Report Issued Substantial Satisfactory 22/01/2021 Brought Forward.  

Children's Services Recruitment, Development and Retention of Foster Carers 2 Audit in Progress Brought Forward.  

See Schools summary paragraph

Page 4 of 7

P
age 120



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions Appendix 2

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Children's Services Transition from Children’s to Adults Services including Costs 2 Deferred

Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (Covid 19 impact). Audit 

scope refreshed, due to in house review within 20/21 

resulting in Cabinet approval (December 2020) of the 

‘Preparing for Adulthood Strategy 2020-2023’ and roll 

out of relevant action plans.

Children's Services Discretionary Payments to Foster Carers - Limited Assurance Follow Up 1 Planned Terms of Reference issued.

Children's Services
Unregulated Placements and Packages of Support (Fostering) - Limited 

Assurance Follow Up
1 Final Report Issued Substantial Limited 30/10/2020 Brought Forward.  

Children's Services Unregulated Placements and Packages of Support (Commissioning) 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 30/10/2020 Brought Forward.  

Children's Services PACE Protocols 2 Deferred

Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (Covid 19 impact). Review 

scope updated. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Disposal of Assets (vehicles) 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Limited 30/10/2020 Brought Forward.  

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Adult Education Service 1 Cancelled

Cancellation approved through the approved Internal 

Audit Plan 21/22. To be re-considered as part of the 

22/23 audit planning process. Risk theme captured 

within the 20/21 Adult Education Services Restructure 

consultancy review. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Oversight of Parking Management NSL Contract 2 Cancelled

Cancellation approved (Covid 19 impact on Parking 

income, processes and procedures) through the 

approved Internal Audit Plan 21/22. To be re-

considered as part of the 22/23 audit planning 

process. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Transport Infrastructure Project Cost Reporting 2 Deferred

Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (Covid 19 impact and 21/22 

Cyber Park review due as part of the GFirst LEP 

Accountable Body requirement). Review scope 

updated.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Adult Education Restructure 1 Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Consultancy advice support.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Library Management System (ICT audit) 1 Audit in Progress

Outcomes to be reported to Audit and Governance 

Committee in September 21. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Additional Highways Maintenance 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Bus Subsidy Ring-Fenced (Revenue) Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Community Capacity Grant 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Pothole Action Fund 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Integrated Transport, Highways Maintenance Block Needs Element, 

Highways Maintenance Incentive Element (Local Transport Capital Funding 

Grant)

1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Page 5 of 7

P
age 121



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions Appendix 2

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Flood Resilience 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021

Funding body grant determination for 19/20 combines 

Pothole Action Fund and Flood Resilience. Audit 

outcomes to be consolidated and reported to 

Committee in January 21.  
Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
National Productivity Investment Fund 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Safer Roads Fund 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Growth Hub 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
EU Exit Business Readiness and Engagement 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Registration Service – Income Collection 2 Cancelled

Work postponed due to Covid 19 impact on 

Registration Services. To be considered in 22/23 audit 

planning. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure

Procurement of Short Term Transport Arrangements for Social Care Users - 

Limited Assurance Follow Up
1 Audit in Progress Brought Forward. 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Growth Deal – Growth Hub Business Model 2 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/03/2021 Brought Forward. Consultancy.

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Parking Management Services - Contract Management Arrangements 2 Consultancy Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Brought Forward.  

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Traffic Signals – Asset Management and Replacement 2 Draft Report Issued Brought Forward.  

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Oversight of the Highways Maintenance contract 2 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Substantial 30/07/2021 Brought Forward.  

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Energy from Waste contract 2 Deferred

Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (Covid 19 impact).  

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Fleet Management 1 Deferred

Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (independent review of  the 

fleet management and pool car operations in 20/21).

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure
Emergency Active Travel Fund 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 25/03/2021

Community Safety Business Fire Safety 2 Planned Terms of Reference issued.

Community Safety Cultural Review 2 Deferred Not Applicable Not Applicable 22/01/2021

Assurance Position Statement presented to January 

21 Committee including rationale for deferral of the full 

audit. 

Community Safety Procurement and Stores Stock Control 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 30/07/2021

Community Safety Trading Standards-Civil Protection-Coroners (cyclical approach) 2 Cancelled

Cancellation confirmed through the risk based audit 

planning consultation approach 21/22 and the 

Committee approved Risk Based Audit Plan 21/22. 

Community Safety Fire and Rescue Authorities Grants 1 Final Report Issued Not Applicable Not Applicable 30/10/2020 Grant certification.

Page 6 of 7

P
age 122



Progress Report including Assurance Opinions Appendix 2

Department Activity Name Priority Activity Status Risk Opinion Control Opinion

Reported to Audit 

and Governance 

Committee

Comments

Community Safety GFRS Action Plan Follow Up Internal Audits 1 Audit in Progress

The GFRS follow up audit activity is reported to the 

Audit and Governance Committee separately. The 

fourth update will be provided on 30th July 21.  

Pensions Ghost Pensioners 1 Deferred

Activity agreed for deferral through the approved 

Internal Audit Plan 21/22 (at request of Head of 

Pensions due to Covid 19 impact).

Pensions Investments - Portfolio Transition 1 Final Report Issued Satisfactory Satisfactory 30/07/2021

Pensions Management of the Local Governance Pension Scheme (LGPS) 1 Cancelled

Annual Governance Statement 20/21 pensions 

assurance requirements provided directly by the Head 

of Pensions. Audit cancelled.

Pensions Pensions Information and Cyber Security - upgraded Altair system 1 Deferred
Remote viability of audit within 21/22 in discussion 

with Pensions senior management.

Page 7 of 7

P
age 123



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee 

Date: 30th July 2021  Agenda No: 
 

 

 
Title of Report: 

 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Services (GFRS) Internal Audit 
Follow Up – Progress Report 2020/21 
 

 
Purpose of Report: 

 

The purpose of this report is to: 

 Provide assurance to the Audit and Governance Committee that 

the Internal Audit recommendations made in relation to the 

independent investigation of GFRS have been / are being 

addressed; and 

 Inform Members of the progress of GFRS Internal Audit Follow 

Up activity undertaken up to June 2021.   

 
Recommendations: 

 
It is recommended that the Audit and Governance Committee reviews 

and considers the actions taken to address the recommendations made 

and progress to date. 

 
Officer (s) Contact: 

 
Piyush Fatania – Head of Audit Risk Assurance (ARA) and Insurance 

Services  

Tel: 01452 328883 

piyush.fatania@gloucestershire.gov.uk  
 

Paul Blacker - Director of Finance  

Tel: 01452 328999 

paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

 
 

Key Risks 

 

Failure to deliver an effective Internal Audit Service will prevent an 

independent, objective assurance opinion to be provided to those 

charged with governance that the key risks associated with the 

achievement of the Council’s objectives are being adequately 

controlled.  

Failure to deliver an effective corporate governance framework 

prevents GFRS and the Council in directing and controlling its 

resources effectively and efficiently, to enable their priorities and 

objectives to be met. 

 

Page 125

Agenda Item 9

mailto:piyush.fatania@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – 
Progress Report 

July 2021 

 

Page 127



Gloucestershire County Council  

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0  

 

Distribution 

 

Contents 
1. Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 1 

2. GFRS Improvement Board ....................................................................................................... 1 

3. Audit Scope .............................................................................................................................. 3 

4. Key Findings as at June 2021 .................................................................................................. 4 

5. Conclusion/Position as at June 2021 ....................................................................................... 6 

Appendix 1 – Original GFRS Internal Audit recommendations .................................................... 7 

Appendix 2 – Internal Audit assurance opinion and recommendation definitions ...................... 10 

Appendix 3 – Recommendations verified as implemented by Internal Audit during the period 

March 2021 to June 2021 .......................................................................................................... 11 

Appendix 4 – Recommendations confirmed as in progress as at June 2021 ............................. 29 

 

Important 

 Gloucestershire County Council’s Internal Audit service conforms to the 

International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 

 

 The information contained within this Internal Audit report is confidential and personal 

data herein is subject to data protection legislation. 

 

This report has been prepared solely for the use of Gloucestershire County Council’s auditors 

and those officers and Members named on the distribution list.  Its contents, either in part or in 

its entirety, must not be reproduced or distributed to anyone other than its intended recipients 

without the written permission of the Council’s Head of Audit, Risk and Assurance (ARA). 

Gloucestershire County Council accepts no liability to any third party for any loss or expense 

arising from their reliance on any part of this report.

To:  

  

Gloucestershire County Council Audit and Governance Committee  

GFRS Improvement Board 

 

  

Page 128



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 1 

 

1. Introduction 

On 15th June 2018 a letter of complaint was sent by email to the Leader of the Council.  There 

were three strands to the complaint; one concerned the sale of a Gloucestershire Fire and 

Rescue Service (GFRS) owned vehicle and the previous Chief Fire Officer’s (CFO) involvement 

in the process.  The other two concerns were regarding staffing issues.  It was agreed that 

Internal Audit would investigate the sale of the vehicle and Human Resources (HR) would 

review the remaining two concerns. 

Shortly after commencing the investigation, numerous whistleblowing allegations and Freedom 

of Information Requests (FOIs) in respect of other concerns relating to GFRS governance 

arrangements, procedures, systems and processes were received. As a result, following review, 

research, analysis and interviews with key stakeholders including relevant GFRS Officers, 

Internal Audit co-ordinated the findings and made a number of GFRS-specific and council-

wide/cross-cutting recommendations to undertake detailed reviews/audits within each area to 

determine the level of risk.  These reviews/audits were outlined in the Action Plan presented to 

the Audit and Governance Committee on 12th October 2018 and the last of the audit outcomes 

being presented on 11th October 2019.  

Each published Internal Audit report contained an action plan detailing audit recommendations, 

agreed by management, for implementation. A total of 18 audits were undertaken which 

generated 118 individual audit recommendations (High Priority and Medium Priority).  Eleven of 

the audits were given Limited Assurance opinions either for risk management, the control 

environment or both. 

A summary of the 18 audits are included at Appendix 1. Definitions for Internal Audit assurance 

opinions and recommendation priorities are detailed at Appendix 2.   

2. GFRS Improvement Board  

Following discussions between the CFO, Assistant Chief Fire Officer (ACFO) and 

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) Human Resources (HR) at the beginning of August 

2019 the GFRS Improvement Board was established.   

The remit of the Board included the GFRS Internal Audit Action Plan outcomes and actions 

required from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services 

(HMICFRS) inspection 2019/20. In addition, the Board’s goal was to consider the wider picture 

of collective improvement for GFRS. 

The main purpose, role and expectation of the Board as per the Board terms of reference was 

to: 

 Maintain oversight to ensure that all the required improvements and quality assurances 

are achieved by Area Leads in a timely manner;   

 Add weight and rigour towards achieving the required outcomes;  

Page 129



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 2 

 

 Take an overview of Area Leads’ actions (highlights and exceptions) and to address the 

findings; 

 Support Area Leads by removing barriers where progress is hampered by elements 

outside of their control; 

 Review the evidence, by way of Ratification Reports and supporting information supplied 

by Area Leads, which demonstrates that improvements are embedded within the 

organisation by the implementation of robust systems, processes, policies and 

procedures.  This will all be reported and monitored through the development of a tracker 

system that both GFRS and GCC staff (including Internal Audit) will have access to; and 

 Be answerable to and to report progress or otherwise to, the following committees for 

consideration, Scrutiny and ultimately, for final ratification: Gloucestershire Fire and 

Rescue Service Senior Leadership Team; and Audit and Governance Committee. 

 The GFRS Improvement Board membership was as follows: 

 Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries; 

 Chief Fire Officer (Chair); 

 Commissioning Director (GCC); 

 Assistant Chief Fire Officers;  

 Head of Planning, Performance and Improvement (GCC); 

 GFRS Performance and Communications Manager; 

 Interim Area Manager;  

 Project Manager (GCC Planning, Performance and Improvement);  

 GFRS Planning, Strategy and Performance Team members; and 

 Additional attendees as called to the meetings (including Internal Audit, HMICFRS and 

wider GFRS representation).  

GFRS Improvement Board meetings were completed monthly between September 2019 and 

May 2021. The GFRS Improvement Board activity concluded in May 2021, following Board 

confirmation that all ARA audit recommendations had been actioned and/or were being 

appropriately progressed.  

The future route for improvement plan and audit findings is currently in discussion between the 

GFRS Board membership contacts, with the GFRS Project Management Office (PMO) being 

considered as a potential option.   

Page 130



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 3 

 

3. Audit Scope   

ARA GFRS Action Plan follow up activity captures actions against Internal Audit 

recommendations only. HMICFRS recommendation review is excluded from the ARA work and 

will by monitored by the GFRS Improvement Board with oversight from HMICFRS.  

The Internal Audit follow-up activity will review all High Priority recommendations from non-

limited assurance reports and all High Priority and Medium Priority recommendations from 

limited assurance reports to ensure timely implementation of the agreed recommendations. 

The audit follow-up approach has been agreed with GFRS to provide the necessary assurances 

to the GFRS Improvement Board, Gloucestershire County Council’s Head of ARA and the Audit 

and Governance Committee. This includes: 

 To enable efficiency and avoid duplication, ARA will place reliance, where possible, on 

the GFRS tracker system that is being used by the GFRS Improvement Board to monitor 

the implementation of the Internal Audit and HMICFRS recommendations; 

 ARA will attend relevant GFRS Improvement Board meetings where progress updates in 

terms of implementation of recommendations will be presented by GFRS Area Leads.  

Following additional audit testing and review of evidence, ARA will update the GFRS 

tracker system within the agreed areas until such time as all the recommendations have 

been verified as implemented; and 

 If new recommendations are made as part of the follow-up activity, these will be added to 

the tracker system in consultation with GFRS senior management and the same process 

will be applied to follow up the implementation of those recommendations. 

To ensure consistency and management of expectations, ARA has ensured that the original 

GFRS Action Plan lead Auditors have been allocated to deliver the Internal Audit follow up 

activity. 

The CFO and the Head of ARA have agreed for progress updates to be presented to the Audit 

and Governance Committee twice a year (as a minimum) until all actions are confirmed by 

GFRS Improvement Board as implemented and the position has been verified (through review 

and testing) by Internal Audit.   

This is the fourth GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up Progress Report to Audit and Governance 

Committee. The first report was presented to Audit and Governance Committee on 30th October 

2020 (October 2020 position); the second on 22nd January 2021 (December 2020 position); and 

the third on 25th March 2021 (February 2021 position).  

 

 

Page 131



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 4 

 

4. Key Findings as at June 2021   

Follow up process development 

The ARA team have worked directly with the GFRS Performance and Improvement Manager 

and GFRS Planning, Strategy and Performance Team from quarter four 2019/20 to ensure an 

appropriate process with accessible audit trail to enable Internal Audit follow up delivery.  

The GFRS audit trail is accessed via Microsoft Teams. This includes Board papers, the GFRS 

recommendation tracker and ratification reports with supporting documentation as per Internal 

Audit recommendation.  

The Board was attended by ARA initially in May 2020, to enable understanding of the agenda 

content and approach.  

From June 2020 up to May 2021, ARA have attended Board meetings on a monthly basis and 

have been able to engage in discussions, challenge as appropriate and raise relevant queries. 

Internal Audit follow up activity on an individual recommendation basis commenced from June 

2020. 

Each Board meeting attended by ARA was chaired by the CFO and followed a set agenda 

including updates from GFRS Area Leads regards specific audit recommendations. It was 

evident through the meetings that Board members actively challenged the position on each 

presented recommendation, to ensure assurance provided by the GFRS Area Lead was 

appropriately evidenced to enable Board formal sign off.  

GFRS Improvement Board Recommendations Position Statement 

As at the final GFRS Improvement Board meeting in May 2021, the Board has signed off all 

(100%) of the 124 actions (from 118 audit recommendations) total as implemented and/or as 

being progressed through an appropriate route. These are detailed in the below table: 

 

 GFRS Improvement Board position as at 

May 2021 

Total audit recommendations / actions 118 audit recommendations. 

 

Six recommendations were split out by GFRS 

into an interim action and a medium term 

action, totalling 124 actions within the GFRS 

Improvement Board tracker.  

 

The six split recommendations were relevant 

to budget monitoring, budget setting, income 

and cash handling, disposals and 

procurement cards.  

Page 132



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 5 

 

 GFRS Improvement Board position as at 

May 2021 

Actions confirmed as implemented by the 

Board  

122 (previously 100 as at February 2021) 

Actions in progress with the PMO One (previously eight as at February 2021) - 

GFRS Procurement recommendation 7 

Actions in progress and being delivered by 

the wider organisation (GCC) 

One (previously 16 as at February 2021) - 

GFRS Procurement recommendation 4 

  

Internal Audit’s Recommendations Position Statement 

As at 30th June 2021, Internal Audit can confirm that in total: 

 The 122 actions signed off by Board as implemented are relevant to 116 (98%) Internal 

Audit recommendations out of the 118 recommendation total. 

 12 (10%) recommendations do not require Internal Audit follow up due to being Medium 

Priority recommendations from non Limited assurance opinion GFRS Action Plan internal 

audit reports. 

 57 (48%) recommendations (previously 39 recommendations as at February 2021) have 

been verified by Internal Audit as implemented, with no further action required by GFRS 

Improvement Board. This includes all recommendations relevant to the following GFRS 

internal audits:  

o Procurement Cards;  

o HR and Payroll – Retirement;  

o HR and Payroll – Staff Promotion, Progression and Movement; 

o HR and Payroll – Absence Reporting Procedures; 

o Budget Monitoring; 

o Budget Setting; and 

o Gifts and Hospitality and Declarations of Interest. 

 As previously reported to Committee, one recommendation (GFRS Procurement 

recommendation 4) requires no further GFRS Improvement Board action, due to being a 

GCC corporate recommendation to be reviewed by ARA directly with the confirmed GCC 

lead officer and reported separately to Committee. See Appendix 4.  

Page 133



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 6 

 

 One recommendation (GFRS Procurement recommendation 7) is being directly 

progressed by the GFRS PMO. See Appendix 4. 

 ARA continues to review and test recommendations marked by the Board as ‘Awaiting 

Approval By Audit’. The goal per recommendation is to ensure that the audit trail and 

testing confirm the recommendation and the management response as actioned and 

embedded.   

Appendix 1 includes a summary of the GFRS audits and confirmation of the number of 

recommendations verified as implemented by Internal Audit to date.  

Appendix 3 details the GFRS audit recommendations verified as implemented by Internal Audit 

during the period March 2021 to June 2021.  

Appendix 4 confirms the two recommendations in progress as at June 2021.  

GFRS Improvement Board outcomes / comments 

GFRS Improvement Board meetings and activity concluded in May 2021. Once the future route 

for improvement plan and audit findings is confirmed, the approach will be fully supported by 

ARA (as required).   

5. Conclusion/Position as at June 2021   

Covid 19 has placed significant pressures on public services and has impacted (and continues 

to impact) the Council’s and GFRS’s priorities, objectives and risk environment. Even during this 

very challenging period, the Board has made positive progress and applied a strong drive to 

complete the implementation of the Internal Audit recommendations. 

Internal Audit recognises the hard work that GFRS has placed in addressing the 

recommendations, particularly prioritising and focusing on these actions during the pandemic, 

which has not been an easy task and demonstrates a strong commitment to driving good 

governance within GFRS. 

As at May 2021, the GFRS Improvement Board confirmed that all ARA recommendations have 

been actioned and/or are being progressed through an appropriate route – which is a 

commendable achievement.  

ARA continue to work with key contacts to review and test the final batch of recommendations, 

to provide assurance (verification) that they have been actioned and embedded.  A final Internal 

Audit Follow Up Progress Report is scheduled to be presented to the Audit and Governance 

Committee at the January 2022 meeting to conclude the audit follow up activity. 

Page 134



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 7 

 

Appendix 1 – Original GFRS Internal Audit recommendations 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audits  

Assurance Opinions*** Internal Audit recommendations raised*** 

(including the total number requiring Internal 

Audit follow up (N) and the number verified by 

Internal Audit (N) as at June 2021)  

Date audit findings 

were reported to 

Audit and 

Governance 

Committee Risk 

Identification 

Maturity 

Control 

Environment 

High Priority  Medium 

Priority 

Total  

GFRS - Gifts and 

Hospitality and 

Declarations of 

Interest 

Limited Limited 3 (3) (3) 2 (2) (2) 5 (5) (5) – audit 

verification 

complete 

25th April 2019 

GFRS Budget 

Monitoring  

Substantial  Satisfactory 4 (4) (4) 0 (0) (0) 4 (4) (4) – audit 

verification 

complete 

25th April 2019 

GFRS Budget Setting  Substantial  Satisfactory 1 (1) (1) 1 (0) (0) 2 (1) (1) – audit 

verification 

complete 

25th April 2019 

GFRS Capital 

programme 

Satisfactory Satisfactory 0 (0) (0) 4 (0) (0) 4 (0) (0) – audit 

verification not 

required 

26th July 2019 

GFRS Fleet – 

Commissioning of new 

vehicles 

Limited (with a 

few Satisfactory 

aspects) 

Limited 4 (4) (3) 3 (3) (2) 7 (7) (5) – audit 

follow up in 

progress 

26th July 2019 

GFRS Fleet – 

Disposal of vehicles 

Limited Limited 12 (12) (0) 2 (2) (0) 14 (14) (0) – 

audit follow up 

in progress 

26th July 2019 

P
age 135



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 8 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audits  

Assurance Opinions*** Internal Audit recommendations raised*** 

(including the total number requiring Internal 

Audit follow up (N) and the number verified by 

Internal Audit (N) as at June 2021)  

Date audit findings 

were reported to 

Audit and 

Governance 

Committee Risk 

Identification 

Maturity 

Control 

Environment 

High Priority  Medium 

Priority 

Total  

GFRS Fleet – 

Maintenance and 

Stores 

Satisfactory Limited 8 (8) (7) 6 (6) (4)  14 (14) (11) – 

audit follow up 

in progress 

25th April 2019 

GFRS Fleet 

management – use of 

pool cars, personal 

and leased cars and 

fuel schemes  

Limited Limited 5 (5) (0) 0 (0) (0) 5 (5) (0) – audit 

follow up in 

progress 

11th October 2019 

GFRS Governance N/A N/A 3 (3) (0) 1 (0) (0) 4 (3) (0) – audit 

follow up in 

progress 

25th January 2019 

GFRS HR and Payroll 

– Absence reporting 

procedures 

Satisfactory Satisfactory 3 (3) (3) 0 (0) (0) 3 (3) (3) – audit 

verification 

complete 

26th July 2019 

GFRS HR and Payroll 

– Expenses and 

service benefits 

Limited Limited 11 (11) (0) 4 (4) (1) 15 (15) (1) – 

audit follow up 

in progress 

11th October 2019 

GFRS HR and Payroll 

– Staff Promotion, 

Progression and 

Movement 

Limited Limited 5 (5) (5) 1 (1) (1) 6 (6) (6) – audit 

verification 

complete 

25th April 2019 

P
age 136



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 9 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audits  

Assurance Opinions*** Internal Audit recommendations raised*** 

(including the total number requiring Internal 

Audit follow up (N) and the number verified by 

Internal Audit (N) as at June 2021)  

Date audit findings 

were reported to 

Audit and 

Governance 

Committee Risk 

Identification 

Maturity 

Control 

Environment 

High Priority  Medium 

Priority 

Total  

GFRS HR and Payroll 

– Recruitment 

Satisfactory Limited 3 (3) (2) 0 (0) (0) 3 (3) (2) – audit 

follow up in 

progress 

25th April 2019 

GFRS HR and Payroll 

– Retirement 

Satisfactory Satisfactory 2 (2) (2) 1 (0) (0) 3 (2) (2) – audit 

verification 

complete 

25th April 2019 

GFRS Income and 

cash handling 

Satisfactory Satisfactory 3 (3) (1) 5 (0) (0) 8 (3) (1) – audit 

follow up in 

progress 

26th July 2019 

GFRS Procurement Limited Limited 7 (7) (5) 1 (1) (1) 8 (8) (6) – audit 

follow up in 

progress 

26th July 2019 

GFRS Procurement 

Cards 

Limited Limited 7 (7) (7) 1 (1) (1) 8 (8) (8) – audit 

verification 

complete 

25th April 2019 

Syrian Refugee Grant Satisfactory Limited 4 (4) (1) 1 (1) (1) 5 (5) (2) – audit 

follow up in 

progress 

11th October 2019 

Total 85 (85) (44) 33 (21) (13) 118 (106) (57)  

 

***See Appendix 2 for the internal audit assurance opinion and recommendation definitions.  

 

P
age 137



               Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 10 

 

Appendix 2 – Internal Audit assurance opinion and 
recommendation definitions  

ARA Internal Audit assurance opinion definitions:  

Assurance 
Levels 

Risk Identification Maturity Control Environment 

Substantial Risk Managed 
Service area fully aware of the risks relating 
to the area under review and the impact that 
these may have on service delivery, other 
services, finance, reputation, legal, the 
environment, client/customer/partners, and 
staff. All key risks are accurately reported and 
monitored in line with the Corporate Risk 
Management Strategy. 
 

 System Adequacy – 
Robust framework of 
controls ensures that there 
is a high likelihood of 
objectives being achieved 

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied 
continuously or with minor 
lapses 

Satisfactory Risk Aware 
Service area have an awareness of the risks 
relating to the area under review and the 
impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other services, finance, reputation, 
legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners, and staff. However 
some key risks are not being accurately 
reported and monitored in line with the 
Corporate Risk Management Strategy. 
 

 System Adequacy – 
Sufficient framework of key 
controls for objectives to 
be achieved but, control 
framework could be 
stronger 

 Control Application – 
Controls are applied but 
with some lapses 

Limited Risk Naïve  
Due to an absence of accurate and regular 
reporting and monitoring of the key risks in 
line with the Corporate Risk Management 
Strategy, the Service area has not 
demonstrated an adequate awareness of the 
risks relating to the area under review and the 
impact that these may have on service 
delivery, other services, finance, reputation, 
legal, the environment, 
client/customer/partners and staff.   
 

 System Adequacy – Risk 
of objectives not being 
achieved due to the 
absence of key internal 
controls 

 Control Application – 
Significant breakdown in 
the application of control 

 

ARA Internal Audit recommendation priority definitions:  

Priority Description 

High Critical/Major risk exposure which materially impact on the assets, reputation, 

service delivery and objectives of the organisation.  

Medium Moderate risk exposure that impacts on the assets, reputation, service 

delivery and objectives of the organisation. 

Page 138



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 11 

 

Appendix 3 – Recommendations verified as implemented by Internal Audit during the period March 
2021 to June 2021  

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

Satisfactory 

Assurance 

 

GFRS Budget 

Monitoring 

 

High priority 

 

1. Given the significance of financial 

guidance available to support budget 

monitoring, it is essential that the GCC 

guidance is reviewed and updated to 

ensure it is consistent and does not conflict 

with any other guidance, including 

Accounting Instructions and any bespoke 

GFRS guidance. 

Out of date financial guidance has been 

removed, Accounting Instructions are 

currently being revised and financial 

guidance updated to ensure it is consistent 

with the SAP BW – Integrated Planned 

solution (BW-IP) financial management 

training. 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

The three parts of the management 

response are detailed below, together with 

the ARA follow-up review position based 

on reviewed audit trail: 

1) Out of date financial guidance – 

Strategic Finance has taken action to 

ensure that the out-of-date information has 

been removed from Staffnet; 

2) Accounting Instructions (AI) 14 – AI14 

has now been amended in line with 

requirements and the latest version of AI14 

(May 2021) has been uploaded to Staffnet; 

and 

3) Financial guidance updated to ensure it 

is consistent with BW-IP financial 

management training – Staffnet now 

includes detailed BW-IP information within 

the ‘Budget’ page on Staffnet which is up 

to date, although this is an ongoing 

process as the documents are subject to 

review on a periodic basis as systems 

change. GFRS developed a bespoke SAP 

forecasting guide which was in addition to 

the larger BW-IP user guide that was 

developed by GCC. The Finance Manager 

P
age 139



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 12 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

confirmed that the GFRS summarised 

guidance is in line with the GCC BW-IP 

User Guide and reflects the basics of the 

training provided. The Finance Manager 

also confirmed that the budget 

management process adopted by GFRS is 

sufficiently robust and accurate. 

Satisfactory 

Assurance 

 

GFRS Budget 

Monitoring 

 

High priority 

 

3. For the purposes of integration, 

openness, transparency, challenge and 

support, consideration should be given to 

adopting a consistent approach to financial 

support by Strategic Finance staff to all 

BMs and BHs across all service areas 

within Communities and Infrastructure. 

This may require an analysis of the role of 

the GFRS Finance lead and the rest of the 

finance staff that are based at Waterwells 

to determine appropriate reporting lines, 

attendance requirements at GCC Budget 

Overview meetings and whether any of the 

GFRS finance roles could be performed by 

the staff already in post within 

GCC/Strategic Finance, as with other 

service areas within Communities and 

Infrastructure. 

 

In the interim, GFRS Budget Managers 

(BMs) and Budget Holders (BHs) should 

Interim action (previously verified as 

implemented by Internal Audit). 

 

Medium term action 

Undertake a review of the corporate 

support arrangements for GFRS to 

implement a Business Partnering model 

that ensures compliance to GCC financial 

regulations/policies whilst providing 

comprehensive support and advice to 

senior managers and budget managers 

within GFRS. 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

The medium term position and goal were 

reviewed by the Board, CFO and the 

Finance Director to ensure the needs of all 

parties were considered. 

 

Full integration of the Finance team at 

GFRS and Strategic Finance was 

considered, but not agreed. As part of this, 

the CFO confirmed that It was important to 

maintain the tighter management control 

which GFRS had as a result of the work of 

the GFRS Business Partner. An example 

of this was the Finance Management 

Group (managed by the GFRS Business 

Partner) which meets on a regular basis 

and comprises budget holders and 

managers, helping them to track their 

budget spends and keeping them on 

target.  

 

The audit trail confirms the following areas 

P
age 140



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 13 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

be made aware that they can access 

financial support directly from their 

allocated Senior Finance Officer, Finance 

Manager and Business Partner within 

Strategic Finance. 

have been actioned: The Strategic Finance 

organisation chart makes reference to the 

four Business Partners reporting to GCC's 

Finance Director and with an identified 

Business Partner for GFRS and Regulatory 

Services. The Finance Director and the 

four Business Partners (making up the 

Finance Management Team) meet on a 

fortnightly basis. In addition, quarterly 

meetings take place between the Chief 

Fire Officer (CFO), the Finance Director 

and the GFRS Business Partners.  

 

The GFRS Business Partner role is integral 

to the regular Strategic Finance meetings 

and training. The post consistently reports 

to the Finance Director on the revenue & 

capital position and meets regularly with 

the CFO and Finance Director.  

 

The above position was confirmed as 

appropriate by the CFO, Finance Director 

and Board.  

Satisfactory 

Assurance 

 

GFRS Budget Setting 

 

High priority 

 

1. For the purposes of integration, 

openness, transparency and challenge, 

consideration should be given to adopting 

a consistent approach to budget setting by 

Strategic Finance staff across all service 

Interim action (previously verified as 
implemented by Internal Audit). 
 
Medium term action  
Undertake a review of the corporate 

support arrangements for GFRS to 

implement a Business Partnering model 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

Further content as stated above for GFRS 

Budget Monitoring recommendation 3. 

P
age 141



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 14 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

areas within Communities and 

Infrastructure. 

 

This may require an analysis of the role of 

the GFRS HoF and the rest of the finance 

staff that are based at Waterwells to 

determine appropriate reporting lines and 

whether any of their finance functions 

should be performed by the staff already in 

post in Strategic Finance, as with other 

service areas within Communities and 

Infrastructure. 

that ensures compliance to GCC 

financial regulations/policies whilst 

providing comprehensive support and 

advice to senior managers and budget 

managers within GFRS.  

Limited Assurance 

 

GFRS Fleet – 

Commissioning of 

new vehicles  

High priority 

 

1. Records relating to tender submissions 

and evaluations should be stored in an 

agreed central archive within GFRS to 

enable review of such documentation to be 

undertaken and to evidence appropriate 

procedures and regulations have been 

followed. 

All documentation relating to tender 

processes should be maintained within an 

electronic e-tendering system and / or 

ProContract for reference and audit 

purposes. 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

GCC Strategic Procurement has worked 

closely with GFRS Officers to ensure that 

tenders and contracts are managed 

through ProContract and that historic 

contracts are also uploaded.  

 

This process has been aided with the 

identification of supplier expenditure over 

£15,000 and the resultant creation of a 

master spreadsheet which is updated 

weekly and discussed with GFRS 

management and Strategic Procurement.  

 

It is reported that GFRS has been fully 

compliant using ProContract since 

September 2019. Internal Audit checks 

P
age 142



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 15 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

against fleet and capital purchases since 

this time were undertaken to ensure all 

purchases were recorded on ProContract. 

This identified that the purchase of two 

Peugeot vehicles in May/June 2020 was 

not recorded, although this would appear 

to have been an oversight (possibly due to 

the timing of the purchase at the beginning 

of the pandemic) and this has now been 

rectified (this will not be flagged by ARA on 

other recommendations). Work to upload 

historic purchases/contracts relating to 

past fleet acquisitions is not yet complete 

but is being worked on at the point of audit 

follow up. 

 

The evidenced continued joint working 

between GFRS & Strategic Procurement 

and the planned appointment of a Senior 

Procurement Officer within GFRS, also 

provides assurance that procurement rules 

and regulations should continue to be 

followed going forward. 

P
age 143



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 16 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

Limited Assurance 

 

GFRS Fleet – 

Commissioning of 

new vehicles  

High priority 

 

2. The Scheme of Delegation within the 

Constitution must be followed in respect of 

CFO decisions with financial implications 

over £250,000. 

The new CFO will ensure that GCC policy, 

process and constitution are followed to 

drive and ensure compliance with the Local 

Government Transparency Code. 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

A list of GFRS capital spend 2018/19 to 

2020/21 was obtained by Internal Audit 

from Strategic Finance. This identified 

payments over £250,000 and which 

required an Executive Decision to be made 

by the CFO. One contract for the bulk 

replacement of firefighter Personal 

Protective Equipment (PPE) fell into this 

category and an Executive Decision paper 

was completed for this purchase (verified 

by audit). The Executive Decision in 

respect of the purchase of 16 response 

officer vehicles was also verified. Both 

reviewed contracts also appear on 

ProContract. 

 

The collaborative working approach 

between Strategic Procurement and GFRS 

(as referred to within wider GFRS vehicle 

acquisition and procurement 

recommendation audit review outcomes) 

will also support the continued delivery of 

this recommendation. 

Limited Assurance 

 

GFRS Fleet – 

Commissioning of 

new vehicles  

High priority 

 

3. The contract details for all contracts over 

£5,000 must be added to ProContract to 

ensure data transparency rules for local 

The new CFO will ensure that GCC policy, 

process and constitution are followed to 

drive and ensure compliance with the Local 

Government Transparency Code. Training 

for all budget holders in the use of 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

As per the ARA comments under GFRS 

Procurement recommendations 2 and 3 

there has been collaboration between 

P
age 144



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 17 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

authorities are adhered to. ProContract will be delivered. Strategic Procurement and GFRS to 

ensure that Council policy and procedures 

in respect of procurement are followed 

(including ensuring that contracts over £5k 

are added to ProContract). This has been 

supported by wider actions, including 

officer training - such as budget holders 

have received at least part 1 of 

ProContract procurement training and it 

has been agreed by the Improvement 

Board that re-training will take place once a 

new Senior procurement Officer has been 

appointed. 

Limited Assurance 

 

GFRS Fleet – 

Commissioning of 

new vehicles  

Medium priority 

 

5. The lowest price should be accepted 

subject to evaluation criteria ensuring other 

factors / options are taken into account.  

Corporate services will be consulted on the 

evaluation criteria for all capital 

procurement exercises. The tender 

evaluations will be recorded within an 

electronic e-tendering system and / or 

ProContract for reference and audit 

purposes. This will hold the decision 

rationale where the lowest price has not 

been chosen. 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

Verbal assurance and audit trail provided 

by GFRS has confirmed that GFRS are 

working closely with Strategic Procurement 

to ensure Contract Standing Orders and 

Financial Regulations are followed.  

 

From Internal Audit’s review and tracing of 

capital expenditure, it can be shown that 

ProContract is being used to record GFRS 

contracts placed since 2019. Most of the 

capital purchases made since 2019 have 

been purchased using existing 

frameworks, for example the Crown 

Commercial Service has been used for all 

light vehicle fleet purchases, with discounts 

P
age 145



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 18 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

of up to 30% being achieved on 

manufacturers' list price. 

Limited Assurance 

 

GFRS Fleet – 

Commissioning of 

new vehicles  

Medium priority 

 

7. All new vehicle purchases are treated as 

capital expenditure. 

The CFO will ensure that GCC policy, 

process and constitution are followed to 

drive and ensure compliance with the Local 

Government Transparency Code. 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

Audit review included comparison of the 

current GFRS Fleet list and the GFRS 

capital purchases list provided by Strategic 

Finance. The review / reconciliation of data 

confirmed that GFRS fleet purchased since 

2018 have been correctly treated as capital 

within the accounts. 

Limited Assurance 

 

GFRS Fleet 

Maintenance and 

Stores 

 

High priority 

 

8. Vehicle reassignments outside of the 

“normal” arrangements around the county 

fire stations that are required for 

operational effectiveness should be 

formally documented (including the 

rationale), approved by the relevant officer 

and retained by GFRS. 

 

GFRS must ensure that if vehicles are to 

be reassigned outside of the service that 

risk assessments are carried out to ensure 

that all GFRS / GCC liabilities and risks are 

protected / managed. 

An action plan will be put in place to 

address the findings and ensure that Fleet 

Management has full understanding and 

oversight of compliance with the required 

policy, procedure and regulations. 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

‘Service Policy 05 Fleet Management’ and 

supporting documents have been updated, 

approved by GFRS SLT in March 2021 

and rolled out to officers (e.g. via the 

GFRS intranet and staff communications). 

Internal Audit reviewed the updated policy 

which contains section 3d specifically 

addressing loan vehicles. This includes 

who within GFRS needs to be aware and 

approve of the loan of a vehicle, in this 

instance SLT as well as a Loan Vehicle 

Procedure (LVP) that has to be completed 

and signed off by the CFO prior to the loan 

of the vehicle. The LVP document is 

designed to gather all the relevant 

information pertaining to a potential loan of 

a vehicle including: 

P
age 146



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 19 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

 

 The organisation requesting a vehicle,  

 The reason why the loan is justified,  

 Record of all kit that may be loaned 

alongside the vehicle,  

 Where the vehicle will be located for 

the period of the loan, 

 Maintenance arrangements for the 

vehicle, 

 Insurance considerations, and 

 Pre and Post loan inspections of the 

vehicle to identify damage. 

 

The updated fleet policy alongside the LVP 

document meet the original audit 

recommendation in ensuring that should a 

loan of a vehicle be required, a procedure 

template is completed to collate all relevant 

and key information pertaining to the loan, 

with the CFO and SLT involved in the 

decision making and authorisation process. 

 

Internal Audit walkthrough/sample testing 

of the new approach has not been 

completed, due to there being a zero 

population for March 21 and April 21. Loan 

vehicles are a low volume activity and in 

line with the policy ‘must only be 

considered in extreme circumstances such 

as an emergency situation’. 

P
age 147



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 20 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

Limited Assurance 

 

GFRS Fleet – 

Maintenance and 

Stores 

 

High priority 

 

10. Fleet should comply with Driver and 

Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) 

regulations regarding safety inspections 

that state; “If a vehicle has been off the 

road for a period longer than the planned 

maintenance inspections, it should be 

given a full safety inspection prior to being 

brought back into use. A note must be 

placed on the vehicle maintenance file to 

show the vehicle has been off the road.” 

An action plan will be put in place to 

address the findings and ensure that 

GFRS Fleet Management has full 

understanding and oversight of compliance 

with the required policy, procedure and 

regulations. 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

The original audit recommendation was 

specific to Statutory Off Road Notification 

(SORN) vehicles. The GFRS Fleet policy 

confirms the requirement for processes to 

be compliant with DVSA requirements.  

 

GFRS have confirmed through review and 

progression of recommendation GFRS 

Fleet – Maintenance and Stores 9 (as 

reviewed by Internal Audit) that no vehicles 

SORN in the last year have been subject to 

reintegration into the GFRS fleet. This 

position is supported by the GFRS fleet 

disposals register as at March 2021, which 

shows vehicles that were SORN since July 

2019 up to March 2021 have all been 

subsequently sold and therefore not 

eligible to be reintegrated into the GFRS 

fleet as reserve or front line appliances. 

Limited Assurance 

 

GFRS - Gifts and 

Hospitality and 

Declarations of 

Interest 

Medium priority 

 

1. Consideration should be given to 

nominating a specific person that is 

responsible for regularly (e.g. quarterly) 

reminding staff of GCC’s Gifts and 

Hospitality arrangements (including 

declined offers) and that where any offers 

are received, permission is sought from the 

CFO’s Personal Assistant (PA) to be asked 

to ensure that the Senior Leadership Team 

(SLT) agenda contains quarterly 

reminders. 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

There has been a change of PA to CFO. 

Hand over and training notes on the new 

procedures were provided, where it was 

confirmed it will continue to be the role of 

the CFO's PA to issue reminders.  

 

Evidence has been seen to support that 

P
age 148



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 21 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

CFO or nominated officer and 

countersigned by the Monitoring Officer 

(MO) before the offers are accepted. 

 

Where the offer is made to the CFO, 

approval must be sought from the 

Council’s Chief Executive before being 

countersigned by the MO. 

 

reminders have been set up. Internal Audit 

was provided with copies of emails that 

have been issued to remind staff of the 

rules and reference is made to Staffnet.  

 

The new processes have been 

documented to ensure that process and 

controls can continue to be followed in the 

event staff changes. The new process 

clearly documents approval requirements 

e.g. that CFO Gifts & Hospitality offers 

(accepted or declined) need to be sent to 

GCC’s Chief Executive for sign off. 

Limited Assurance 

 

GFRS - Gifts and 

Hospitality and 

Declarations of 

Interest 

Medium priority 

 

2. All managers, and where appointed, the 

relevant nominated person responsible for 

maintaining the Gifts and Hospitality 

register, should ensure that they are 

familiar with the rules around gifts and 

hospitality. 

 

Staff awareness sessions to be held. To be 

arranged by the CFO’s PA through existing 

meeting structures. 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

Gifts and Hospitality awareness training 

has been provided to relevant parties. 

Evidence was seen in the form of 

completed declined and accepted gifts and 

hospitality registers to support that staff are 

recording both accepted and declined 

offers. Please see the comments made 

against GFRS - Gifts and Hospitality and 

Declarations of Interest recommendation 3 

regards wider audit testing, confirming 

reviewed registers compliance with policy. 

Limited Assurance 

 

GFRS - Gifts and 

Hospitality and 

High priority 

 

3. All returned gifts and hospitality forms 

should be forwarded to the CFO’s PA for 

Refresher training to be arranged for 

CFO’s PA re policy, and develop 

appropriate recording and reporting 

arrangements. 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

Training notes available to ensure 

consistency and continuity of approach. 

P
age 149



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 22 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

Declarations of 

Interest 

retention and for offers accepted or 

declined to be entered onto the Gifts and 

Hospitality register. 

 

The register should be kept up to date at 

all times, and should include all offers of 

gifts and hospitality whether accepted or 

declined. 

 

This includes links to the appropriate 

documents/forms/emails. Training has 

been provided to SLT. Training will also be 

recorded at PDRs as training events.  

 

2019 and 2020 Registers were reviewed 

by Internal Audit. These had been 

completed and were up to date. The 

registers were completed in compliance 

with policy.  

 

The review identified that the declined 

register included gifts that had been 

offered to the station as a whole such as 

box of biscuits or free low value items such 

as when under the rules they could be 

kept. Whilst this is not an issue, it was 

unclear whether this is just a general 

misunderstanding of the rules or more of a 

decision not to accept anything going 

forward to avoid any allegations of 

accepting goods for personal gain.  

 

As at 8th February 2021 the registers for 

2021 still require updating. Assurance was 

provided to Internal Audit that the updates 

were in progress. An updated copy of the 

2021 registers will be requested for Internal 

Audit review in June 2021.  

P
age 150



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 23 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

Limited Assurance 

 

GFRS - Gifts and 

Hospitality and 

Declarations of 

Interest 

High priority 

 

5. The induction process for all GCC staff 

(including GFRS) should specifically 

highlight the requirement within the Code 

of Conduct for all staff (including senior 

officers) to declare any personal interests, 

financial or non-financial, where “they 

could reasonably be deemed to potentially 

conflict with any work undertaken by 

employees in the course of their duties”. 

 

At GFRS a named post holder/s should be 

responsible for regularly (e.g. annually) 

reminding staff to complete a declaration of 

interest form, potentially even if it is a nil 

return. Where an interest has been 

declared, the form should be forwarded to 

the line manager for review before being 

sent to GCC’s Monitoring Officer for 

countersignature and retention. 

 

CFO’s PA to maintain a declaration of 

interest register and to enter on to SLT 

agenda for review 6 monthly. 

Monitoring Officer to request annual 

updated records from each directorate. 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

The Council induction workbook 

(completion is a mandatory requirement of 

Council probation periods) includes a 

requirement re. declarations of interest. 

The induction workbook (last reviewed and 

updated in June 2021) includes the 

following statement – ‘I know how to 

register interests which may conflict with 

my work’ (this then links to the Staffnet 

register of interests page). 

 

Annual GFRS declaration of interest 

reminder to be issued in November. Last 

reminder confirmed as issued November 

2020.  

 

Internal Audit cross checked the 

information provided by GFRS (as 

reviewed by SLT) with the information held 

by the Monitoring Officer for the period 

2019 to November 2020 (inclusive) and no 

issues were identified. Internal Audit also 

advised the PA to the CFO that staff 

should be made aware of the need to 

complete a declaration of interest at the 

point when circumstances change and not 

wait for the annual reminder. 

P
age 151



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 24 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

Satisfactory 

Assurance 

 

GFRS HR and Payroll 

– Absence reporting 

procedures 

High priority 

 

1. The Chief Executive and CFO, in 

consultation with HR, to develop and agree 

a Service Policy in relation to leave for 

Gold Book officers, similar to existing 

GFRS Service Policies 003 (Section 22) 

and 11 (Section 2A). 

 

The policy should be agreed by the 

appropriate approving body. 

Leave policy to be updated to include 

aligning Gold Book leave process to that 

for other staff. 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

In order to avoid the Principal Officers 

(POs) writing and agreeing their own terms 

and conditions, it was recommended that a 

new policy regarding their leave should be 

developed and agreed in consultation with 

the Chief Executive (as the CFO’s line 

manager) and HR, who should have 

oversight of all employee related policies. 

 

Rather than a new policy being written the 

existing policies SP011 Section 2A and 

SP003 Section 22 were amended to 

include the number of days leave allocated 

to the POs, as well as the process for 

taking the leave. Audit review of the 

updated policies confirmed the required 

content was present.  

 

Email confirmation was received from the 

Chief Executive and the HR Business 

Partner confirming that they were satisfied 

with the amended policies. An email from 

the Deputy CFO also confirmed that the 

GFRS Policy Approval Group (PAG) had 

agreed the amendment, prior to the 

updated policies being rolled out within 

GFRS. 

P
age 152



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 25 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

Satisfactory 

Assurance 

 

GFRS Income and 

cash handling 

 

High priority 

 

1. Accounting Instruction 3 (Security of 

Cash) and 6 (Petty Cash Imprest) to be 

reviewed and updated to include working 

hyperlinks and up-to-date guidance. 

Strategic Finance has already redrafted 

Accounting Instruction 6, but accepts that 

Accounting Instruction 3 (security of cash) 

which is related is outdated. This will be 

redrafted and reviewed and aligned with 

Accounting Instruction 6 (Petty Cash). 

Accounting Instruction 6 has been 

published on Staffnet Person Responsible. 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

Audit review has confirmed that Accounting 

Instruction 3 and 6 have both been 

updated and are available on Staffnet. 

Recommendation confirmed as 

implemented. 

Limited Assurance 

 

GFRS Procurement 

 

High priority 

 

2. A review of all supplier expenditure for 

2014-15 to date by type and supplier 

should be undertaken, with support from 

Commercial Services, to establish the 

existence of formal contracts with suppliers 

and to: 

 

 Confirm that the contracts are still 

current, appropriate and in accordance 

with the Council’s and GFRS 

requirements; 

 Consult Legal Services to ensure that 

the contracts are appropriate, cover all 

liabilities and legally binding; and 

 Record details of the contracts on 

ProContract to confirm visibility, 

monitoring and publication on the 

ProContract contracts register to 

ensure the Council complies with the 

Local Government Transparency Code. 

There is limited value in looking at 

retrospective spend and we would not be 

able to alter existing contracts. The review 

will focus on supplier expenditure to date in 

2019-20. However, ProContract should be 

up to date as the single point of fact and 

reviewed to inform planning ahead of 

contract expiry. 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

A review of supplier expenditure with a 

value of £15,000 and over was undertaken 

by GCC Strategic Procurement and GFRS 

officers, that identified GFRS contracts that 

were due to expire or be procured in the 

financial year 2020-21 and beyond. A 

'master' spreadsheet was created in May 

2020 and is regularly (weekly) maintained / 

updated by GCC Strategic Procurement. 

Weekly the GCC Senior Commercial 

Officer sends a copy of the updated 

'master' spreadsheet to the GFRS Head of 

Logistics and Resources, which is then 

discussed between them. The 'master' 

spreadsheet is also sent to the GFRS SLT 

monthly for review.  

 

Assurance was provided by GFRS that the 

above process will continue when the 

permanent GFRS Senior Procurement 

P
age 153



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 26 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

Officer is appointed. 

 

The GFRS Head of Logistics and 

Resources provided Internal Audit with 

email assurance that since Autumn 2019 

GCC Strategic Procurement and a 

dedicated GFRS procurement resource 

plus stakeholders have been identifying 

GFRS service contracts for which they had 

no information and to populate the 'master' 

spreadsheet. 

 

In addition the GFRS Head of Logistics 

and Resources advised Internal Audit that 

the GCC Senior Commercial Officer has 

been managing the majority of GFRS 

procurements for over a year and that 

GCC Senior Commercial Officer has 

assured they are compliantly processed 

and published. There are as at 22nd 

January 2021 72 identified GFRS contracts 

recorded on the 'master' spreadsheet in 

different phases of procurement, which are 

being managed by GCC Strategic 

Procurement and GFRS. 

 

In addition the GCC Senior Commercial 

Officer assisted GFRS Fleet Workshop 

team with publishing low level contracts 

(under £15,000) on ProContract , although 

P
age 154



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 27 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

this will be a responsibility for the service 

area in the future. 42 suppliers’ 

expenditure were identified, documented 

on a separate spreadsheet and reviewed in 

detail. The review highlighted 10 suppliers 

should have been recorded on ProContract 

(now done), two suppliers expenditure was 

over £15,000 (one was confirmed as 

procured compliantly and the other not but 

due to Covid-19 the expenditure to date is 

unlikely to reach £15,000) and the 

remaining were all under £5,000 (mainly 

due to the impact of Covid-19). 

 

Planning and forecasting of expenditure / 

contracts for the future is still to be 

developed and completed as well as the 

formulation of the GFRS Procurement 

Strategy. The GCC Senior Commercial 

Officer is working with the GFRS ICT 

Manager on a number of small 

procurement projects.  

 

In summary, the assurance and audit trail 

has been provided to confirm that GCC 

Strategic Procurement is working with 

GFRS to ensure that existing contracts are 

correctly recorded on the Corporate 

Contracts Register; and that (where 

appropriate) procurement has or will be 

P
age 155



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 28 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Internal Audit review outcomes 

completed for identified expenditure that 

requires a contract to be let in accordance 

with GCC and UK procurement policies. 

This work should now be considered as 

business as usual. 

 

In addition, wider audit testing (e.g. on 

GFRS Fleet – Commissioning of new 

vehicles) also confirms/supports this 

recommendation as implemented.  

Limited Assurance 

 

GFRS Procurement 

 

High Priority 

 

3. As part of the same review above GFRS 

officers should, with support from 

Commercial Services, establish all cases 

where a quotation or tendering exercise 

should now be undertaken to ensure future 

compliance with the Council’s Standing 

Orders and EU contract regulations. 

Agreed.  

 

As above the focus will be on 
procurement to date in 2019-20.  
 

Recommendation implemented. 

 

Further content as stated above for GFRS 

Procurement recommendation 2.  

 

  

 

 

 

 

P
age 156



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 29 

 

Appendix 4 – Recommendations confirmed as in progress as at June 2021 

As at the final GFRS Improvement Board meeting, two recommendations only were confirmed as in progress through an appropriate route. 

The below table details the recommendations, their progression route and the position as at June 2021.   

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Position as at June 2021 

Limited Assurance 

 

GFRS Procurement 

 

High priority 

 

4. A review of the second line of defence 

role and responsibilities should be 

undertaken to establish whether the 

Council’s current procurement oversight, 

challenge, support and monitoring 

function(s) is adequate to achieve the 

principles and application of an effective 

and robust three lines of defence model. 

The results of this review should then be 

implemented. 

For below OJEU threshold, a review will be 

undertaken and recommendations made 

on improving controls. Discussions have 

already taken place between Finance, 

Commercial and BSC on this. The sourcing 

pool principle will be reviewed and updated 

and appropriate training given to staff. 

Recommendation progressed and 

escalated by GFRS Improvement Board, 

due to being a GCC corporate action.   

 

Recommendation action ownership re-

allocated to the GCC Assistant Director of 

Strategic Procurement as at December 

2020.   

 

To be reviewed by ARA directly with the 

confirmed GCC lead officer, monitored and 

reported separately to Audit and 

Governance Committee. 

Limited Assurance 

 

GFRS Procurement 

 

High priority 

 

7. A full review of the provision of uniforms 

and clothing (excluding PPE clothing) 

should be undertaken to establish whether 

the current arrangements remain 

appropriate and achieve best use of public 

money. In particular the review should 

focus on the number of items of clothing, 

type of clothing, arrangements for their 

issue and whether non operational support 

staff should receive paid uniforms / clothing 

Guidance on executive decision-making is 

clear. GRFS will consult as necessary. A 

review of the standards of dress policy 

within GFRS will be undertaken with 

appropriate consultation and oversight. 

The GFRS Improvement Board agreed an 

update to the management response as at 

October 2020: 'Acknowledging all 

requirements of the Recommendation, 

following completion of a wider-ranging 

piece of work relating to the culture of the 

Service (which GFRS is obliged to carry 

out as a result of an inspection by 

HMICFRS subsequent to the internal 

audit), clarity around the executive 

decision-making in respect of the 

standards of dress policy will be provided.   

P
age 157



Gloucestershire County Council 

 

GFRS Internal Audit Follow Up – Progress Report v1.0 30 

 

GFRS Action Plan 

internal audit 

Recommendation reference and 

priority 

Management’s response Position as at June 2021 

/ shoes. 

 

The most appropriate decision making 

process / body should be considered in 

consultation with the Monitoring Officer, 

Head of Human Resources and Head of 

Legal Services. 

 

A local scheme of arrangement for 

uniforms and clothing following the above 

review should be developed, documented, 

subject to appropriate approval and 

implemented. 

Full and due consideration will be given to 

the uniform being fit for purpose for the role 

being undertaken, with rationale explained 

in the ‘to be updated’ Standards of Dress 

Policy.  Full attention will be paid to 

ensuring value for money for the tax payer, 

and this will be referenced in the updated 

Policy.  The wider-ranging work around the 

culture of the Service is expected to 

complete once full consultation has been 

completed and the outcomes are prepared 

for reporting to HMICFRS.’ 

 

Responsibility for implementing the 

recommendation is now to be taken on by 

the Project Management Office (PMO) and 

is in progress.  

 

 

 

P
age 158



Report to Audit and Governance Committee on 30th July 2021 on actions 
taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit report 
relating to the audit of GCC usage of CCTV in compliance with 
legislation.

Lead Officer: Jenny Grodzicka, Head of Information Management 
Service (DPO)

Presenting Officer: As above

Summary of Audit Area 
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) uses CCTV in a number of ways for 
example, for security of premises within the corporate estate, in taxis which 
are used for home to school transport and as body-worn cameras as part of 
parking enforcement.

Covert use of surveillance camera systems was outside of the scope of this 
audit as it is covered by separate legislation.  Schools were also not part of 
this review as they are classed as data controllers in their own right and any 
CCTV systems they operate are separate to GCC’s systems.  CCTV 
cameras in the town centres are owned by the district council and were 
therefore not a part of this audit.

The use of CCTV is covered by a number of regulations and guidance is 
included in the Home Office Surveillance Camera Code of Practice.  The 
Code includes 12 guiding principles which operators of surveillance camera 
systems should follow to ensure that their use of CCTV complies with the 
Code of Practice.

There is a self-assessment tool to help organisations identify if they are 
complying with the 12 principles.  The self-assessment should be completed 
by each system owner on an annual basis, although it is not yet compulsory.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) has to be completed before a 
new system is installed, as well as if there are any cameras added to an 
existing system.

Failure to act on the Code doesn’t make a person liable to criminal or civil 
proceedings but the Code is admissible in evidence and the court can take 
into account the council’s failure to have regard to the Code.

Page 159

Agenda Item 10



Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit
This audit reviewed whether GCC’s usage of CCTV is in compliance with the 
statutory legislation and good practice guidance, including the completion of 
an annual self-assessment of CCTV compliance, although this is not yet 
mandatory.

Risks
 Regulatory risk if GCC’s usage of CCTV is not in compliance with 

legislation, including GDPR;
 Ineffective assurance arrangements;
 Inappropriate use/misuse of data leading to fines for the council and 

claims from the public;
 Not obtaining value for money; and
 Reputational damage.

Page 160



Key Findings

The Head of the council’s Information Management Service (IMS) has been 
assigned GCC’s Senior Responsible Officer role with regard to CCTV usage 
within GCC, as it is linked to the Data Protection Officer role, which the Head of 
IMS already occupies.

The council does not have a central record of CCTV systems which are operating 
within GCC, or where they are sited.  Some CCTV systems are set up by a 
manager within a service area, whilst others will have been arranged by GCC’s 
Asset Management and Property Services (AMPS).  There are some records but 
it is not known whether these records, and the information they contain, are 
complete and up to date.

There are plans that as part of the review of the Information Asset Register by 
IMS, the asset owners will be asked for details of any CCTV systems they also 
have within their area.  Once there is a definitive list of all known CCTV IMS staff 
will monitor the completion of the self-assessments and DPIAs, which will both be 
stored and linked with the Information Asset Register.

A draft policy is in the process of being written by IMS.  The policy, which has 
been reviewed by Internal Audit, is comprehensive and covers the 12 guiding 
principles of the Code of Practice, as well as the need for completion of the self-
assessment tool and a DPIA.  It is expected that once the policy is finished and 
published, everyone who uses a surveillance system will have to read and accept 
it.

The Head of IMS confirmed that there is no specific individual within the service 
who has the responsibility for monitoring CCTV usage within the council.  The 
system operators make the decision on who has access to the data that is 
collected, where it is stored and for how long, but there is no-one who monitors 
the decisions to ensure they are correct.

A sample of seven system operators was contacted and all were asked the same 
questions in respect of awareness of the code of practice and processes for the 
use and storage of data from the cameras.  From the responses received the 
CCTV operators are mostly not aware of the code and cannot demonstrate they 
are complying with the 12 principles of the code, or incorrectly believe it doesn’t 
apply to them.  Only the system operator for the bus lane ANPR cameras could 
demonstrate awareness of the legislation and guidance and had also completed 
the self-assessment tool.

Page 161



Action taken as at the end of May 2021 and/or proposed
The Internal Audit report raised six recommendations as follows:

Recommendation 1 (High Priority):

The Role of SRO for CCTV compliance should be formalised.  The Head of IMS 
should consider allocating capacity for monitoring the use of CCTV within GCC 
and ensuring that any legislation is complied with.

Original management response:

Work will be undertaken to determine how the requirements can be incorporated 
into existing practices.

Management update as at May 2021

Resource is being reallocated from within the service to the Information 
Governance team to enable them to pick up this role, subject to approval through 
the council’s recruitment process. 
Deadline: 30 September 2021

Recommendation 2 (High Priority):

IMS should establish and maintain a list of all GCC’s CCTV systems, to include 
details of the system operator and training provided.

Original management response:

The council’s CCTV systems will be captured within the council’s Information 
Asset Register (IAR), which is reviewed annually.

Management update as at May 2021

All known CCTV use is now captured in the central Information Asset Register. 
Further work is being done with Information Asset Owners to give assurance that 
this list is comprehensive.
Deadline: 31 December 2021

Recommendation 3 (High Priority):

The IMS policy on CCTV and surveillance cameras which is currently in draft form 
should be completed and published as a matter of urgency.  The publication of 
the policy should be communicated to all relevant staff.

Original management response:

The CCTV policy will be finalised and taken to the Information Board for approval 
and disseminated to relevant staff via MetaCompliance.

Page 162



Management update as at May 2021

The policy has been finalised and approved at Information Board. The policy is 
published along with all other IM policies on the council’s website.  
Deadline: 31 May 2021

Recommendation 4 (High Priority):

The Head of IMS should establish procedures for ensuring that there is oversight 
of all CCTV systems within GCC and that they are operated in compliance with 
regulations.

Original management response:

A framework will be established defining responsibilities. 
Guidance will be developed and published on staffnet.
The Information Asset Owner role will be reviewed and CCTV compliance made 
more prominent. 
The inclusion of requirements around CCTV in the Heads of Service Annual 
Governance Statement will be considered.

Management update as at May 2021

Responsibilities are defined in the CCTV Policy. 
Comprehensive guidance, FAQs and procedures have been developed and 
published on staffnet.
CCTV responsibilities have been included in the responsibilities of the Information 
Asset Owner. The responsibilities have been disseminated to all Information 
Asset Owners and a formal acceptance process is now in place.
An overview of CCTV requirements has been included in the mandatory training 
for Information Asset Owners and Information Asset Managers, which is currently 
being disseminated.
The Heads of Service Annual Governance Statement template has been updated 
to include specific reference to CCTV.
Deadline: 31 March 2022

Recommendation 5 (High Priority):

AMPS should notify IMS whenever a CCTV system is installed in any part of Shire 
Hall or any of GCC’s corporate estate buildings.

Depending upon value, consideration could be given to arranging a council wide 
CCTV contract.

Original management response:

Procedures will be set up to ensure IMS are notified of new and intended changes 
to existing systems.

Due to the variant types of CCTV equipment that have been installed around the 

Page 163



county, it is not feasible to bring all current equipment under one support contract. 
However, any new authorised CCTV installations will be brought under one of the 
existing corporate CCTV support contracts.

Management update as at May 2021
A process has been agreed with AMPS and notifications are now being sent to 
IMS.
Deadline: 31 March 2021

Recommendation 6 (High Priority):

IMS should ensure that all CCTV system operators are aware of the Home Office 
Code of Practice and guidance from the Surveillance Camera Commissioner, 
including the requirement to complete the self-assessment tool.  The completed 
self-assessment should be returned to IMS for review.

Original management response:

As part of the oversight framework a network of CCTV owners will be developed 
and requirements and key messages disseminated through them, such as 
through the AMPS quarterly meetings with property leads. As part of this the 
responsibility for ensuring that individual operators are aware of their 
responsibilities will be formalised.

A process will be developed for the completion and review of the self-assessment.

Management update as at May 2021

Plans are being developed for the development of a network of CCTV owners, 
which will be a subset of the existing Information Asset Owner/Manager network.
AMPS have requested our service contractors undertake a check to ensure our 
systems are GDPR compliant, which is being picked pick up as part of the 
periodic service inspections. 
AMPS have disseminated the new CCTV process for implementation and the 
CCTV policy to service heads and office managers. Their responsibilities have 
been reiterated at the Occupiers Forums.
An overview of CCTV requirements has been included in the mandatory training 
for Information Asset Owners and Information Asset Managers, which is currently 
being disseminated.

Deadline: 31 December 2021

Page 164



Report to the Audit and Governance Committee on 30th July 2021 on 
actions taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit 
report relating to the audit of Expenses and Benefits.

Lead Officer: Colin Parkin, Head of Human Resources

Presenting Officer: As above

Summary of Audit Area 

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) reimburse travel and subsistence 
expenses incurred in the course of official business. Other reimbursements 
(e.g. eye tests) are also permitted in line with Council policy. Claims must be 
made monthly through SAP Employee Self Service (ESS) or hard copy 
submission to the Business Service Centre (BSC) with payments in 
accordance with locally and nationally agreed rates. Claim submission and 
authorisations are completed through the SAP payroll system.

Risks

 Non-compliance with HMRC regulations resulting in financial 
penalties; 

 Non-compliance with GCC policies and procedures; 
 Fraudulent/inappropriate or duplicate expenses claimed; and
 Reputational damage to GCC for poor governance of county funds. 

Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit

The objective of the audit was to ensure that effective systems and controls 
were in place for the purpose of staff claiming expenses and controls were in 
place to scrutinise, approve and monitor expenses claimed by GCC staff. 
Staff expenses claimed within the scope of this audit include;

 Travel, 
 Materials educational and training
 Accommodation, and
 Hospitality, Catering and Refreshments.

The review period for these expenses claimed was the 2019/20 financial 
year. This audit did not include the expenses and benefits incurred by 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service as this was covered during a 
separate review. The audit did not include expenses claimed by agency staff 
due to the difference in approach for claiming expenses. The use of P-cards 
also fell outside of the scope of this audit as a separate audit of P-card usage 
within GCC was undertaken and completed in 2019/20.

Page 165



Key Findings

Internal Audit identified that there is a policy created by GCC that covers 
expenses and benefits that can be claimed by GCC staff. This policy covered staff 
employed with the terms and conditions of the ‘Green Book’ (Grades 1 to 11), 
‘Reward Band Employees’ (JNC Chief Officers), ‘Blue Book’ (Soulbury), 
‘Burgundy Book’ (Unattached Teachers), and ‘Grey Book’ (Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue Service). This policy is supported by Accounting Instructions 8 
(Travelling and Meals Expenditure) and 17 (Tax and National Insurance Liabilities 
on payments and staff benefits) as well as a management guidance note on 
claiming expenses which were all available on Staffnet to assist employees and 
managers in ensuring that expenses are claimed correctly and that 
evidence/supporting documentation is gathered and stored as per HM Revenue 
and Customs (HMRC) guidance. 

GCC expenses and benefits are reimbursed to staff either through an electronic 
claim via SAP (GCC Financial Management system) or through a manual hard 
copy claim form submitted to the BSC. In either instance the line manager of the 
staff member is responsible for authorising the claim. Claims are processed 
through Payroll and not Accounts Payable to ensure they are treated correctly for 
PAYE and National Insurance Contributions (NIC) purposes.  
The emphasis is on the authorising manager to ensure the expenses incurred are 
legitimate, accurate and that supporting evidence (receipts where applicable) are 
retained for the required length of time (6 years plus present for HMRC and VAT 
compliance). Budget holders are also expected to carry out monthly budget 
monitoring that includes the Payroll and Expenses report whereby they are 
required to satisfy themselves that payments to staff are accurate, this includes 
expenses.

Internal Audit did identify that within the Expenses Policy, the rates of 
reimbursement for mileage were not fully aligned with HMRC guidance for 
reimbursement rates. 

Evidence was seen by Internal Audit that expenses claimed by members of GCC 
staff either electronically or manually through a claim form were both subject to an 
authorisation process for which management authorisation was required prior to 
any expenses claim being paid by GCC. Internal audit also tested that all the 
claims paid in December 2019 (514 claims totalling £37,833.22) using data 
analytics and confirmed that no member of staff during that month had made 
more than a single expense claim nor had any staff within December 2019 been 
paid greater than the 45p per mile as per the Travel policy for GCC.
There were, however, breakdowns in the process in regard to the retention of 
receipts (including fuel receipts) for present and former GCC employees after the 
expenses had been claimed. The claims selected within the sample also did not 
always have enough detail recorded to be able to confirm that the mileage 
submitted in the claim was reasonable for the journey.

Non-compliance was also found when testing the safer driving at work checks that 
are required to be carried out by managers to confirm that staff are correctly 
insured for business use, have a valid driving license, and have a current MOT 

Page 166



when driving on behalf of GCC. Should an accident occur whereby it was found 
that the staff member did not have the above, the council would potentially 
become vicariously liable for any subsequent damages. 

Page 167



Action taken as at the end of June 2021 and/or proposed

The Internal Audit report raised four recommendations as follows:

Recommendation 1

Audit recommendation (Medium Priority):

To align GCC to HMRC fuel rate allowances, GCC should consider amending the 
current fuel rates used by county and introduce the 5p per passenger per mile. 
HR should also consider if the 13.7p fuel rate for training should be retained.

Original management response:

The 5p per passenger mile will be taken as a proposal via appropriate channels 
for consideration and potential adoption. We will seek views on the 13.7p training 
mileage rate with the options of either retaining this rate and using it consistently 
across the organisation or, alternatively, harmonising all business travel at the 
higher HMRC ceiling.

Management update as at June  2021:

The issue of mileage rates has been formally considered by the Council’s 
Workforce Strategy Board which has agreed that the 13.7p training rate will be 
discontinued and that the use of the 5p passenger rate will be available and 
communicated. The local government trade unions (‘Green Book’) have been 
consulted and have endorsed the proposals, and HR and the BSC have met to 
discuss implementation. The CONCUR system accommodates this approach. 

Recommendation 2

Audit recommendation (High Priority):

Staff should be reminded of the requirement to retain all receipts including fuel to 
support expenses claimed.

GCC managers should be reminded of their duties and responsibility in approving 
of expenses. If the employee is leaving GCC the manager should retain the 
receipts on behalf of GCC to ensure compliance with HMRC requirements. 

Original management response:

Officers are of the opinion that this objective will be best and realistically achieved 
via the roll out of the ‘CONCUR’ system. Action: As the CONCUR system will not 
be fully operational for some time it would be sensible to ask the Comms Team to 
include a reminder in an upcoming Managers’ Bulletin about the importance of 
retaining expense receipts and that they might also include a brief article in 
Talksmart advising staff on the same issue.

Management update as at June 2021:

We are advised that CONCUR is currently in trial use but is almost ready for 

Page 168



implementation across the whole organisation. We are waiting for notification of 
the final launch date which is expected shortly. In the meantime a Talksmart 
article is in preparation to inform the workforce about the changes and about 
evidence requirements, checking, etc. It should be noted that conditions of service 
relating to mileage and expenses are to be reviewed again in respect of the new 
approach to Hybrid/Agile working, and a working group has been established in 
HR to consider the issues and formulate proposals for consultation.

Recommendation 3

Audit recommendation (High Priority):

GCC staff must ensure that all journey details are recorded, including the start 
and end and any points in between. The reason for travel should also be 
recorded.

Authorising managers must ensure that they are satisfied that the claim is 
completed sufficiently prior to authorising.

Original management response:

The CONCUR system is likely to address this issue in the medium term. Action: 
HR will refresh online advice to this effect in collaboration with Strategic Finance, 
it would also be sensible to ask the Comms Team to include a reminder in an 
upcoming Managers’ Bulletin about the importance of ensuring that mileage 
checks are completed and reasonable and that they might also include a brief 
article in Talksmart advising staff on the same issue.

Management update as at June 2021: 

Please see the note under recommendation two.

Recommendation 4

Audit recommendation (High Priority):

GCC managers must be advised that checking the insurance, MOT and driving 
license of staff that travel on behalf of GCC for business using their own car is a 
requirement and should be undertaken at least annually. 
A record to confirm this check has taken place must also be maintained by the 
manager.

Original management response:

HR and Strategic Finance will collaborate to ensure that appropriate advice is up 
to date and accessible on Staffnet and the GFRS intranet to this effect. A 
reminder in a managers’ bulleting toward the start of the new financial year will 
also be considered. As the CONCUR system will not be fully operational for some 
time it would be sensible to ask the Comms Team to include a reminder in an 
upcoming Managers’ Bulletin about the importance of driver checks for staff and 
that they might also include a brief article in Talksmart advising staff on the same 

Page 169



issue.

Management update as at June 2021:

Please see the note under recommendation two. 

Page 170



Report to the Audit and Governance Committee on July 30th 2021 on 
actions taken in relation to key recommendations made in the audit 
report relating to the audit of Direct Payments.

Lead Officer: Sue Hall, Service Manager (Children with Disabilities)

Presenting Officer: Andy Dempsey, Director of Partnerships and 
Strategy

Summary of Audit Area 
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is committed to promoting individual 
wellbeing and to supporting independence through preventing, reducing or 
delaying the need for care and support. Direct Payments are the 
Government’s and GCC’s preferred mechanism for personalised care and 
support as they promote Service User independence, choice and control 
over how their needs are met.

A Direct Payment is a payment of money from the local authority to 
parents/carers of young people needing care and support so that services 
and/or equipment can be purchased to meet assessed needs. This allows 
parents/carers and young people greater choice and flexibility in obtaining 
individual services that will meet their needs. The 2020/21 budget for Direct 
Support Payments which is held by Disabled Children and Young People is 
£724,000.

Payment Card Accounts are provided by Prepaid Financial Services Limited 
(PFS). Children’s Services within GCC has adopted the use of Payment 
Card Accounts and started issuing the cards in September 2018. 

Summary Terms of Reference of the Audit
This audit reviewed whether there are effective arrangements in place for 
the:

 Monitoring of Direct Payments currently being made to parents/carers 
to ensure they are being effectively used to provide the agreed 
support to meet the assessed needs; and

 Administration of Payment Card Accounts.

The audit reviewed Direct Payments arranged by Disabled Children and 
Young People’s Service (DCYPS).

Risks
 Needs of Service Users not being met;
 Misuse of public funds by Service User families;
 Lapses in the early identification of any potential fraud or irregularity 

and recovery of payments;
 Inconsistent processes being applied for ending Direct Payments and 

closing Direct Payment accounts;
 Fraud and irregularity; and 
 Reputational damage to the Council.

Page 171



Key Findings

The Internal Audit report raised six recommendations.

Finding 1

One-off Direct Payments are used to pay for occasional additional support a 
family may need such as emergency respite care or holiday clubs etc. 

GCC’s ‘Children's Social Care Procedures Manual’ states that a Direct Payment, 
including ongoing Direct Payments, must be monitored within the first three 
months of it being made. Internal Audit found that this does not happen and that 
Care Services Finance (CSF) was unaware of this requirement.

Recommendation 1
DYCPS to decide responsibilities and a process for:

 Monitoring one-off Direct Payments; and
 Monitoring ongoing Direct Payments within the first three months of them 

being made.

Consideration by Senior Management on whether the Council’s requirement for 
three month reviews is appropriate and required to meet Government legislation.

The Direct Payment process documents and flowchart to be updated.

Original management response
 Three month review to be completed by DCYPS 
 Monitoring of one off  payments to take place at reviews
 Three month review falls into line with CIN review timescales.
 Following the three month review, reviews will move to six monthly within 

CIN timescales (early help is annually).
 Direct payment paperwork and flow chart to be updated (see below).

Updated management response as at July 2021
The three monthly review of the direct payment now takes place. This is taking 
place for all new cases held within the service. It has been decided that in only 
very exceptional circumstances that one off payments will be made as this has 
shown to be more problematic for families to manage. 

Direct Payments are discussed at the CIN review.  

Finding 2 and 3

Internal Audit found that the Service Level Agreement and Direct Payment 
flowchart does not include timeframes for DYCPS responding to CSF queries, or 
the process for ending Direct Payments and Payment Card Accounts.

As a generic mailbox address is used, it would be difficult for the correct Social 
Worker or Lead Professional to be identified and provide advice to CSF.  

Page 172



Currently CSF does not have access to Liquidlogic (Client/Service Users 
Management System) which would enable them to determine the Service User’s 
Social Worker or Lead Professional and help to make their email requests more 
targeted.

Recommendation 2
The Service Level Agreement and the Direct Payment flowchart to be updated to 
include:

 Responsibilities and the process for ending Direct Payments and closing 
the Payment Card Accounts; and

 Timescales for DCYPS responses to CSF Direct Payment monitoring 
queries.

CSF to escalate to a named DCYPS Manager if responses are not received within 
the agreed timeframe although allowances to be considered when families are not 
engaging.

Original management response
 SLA and flow chart to be updated with the added information on 

responsibilities and timescales. 
 Information to be given to allocated worker from CSF 1 week before the 

review so they can audit the usage of direct payments and raise with 
managers if there are any concerns.

 If there are not changes to the plan or payments then CSF to be notified 
within a fortnight.

 If there are changes to payments or plans then assessment to be 
instigated by manager. Timescale of 45 working days to outcome. 

 CSF to develop a standard letter concerning the claiming back of funds. 
This to include the four week period after notification that an account is 
closing, be fore finally closing and recouping and remaining funds in the 
account. 

 DCYPS to be informed if CSF are not getting a response from CSF to 
queries concerning children.

 
Updated management response as at July 2021
The Flowchart has been updated to reflect the added responsibilities and 
timescales which has been circulated. Reports from CSF are run and shared with 
managers and workers to ensure that meaningful reviews of DP’s are included in 
CIN reviews. This continues to be embedded in practice and is discussed in team 
meetings.  Feedback from workers is happening but remains on the agenda in 
team meetings to ensure that this is embedded in practice. If there is a change of 
need assessments are taking place to support and evidence a change in care 
plan. 

The reclaiming of funds has been put on hold over the lockdown period. This is on 
government advice and guidance that has been published and also a call from 
families to support them to use their Direct Payment for a short break as they 
have not been either able to access a carer during this time or chosen not to on 
medical advice. 

Page 173



Regular monitoring meetings have been booked with CSF to ensure good 
communication and feedback so that any issues that arise can be put in place. 

Recommendation 3
CSF to be given read only access to Liquidlogic to enable them to identify a 
Service User’s Social Worker or Lead Professional, so that CSF can include that 
staff member’s email address in correspondence with the DYCPS mailbox.

Original management response
Access to LL is not proportionate to the requirement and gives CSF access to 
highly confidential information and is not needed for the task of identifying social 
workers and lead professionals. This information can be sought from the team 
managers or team Admin if the SW on the original application has left.

Updated management response as at July 2021
Team Managers and admin have been informing CSF of the allocated social 
worker or lead professional in the case. CSF report that this has been working 
well and managers are sited on progress

Finding 4

When CSF review a Direct Payment the spend is not compared with the agreed 
services to meet the Service User’s assessed needs as documented in the Direct 
Payment Agreement.

As at the date of the audit the spreadsheet contained 190 DCYPS Service Users 
with a Direct Payment, of which:

 118 (62%) were marked as having a Payment Card Account; and
 99 (52%) were due a review but the review had not been fully completed. 

Of the 99, CSF had identified issues with 36 (36%), such as under/over 
spend, notified the DCYPS mailbox (between one and nine months ago) 
requesting advice but have not received a reply which would allow the 
review to be completed.

Internal Audit sampled 15 ongoing Direct Payments to verify that annual 
monitoring had taken place, and found:

 15 of the 15 (100%) sampled Direct Payments had a signed Direct 
Payment Agreement on file;

 Two of the 15 (13%) had been reviewed in the last 12 months;
 Nine of the 15 (60%) had not had a review in the last 12 months, of which:

o Four were missing from the ‘CWD Monitoring Spreadsheet’. Internal 
Audit informed CSF of the missing Service Users and the team has now 
scheduled reviews; and

o Five had not been monitored at all as they had a Payment Card 
Account and the review date was prior to CSF taking responsibility for 
monitoring Payment Card Accounts. 
Prior to CSF taking responsibility for monitoring Payment Card 
Accounts and being granted access to the PFS System in July 2020, it 
was the responsibility of the DCYPS administration team. Internal Audit 

Page 174



was informed by the Business Senior Administrator (DCYPS) that the 
annual monitoring reviews had not taken place.

 Three of the 15 (20%) had a review started however the CSF has identified 
issues with the Direct Payment balance, notified the DCYPS and are 
awaiting advice on how to progress. The DCYPS had been contacted 
between three and 12 months ago for advice and CSF have not yet 
received replies; and

 One of the 15 (7%) had not had the ongoing payments triggered yet as the 
family has not returned an invoice to demonstrate that the initial payment 
has been spent appropriately. CSF do not annually monitor until ongoing 
payments have been set up.

Recommendation 4
To strengthen the current monitoring processes by the CSF Team: 

 With immediate effect, the ‘CWD Monitoring Spreadsheet’ to be cross 
referenced against SAP on a periodic basis to ensure that all DCYPS 
Service Users who receive a Direct Payment are documented on the 
spreadsheet: 
o Once this has been completed all Service Users that have not had a 

review in the last 12 months to be identified and a monitoring review to 
take place; and

o This cross referencing exercise to take place at regular intervals to 
ensure that all Direct Payment Service Users are monitored.

 Whenever a review takes place, the payment spend to be compared with 
the agreed services (to meet the Service User’s assessed needs) 
documented in the Direct Payment Agreement.

Original management response
 Admin will run the CWD report.
 A report will run from SAP by the end of January. 
 There will be an annual review of this information. 
 There will be a new direct payment agreement that spells out the 

recuperation of money from accounts if there is a build up over 3 months 
(unless there is good reason agreed by a manager). 

 There will be a quarterly cross referencing exercise run by CSF to monitor 
the situation. 

 Quarterly monitoring meetings between DCYPS, CSF

Updated management response as at July 2021
The monitoring spreadsheet has been cross referenced with SAP and all 
corrections of users have been made.  There are still some reviews that need to 
take place. This has been delayed by COVID and the focus on supporting families 
and keeping vulnerable children safe. All families in the service have had welfare 
calls. 

Cross referencing of all care plans against agreed spend takes place monthly as 
part of budget monitoring in the service. A spreadsheet of care package spend is 
sent to all the manager to ensure correct payments are made. All quarterly 
monitoring is in place and meetings are well attended and meaningful. 

Page 175



Finding 5

The Business Senior Administrator provided Internal Audit with an extract from 
the PFS System of all Payment Card Accounts. Internal Audit analysed the 
extract and found (as at the date of the audit):

 233 cards had been activated and:
o 145 had a status of ‘Open’;
o 34 had a status of ‘Closed’;
o Three had a status of ‘Deposit Only’ with a total balance of £3,402.15;
o 48 had a status of ‘Issued not active’, with three still having a balance 

on the cards totalling £1,748.45;
o Two had a status of Lost; and
o One had a status of Temporary Block.

Although the PFS system lists 145 cards with a status of ‘Open’, the CSF Team’s 
‘CWD Monitoring Spreadsheet’ only lists 118. This is likely to be because the 
remaining 27 are for one-off Direct Payments which are currently not included on 
the CSF spreadsheet.

Recommendation 5
DYCPS to ensure that all Payment Card Accounts have an appropriate status, are 
known to CSF and funding is reclaimed in a timely manner by the Council, a 
regular (at least six monthly) exercise should be undertaken to extract from the 
PFS System all Payment Card Accounts, their statuses and balances. Cards to 
be reviewed to identify if the status is appropriate, ensure that CSF is aware of the 
Service User and whether any funding can be reclaimed or if the accounts should 
be closed.

Original management response
Admin/SCF to run a report on current status of cards. Open inactive cards to be 
checked with social worker, outstanding balances reclaimed and account closed 
down.

Updated management response as at July 2021
The card system has been completely reviewed, dormant accounts have been 
closed and existing accounts converted to the new card system to ensure closer 
monitoring and scrutiny. No outstanding funds have been reclaimed during 
lockdown due to government guidance as explained in recommendation 2.

Finding 6

Currently DYCPS management do not receive regular reports that would allow 
them to have oversight of (as a minimum):

 Number of DYCPS Service Users who receive:
o Ongoing Direct Payments; and
o One-off Direct Payments

 The number of DYCPS Service Users with Payment Card Accounts and 
their status i.e. Open, Issued not active, Lost or Temporary Block;

 Number of DYCPS Service Users who have had a review within three 
months of the Direct Payment being set up, if appropriate;

Page 176



 Number of DYCPS Service Users who have had an annual review;
 Number of months between annual reviews for each DYCPS Service User 

(to help identify where and why they exceed the expected 12 months); and 
 How much funding has been reclaimed from Service Users e.g. when 

under or inappropriate spend has been identified.

Recommendation 6
DCYPS management to implement a quarterly reporting procedure that will give 
them oversight of the following area (as a minimum):

 Number of DYCPS Service Users who receive:
o Ongoing Direct Payments; and
o One-off Direct Payments

 The number of DYCPS Service Users with Payment Card Accounts and 
their status i.e.  Open,  Issued not active, Lost or Temporary Block;

 Number of DYCPS Service Users who have had a review within three 
months of the Direct Payment being set up;

 Number of DYCPS Service Users who have had an annual review;
 Number of months between annual reviews for each DYCPS Service User 

(to help identify where and why they exceed the expected 12 months); and 
 How much funding has been reclaimed from Service Users e.g. when 

under or inappropriate spend has been identified.
Additional report measures/statistics to be considered to ensure full oversight and 
identify where monitoring could be improved.

Original management response
 CSF to run a quarterly report showing number of users receiving direct 

payments on an ongoing basis or as one off payments. 
 Admin to run a report showing the status of payment cards. 
 Currently it is difficult to run a report on service users accessing direct 

payments from information held on liquid logic. HoS to enquire if there is a 
way to fix this from liquid logic support Team. 

 Annual review of direct payments to be pursued by DCYPS management 
using LL. 

 CSF have a spread sheet of all recovered funds. 
 Quarterly Monitoring meetings are now diarised.

Updated management response as at July 2021
CSF continue to run quarterly reports and meet with managers to review. The 
conversion of all accounts to payment cards has only just been completed and 
has been confirmed by admin in the running of the report. This will continue into 
the future

It is not possible at this time to run a Liquid Logic report but this will remain an 
area for development. 

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Governance Committee 

Date: 30 July 2021 Agenda Number: XXXX

Title of Report Annual review of the Council’s use of the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) 

Purpose of Report To inform the Audit and Governance Committee regarding the 
Council’s use of Directed Surveillance and Covert Human 
Intelligence Sources during 2020/21.

Recommendations That the Audit and Governance Committee:

1. Notes the use of surveillance activities across the 
Council;

2. Confirms the current procedural guidance and the 
arrangements for authorising applications remain fit for 
purpose; and

3. Agrees the conclusions to this report and supports the 
proposal to proceed with the outstanding recommended 
actions

Reason for 
Recommendation

 To comply with the recommendation contained in the 
statutory Code of Practice.

 To satisfy the Committee that Officers using surveillance 
techniques are doing so in an appropriate manner

Report submitted 
by

Karen Smith, Head of Regulatory Services and Consumer 
Protection
karen.smith@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Executive Summary

The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) came into force in 2000. The Act 
allowed:

 Councils to carry out covert surveillance of alleged offenders and to instruct 
individuals to form relationships with the intention of obtaining information for 
the prevention and detection of crime. 

 Compliance with RIPA ensures that the surveillance actions taken by the 
Council are acceptable interference of qualified rights within the Human 
Rights Act 1998, in particular the right to privacy and the right to a fair trial, 
when gathering evidence in preparing cases for Court.

 In accordance with the guidance issued by the Home Office to support the 
statutory Codes of Practice, it is recommended that Councillors are involved 
in an annual review of RIPA policies.

This report provides the annual review for 2020/2021

Page 179

Agenda Item 11

mailto:karen.smith@gloucestershire.gov.uk


1.0 Introduction

1.1 When undertaking its functions, the Council must comply with the 
Human Rights Act 1998.  Article 8 establishes a qualified right to 
respect for private and family life.  In certain circumstances that right 
may be interfered with.

1.2 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) provides a 
statutory framework under which the Council may interfere with this 
right.

2.0 Background

2.1 Authorisation can only be granted where interference is 

(a) In accordance with the law;
(b) Necessary; and
(c) Proportionate.

2.2 Under RIPA, the Council may seek authorisation to permit directed 
surveillance or the use of Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS). 
Directed surveillance is defined as any ongoing monitoring or 
observation activity undertaken by an officer of the Council designed to 
obtain information about the subject’s movements, conversations, 
communications, etc. where the subject remains unaware of the 
activity.

2.3 The Council’s use of RIPA is tightly controlled.  All authorisations are 
subject to approval at the Magistrates’ Court and the use of directed 
surveillance and acquisition of communication data should only be 
permitted for:

(a) The prevention or detection of criminal offences (at least one of 
which must be punishable by a maximum of at least 6 months 
imprisonment) or

(b) Prescribed offences relating to age related sale of alcohol or 
tobacco.

2.4 By law, elected members are not permitted to be involved in any 
individual application/authorisation, however paragraph 3.35 of the 
Covert Surveillance and Property Interference Code 2018 (‘the Code’) 
states that: 

” Elected members of a local authority should review the authority’s use 
of the 2000 Act and set the policy at least once a year.  They should 
also consider internal reports on the use of the 2000 Act on a regular 
basis to ensure it is being used consistently with the local authority’s 
policy and the policy remains fit for purpose.”

Page 180



3.0 Oversight of RIPA activities

3.1 RIPA and associated statutory Codes of Practice prescribe the 
information to be included in an application to carry out directed 
surveillance activities and the thresholds to be met before applications 
can be approved.

3.2 All authorisations for directed surveillance activities carried out by 
Gloucestershire County Council under RIPA must be independently 
reviewed and approved at a Magistrates’ Court.

3.3 The Investigatory Powers Commissioners Office (IPCO) carries out 
scheduled audits of the use of RIPA by Local Authorities to monitor 
quality of applications and compliance with the Codes.  These 
inspections are carried out approximately every 3 years, the last 
inspection of this Council was carried out on May 30, 2019.

4.0 Annual review of the use of RIPA – 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021

During this period:

4.1 there have been no applications for directed surveillance to be 
reviewed by the Assistant Director of Legal Services acting as Senior 
Responsible Officer under the Code of Practice.  This is a direct 
consequence of suspension of enforcement activities during the 
Coronavirus pandemic period.

4.2  there were no applications to use covert human intelligence sources 
(CHIS), including applications relating to juvenile CHIS.

4.3  The Council’s procedural guidance was reviewed and updated by a 
working group consisting of the Assistant Director of Legal Services, a 
Principal Lawyer and Legal Services Business Partner, the Head of 
Audit Risk Assurance and the Head of Regulatory Services and 
Consumer Protection (an authorising officer) in January/February 2021 
(see Section 5, point 01 below).

4.4 one error occurred whereby a properly authorised surveillance 
operation was not cancelled at the end of the prescribed period giving 
rise to unauthorised continued collection of information.

This related to a period of 39 days where surveillance footage was 
captured beyond the date of cancellation using a covert camera. 

Once identified, this matter was raised internally with the Senior 
Responsible Officer and subsequently reported to the relevant body in 
line with the Code of Practice.  The relevant body in this instance is the 
Office of the Investigatory Powers Commissioner. 

Page 181



The Investigatory Powers Commissioner accepted that circumstances 
giving rise to the error had been appropriately managed and that the 
action taken by officers had been sufficient to ensure no information 
obtained during the unauthorised period of surveillance was accessed.  
The Commissioner was further satisfied that the information gathered 
during the authorised period of surveillance was not tainted; it was 
proportionate for this information to inform the ongoing investigation.

The Commissioner was satisfied the error did not arise from a systemic 
failure in the Council’s process and that the subsequent process review 
and remedial action were sufficient. (See section 6 below)

The Commissioner confirmed there would be no further action, beyond 
the review of process, as a result of this error. 

Page 182



5.0 Progress against matters outstanding from the previous report

R
A
G

Observation by the 
Chief Inspector during 
the inspection

Officer 
recommendations to 
address 
observations

Progress to date

01 The Internet Policy should 
be further revised to include 
reference to the 2018 Code 
of Practice.

An observation is therefore 
offered that the internet 
policy be further revised to 
include clear reference to 
paragraphs 3.10 to 3.17 
(surveillance) and 
paragraphs 4.11 to 4.17 
(CHIS) of the codes of 
practice (2018 editions)

…the section covering the 
use of the Internet (Section 
3, Page 9) would benefit by 
way of reference to the 
relevant paragraphs of the 
revised codes of practice.
[4.2 and 5.3.1] 

It is proposed that the 
‘internet investigations’ 
section of the RIPA 
Procedural Guide be 
amended to include 
specific reference to 
these sections of the 
codes of practice.

Discussion with the 
owner of the social 
media policy should be 
considered to determine 
whether that policy 
should also be amended 
in response to the 
observation.

Complete

The procedural guidance 
has been updated and 
made available to all staff 
(see 4.3 above)

Complete

A discussion was had with 
the owner of the Social 
Media policy.  It was felt 
that the specific reference 
to the RIPA codes were not 
appropriate for this 
document as they are 
clearly referenced in the 
RIPA procedural guide and 
readers of the social media 
policy are clearly 
signposted to that 
document.
 

02 Training

The excellent strategic 
RIPA training plan in place 
for 2019/20

A plan to raise 
awareness of covert 
surveillance was 
proposed in the previous 
report but this was not 
delivered as a direct 
consequence of the 
Council’s response to the 
Coronavirus pandemic.
A plan had been agreed 
with the GCC 
communications team. 
However, this was 

Ongoing

The working group plans to 
create material in 
conjunction with the 
communications team 
designed to raise 
awareness with GCC 
officers and supervisors 
who may carry out 
surveillance activities 
beyond the limited 
applications regulated 

Page 183



delayed due to the need 
to focus resources on 
responding to the 
Coronavirus pandemic

The plan will also include 
training in other aspects 
of investigation which will 
complement Officer’s 
understanding RIPA and 
help contextualise the 
need for accountability 
for surveillance style 
work across the whole 
County Council.

under RIPA

Delivery of specialised 
training to staff, including 
the ambition for wider 
investigation training 
applauded at the last 
inspection, is dependent on 
the ability to secure funding. 

However, there are 
opportunities to raise 
awareness of these areas, 
through a rolling 
programme of counter fraud 
training delivered by the 
internal audit team.

Feedback from this work 
can be used to develop a 
more comprehensive 
programme in 2022/23 if 
funding permits.

.
03 RIPA Collaboration

Significant opportunity 
exists to collaborate across 
Gloucestershire local 
authorities.

It was abundantly clear 
during the operation that 
significant opportunity exists 
within Gloucestershire for 
wider collaboration on RIPA 
structures between the 
County Council and the six 
District Councils….  Whilst 
there is some synergy 
between those that share 
legal services, each 
authority operates 
independently in their 
approach to covert 
investigation… There are a 
number of regional 
collaborations in place 
across the UK where local 
authorities have 
implemented a single 
operating model that brings 
efficiencies alongside 
increased knowledge and 

It is proposed that steps 
are taken to consider 
opportunities for 
extending the planned 
training to include 
Officers from the 6 
District Councils.

Ongoing

Contact will be made with 
Chief Execs and the Senior 
Appropriate Officers in each 
of the District Councils to 
explore opportunities for 
collaborative working.   

The timing of this contact 
will be dependant on 
capacity of both County and 
District Councils as 
strategic and operational 
resources from both remain 
committed to Coronavirus 
response.

Page 184



confidence in the 
application of RIPA.  Some 
of these collaborations have 
gone as far as creating a 
single joint investigating 
team, whilst others have 
found financial and 
operational efficiencies by 
just collaborating on areas 
such as a single procedures 
and guidance document 
and joint training…
If this is a concept that the 
respective Council; Chief 
Executives would like to 
scope and explore further, 
the Investigatory Powers 
Commissioners will provide 
guidance and support…
[5.3.7 to 5.3.10]

05 Non RIPA

Use of RIPA terminology 
should be avoided for 
activity that falls outside the 
requirements of legislation. 

This observation relates to 
authorisations for 
surveillance activities which 
the County Council as part 
of its overarching functions 
which sit outside the 
protections afforded by 
RIPA authorisations.

It was agreed by the Chief 
Inspector that there are 
some instances where the 
County Council may wish to 
employ surveillance 
activities to gather evidence 
in relation to matters which 
do not meet the serious 
crime threshold applied by 
RIPA.  Application of this 
parallel system affords the 
County Council a robust 
mechanism for challenging 
the use of surveillance, 
ensuring such activities are 
proportionate, legal, 
necessary and accountable 
and recording the rationale 
behind each authorised 

It is proposed that the 
Procedural Guide is 
reviewed to ensure 
Officers understand 
when activities fall under 
the remit of RIPA and 
when they are authorised 
under the Council’s 
process.

And copies of the official 
forms used to apply for 
authorisation to carry out 
surveillance, to review 
authorised surveillance 
and to renew 
surveillance activities are 
amended to remove 
reference to RIPA and 
are made available to via 
StaffNet alongside the 
Procedural Guide.

In addition, further 
training to be rolled out 
to ensure a consistent 
application of the 
process for seeking 
authorisations for non-
RIPA surveillance 
activities.

Complete

See point 01 above

Complete

Template forms are not 
retained by GCC but 
downloaded direct from the 
Home Office website as 
required.
The Authorising Officer will 
ensure forms are amended 
as suggested

Ongoing

This is addressed in point 
02 above

Page 185



application.

To avoid confusion and 
maintain the distinction 
between RIPA and the Non-
RIPA process it would be 
advisable to avoid the use 
of the term directed 
surveillance and delete any 
reference to RIPA on the 
application template.
[5.4.4]

6.  Progress against process review following surveillance error

R
A
G

Observation how error 
can be avoided in the 
future 

Officer 
recommendations to 
address observations

Progress to date 

06 All applications for directed 
surveillance or CHIS activity 
which request use of 
remote access surveillance 
equipment from a third party 
must be accompanied by 
contact details for the 
person responsible for 
installing or operating that 
equipment

An Authorising Officer 
must not authorise any 
application for judicial 
approval until they are 
satisfied they have 
sufficient contact details 
for the person responsible 
for installing or operating 
that equipment

Complete

The central record of 
authorisations which must 
be maintained by the 
Authorising Officer and 
reviewed by the Senior 
Responsible Officer has 
been amended to include 
specific record third party 
contact details where 
external support is 
required.

07 The Authorising Officer 
must be satisfied that any 
covert recording equipment 
has been deactivated or 
removed before directed 
surveillance is cancelled

For all cases the 
Authorising Officer must 
plan a date not closer than 
5 working days to statutory 
3-month cancellation date 
of directed surveillance 
operations.

If the operation is 
cancelled by the 
Investigating Officer 
before the expiry of the 3-
month period, the 
Authorising Officer must 
get assurance from the 
Investigating Officer that 
any covert surveillance 
equipment is 
decommissioned before 
the cancellation is 
accepted.

Complete

Cancellation dates are 
recorded and notified as 
per the recommendations.

Page 186



If the operation continues 
for the entire 3-month 
period, the Authorising 
Officer must get an 
assurance from the 
Investigating Officer that 
arrangements are made to 
ensure any covert 
surveillance equipment will 
be decommissioned no 
later than the final 
authorised date of 
surveillance.  If the 
Investigating Officer is not 
available or unable to 
provide assurance, the 
Authorising Officer must 
contact the person 
responsible for installing 
any covert surveillance 
equipment using details 
held in the central record 
of authorisations to ensure 
such an arrangement is in 
place.

It will be best practice for 
the investigating Officer to 
advise any external 
suppliers of covert 
surveillance equipment of 
the last authorised date of 
surveillance in writing 
when arrangements are 
made for installation.    

7.  Conclusions 

7.1   Officers propose to proceed with the outstanding recommended actions 
with priority given to raising awareness of the procedural guidance 
across the whole council. Members are asked to confirm their support   

 
7.2   Officers will provide a further annual report to the Audit and Governance 

Committee in July 2022 updating on the progress regarding the 
recommendations and informing them on the Council’s use of RIPA for 
the Committee’s further consideration.

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Grant Thornton Audit Plan for GCC & Pension Fund Report
	Gloucestershire LGPS audit plan 2020-21

	7 Treasury Management Annual Report
	8 Internal Audit Annual Report
	Annual report on Internal Audit Activity 2020-21 Final
	Spreadsheet v0.3

	9 GFRS Progress Report
	GFRS Follow Up report July 21 v1.0

	10 LImited Assurance Reports
	Expenses Limited Assurance Report Management Update
	Limited Assurance Report for Direct Payments Final 25.05.21

	11 Annual review of the Council's use of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA)

